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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
however arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part
of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of
Harbour Equine Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and
belief, the information contained in this report is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission
of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Chairman’s Statement
T JE By

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), | am
delighted to present the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's
revenue decreases to approximately HK$68.6 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 0.7%, as compared
to revenue of approximately HK$69.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The Group’s net loss decreases
to approximately HK$37.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 from approximately HK$46.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. Such decrease is primarily due
to the decrease in loss from the segment of equine services.

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and
selling of sewing threads and board categories of garment
accessories, provision of interior design, interior decoration
and furnishing services, provision of trading of bloodstock,
stallion services and equine handling services and provision
of securities, advising on corporate finance and assets
management.

The Group currently manufactures polyester sewing threads,
which are mainly used for garments. The major product of the
Group is 100% spun polyester sewing threads. Other types of
sewing threads are also offered, including textured polyester
series, elastic filament sewing threads and weft yarn. The
Group’s customers are located in the People’'s Republic of
China (the "PRC"), Hong Kong as well as overseas countries,
including but not limited to the Middle East and Mauritius.
While the Group's customers in the PRC and Hong Kong
are mainly garment manufacturers,
are mainly wholesalers. The production facilities of the
Group, where the sewing threads manufacturing process is
conducted, are located in Liwan, Guangzhou (the “Guangzhou
Production Facilities”). The major operating subsidiaries of
this segment had been disposed on 27 January 2025.

its overseas customers
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

+ EHE(8)

For the business line of interior design, fitting out and
decoration services, the Group considers that there is a
growing popularity of interior design, fitting-out and decoration
in commercial, residential and public sectors in Hong Kong and
the Greater Bay Area to seek individuality and style.

For the segment of equine business, we took the opportunities
to dispose the most non-performing and out of flavour stock in
order to reduce our future upkeeping and maintenance costs.
A certain level of loss has been recorded as a result.

The management team looked to consolidate our portfolio
as we seek to identify and eliminate underperforming stock
which in turn positively impacts our daily operational costs.
The entire portfolio is reviewed weekly and assets are
selected to be retained or disposed.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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APPRECIATION

| wish to take this opportunity to extend my sincere thanks to
our shareholders, business partners, customers and suppliers
for their continuous support. | would also like to express
my deep gratitude to my fellow Directors and the Group's
management team and staff for their efforts and dedication to
the Group during the past year.

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED
Wong Kwok Wai, Albert
Chairman, chief executive officer and executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Management Discussion and
BIEENw LD

INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing
and trading of sewing threads and board categories of
garment accessories, provision of interior design, fitting
out and decoration services, equine services and provision
of securities, advising on corporate finance and assets
management during the year. The business review are set out
in the above Chairman’s Statement.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The revenue was generated from the segment of
manufacturing and trading of threads product, interior design
and decoration, equine services and financial services. The
following table sets out a breakdown of the Group's revenue
attributable to four segments of the Group of the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023:

Analysis
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Year ended 31 December

BE+-ZA=+—-BHLEFE

Rate of
2024 2023 change
“E_NF —EZ=F BEpth &
% of total % of total
HK$'000 revenue HK$'000 revenue %
1k 4 1h#
FE T W 2= % FH T I %
Manufacturing and BOBEER
trading of threads 25 21,196 30.7 (62.1)
Interior design and ERNRFTEEE
decoration 16,450 23.8 219.3
Equine services BT AR 31,413 45.5 (79.3)
Finance and asset TREEEER
management — — N/AT & A
69,059 100.0 (0.7)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BB Mo AT ()

Manufacturing and trading of threads

The revenue attributable to the manufacturing and trading
of threads decreased to approximately HK$8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately HK$21.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing
a decrease of approximately 62.1%. The decrease in revenue
was mainly attributable to the decrease in sales from both the
oversea market and local PRC market. The keen competition
of thread industry made the profit margin of PRC local market
deteriorated.

Interior design and decoration

The revenue attributable to the interior design and decoration
increased to approximately HK$52.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2024 from approximately HK$16.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, representing an increase of
approximately 219.3%. The revenue increase is mainly due to
a new project by a customer during the year. The Group will
release more resources to expand this segment in 2025.

Equine Services

The revenue attributable to equine services decreased to
approximately HK$6.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2024 from approximately HK$31.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2023, representing a decrease of approximately
79.3%. The revenue decrease is mainly because management
noticed price weakness in selected segments of the
thoroughbreds market. As a result, decision has been made to
dispose of most bloodstock to keep future operating expenses
at a manageable level.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BIEE A Mo AT ()

Financial Services

The revenue attributable to the financial services was
approximately HK$1.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2024.

Cost of sales

The Group's cost of sales primarily consists of direct material
costs, processing fees, direct labour costs, welfare and social
insurance, agistment costs, bloodstock insurance and direct
cost of bloodstock. The following table sets out a breakdown
of the Group’s cost of sales attributable to three segments of
the Group for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

Manufacturing and trading of BAOAGTERED
threads

Interior design and decoration

Equine services

Finance and asset management

&

=R iR E

BERS
TRREEERE

Manufacturing and trading of threads

The cost of sales attributable to the manufacturing and trading
of threads decrease to approximately HK$11.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately HK$19.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing
a decrease of 38.4%. The decrease in cost of sales for
manufacturing and trading of threads was in line with the
decrease in sale for the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BB Mo AT ()

Interior design and decoration

The cost of sales attributable to the interior design and
decoration increase to approximately HK$46.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately HK$12.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 representing an
increase of 278.7%. The increase in cost of sales for interior
design and decoration is mainly due to increase in sales for
the year.

Equine services

The cost of sales attributable to the equine services decrease
to approximately HK$11.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 from approximately HK$41.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, representing a decrease of
72.6%. The decrease of cost of sales for equine services
is mainly due to the significant decrease in number of
bloodstocks and stallions and therefore, the agistment
cost generated from the bloodstocks and the direct cost of
bloodstocks and stallions generated decreased compared with
the preceding year.

Gross loss and gross (loss) profit margin

The Group recorded a gross loss of HK$0.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024 as compared with the a gross
loss of HK$3.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
representing a decrease of HK$2.6 million of gross loss
compared with the last year. The gross loss margin decreased
to 1% for the year end 31 December 2024 and 4.8% for
the year ended 31 December 2023. The gross loss margin
of threads segment increased to 45.9% for the year ended
31 December 2024 from gross profit margin 10.3% for the
year ended 31 December 2023, the gross profit margin for
the decoration segment is decreased to 11.8% for the year
ended 31 December 2024 from 25.6% for the year ended
31 December 2023 and the gross loss margin of the equine
services increased to 72.5% for the year ended 31 December
2024 from gross loss margin 30.8% for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BIEE A Mo AT ()

Other income, gains and losses, net

The Group recorded other income, gains and losses, net
of approximately HK$13.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 as compared with other losses and expenses,
net of approximately HK$9.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2023. Such change was mainly due to the
significant decrease of fair value loss on biological assets,
increase of exchange loss, increase of loss on disposal of
biological assets and written off of trade and other receivables
compared with last year.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consist of staff costs
and transportation expenses for segment of manufacturing
and trading of threads. Selling expenses decreased to
approximately HK$2.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2024 from approximately HK$3.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2023, representing a decrease of approximately
39.4%. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in staff
cost and transportation expenses.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consist of staff costs,
Directors’ remuneration and legal and professional fees.
Administrative expenses decreased to approximately
HK$13.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2024
from approximately HK$21.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, representing a decrease of approximately
35.3%. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease
in staff costs, Directors’ remuneration, legal professional fees
and rental expense.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs decreased to approximately
HK$3.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from
approximately HK$5.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, representing a decrease of approximately 30.0%. Such
decrease was mainly due to the decrease in borrowings.
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Loss before income tax

As a result of the aforesaid, the Group recorded a loss
before income tax of approximately HK$37.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately HK$46.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing a
decrease of approximately 19.5%.

Income tax credit (expense)

The Group recorded income tax credit of approximately
HK$0.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
income tax expense of approximately HK$0.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The income tax credit is
generated from the impairment losses on intangible asset.

Total comprehensive expenses attributable to
owners of Company

The total comprehensive expenses attributable to owners of
the Company decreased to approximately HK$34.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately
HK$48.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023,
representing a decrease of approximately 28.7%. Such
decrease was mainly due to decrease in loss on the equine
segment compare with the preceding year.

Basic and diluted loss per share

The Company's basic and diluted loss per share for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was approximately HK9.05 cents
(2023: basic and diluted loss per share of HK11.44 cents),
representing a decrease of approximately 20.9%, which was
mainly due to the decrease in loss attributable to owners of
the Company.

Final dividend

The board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BIEE A Mo AT ()

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's
operations were primarily financed through its operating and
financing activities. The Directors believe that in the long
term, the Group’s operations will continue to be funded by
a combination of cash generated from the Group’s operating
activities and financing activities.

The Group’'s cash and bank balances amounted to
approximately HK$3.8 million and approximately HK$4.1
million as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively. The
functional currency of the Group is Hong Kong dollar. As at
31 December 2024, 94.1% of the Group's cash and bank
balances were denominated in the Group’s functional currency
(31 December 2023: 93.4%) and the remaining 5.9% (31
December 2023: 6.6%) were denominated in other currencies,
mainly Renminbi and Australian Dollars.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has net current assets of
approximately HK$0.2 million as compared with net current
liabilities of approximately HK$10.5 million as at 31 December
2023. The current assets included trade receivables, contract
assets, deposit and other receivables, inventories, biological
assets, tax recoverable and cash and cash equivalents. The
Group's current ratio increased to approximately 1.01 as at 31
December 2024 from approximately 0.8 as at 31 December
2023.

GEARING RATIO

The Group's gearing ratio is calculated based on net debt
(including borrowings, trade payables, other payables and
accruals, and lease liabilities, and retirement benefit obligation
less cash and cash equivalents) divided by the total equity
plus net debt at the respective reporting date. The gearing
ratio is approximately 173.1% and approximately 73.5% as at
31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively. The increase of
the gearing ratio was mainly attributable to the loss incurred
during the year.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any capital
commitments (as at 31 December 2023: nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no
change in the capital structure of the Group and the share
capital of the Group only comprises ordinary shares of the
Company (the “Shares”).

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's issued share capital
amounted to approximately HK$20.5 million, divided by
409,141,860 Shares of HK$0.05 each.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

There were neither significant investment held as at 31
December 2024 nor material acquisitions during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not
have any material acquisitions of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies and the Group had disposed the major subsidiaries
of the manufactures and selling of sewing threads segment on
27 January 2025.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

There is no plan for material investment or capital assets as at
31 December 2024.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have material
contingent liabilities (as at 31 December 2023: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a conservative approach towards its
treasury policies. The Group strives to reduce exposure to
credit risk by performing ongoing credit evaluation of the
financial conditions of its clients and credit review of the
Group’s loan portfolio. To manage liquidity risk, the Board
closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
commitments can meet its funding requirements.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk when it enters
into transactions which are not denominated in the Group's
functional currency. Such exposure mainly relates to the
distribution and sale of the Group's products and purchases
of raw materials in the PRC and the acquisition and disposal
of broodmares and stallions and the equine services income
in Australia. The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. Yet, the Group’'s management
monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the
following assets were pledged to lenders to secure certain
borrowings granted to the Group:

MR BERRE
BEME
E2REMEE

Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
All biological asset
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 79
employees (as at 31 December 2023: 123), of whom 60 were
located in the PRC and 19 were located in Hong Kong. The
Group's staff costs mainly comprised wages and salaries,
social insurance, housing provident fund and severance
payments. For the two years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, the Group's total staff costs (excluding Directors’
emoluments) amounted to approximately HK$10.2 million and
HK$14.2 million, respectively. The Group offers remuneration
packages comprising basic salaries, discretionary bonuses
and allowances to its management and office staff. For the
workers at the Guangzhou Production Facilities, the Group
offers them salaries above the minimum wage, promotion
opportunities and budgets for social events.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme"”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labour laws, rules and regulations
in the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit
Scheme”) organised by the relevant local government
authorities in the PRC whereby the Group is required to
make contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme at a
certain rate of the standard wages determined by the relevant
authorities in the PRC during the year. Contributions to the
Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.

There was no forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme
and Retirement Benefit Scheme which may be used by the
Group to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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The remuneration committee of the Company is responsible
for reviewing and determining the remuneration packages
of the Directors and senior management members with
reference to the salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities, employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group and the desirability of performance-
based remuneration. Any discretionary bonus and other merit
payments are linked to the profit performance of the Group
and the individual performance of the Directors and senior
management members. The existing share option scheme of
the Company (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted
by the Company at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 8 February 2023 and the previous share
option scheme of the Company adopted on 24 November 2017
(the “Old Share Option Scheme"”) was terminated on the
same date. Under the Old Share Option Scheme and the Share
Option Scheme the Company may grant options to, among
others, any employees (full-time or part-time) or Directors with
a view to rewarding them for their contributions to the Group,
giving incentive to them for optimising their performance and
efficiency and attracting as well as retaining those whose
future contributions are important to the long-term growth
and profitability of the Group. Since the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme and up to the date of this annual report, no
share options have been granted pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme. Details of share granted under the Old Share Option
Scheme are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statement of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and
belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has in
all material respects complied with all relevant laws, rules and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group and its
operations in Hong Kong, PRC and Australia.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

In order to better integrate the concept of social responsibility
into the Group’'s strategy and decision-making and to further
guide the Group to develop a socially responsible practice,
the Group has established an environmental, social and
governance ("ESG") report preparation team. While preparing
the report, the Group strives to incorporate the notion of
sustainable development into its daily operations.

Meanwhile, the Group has established a systematic
stakeholder communication channel with the aim to facilitate
positive interactions with the Group's stakeholders, actively
respond to relevant litigation issues and promote quality,
effective and sustainable growth. Throughout the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group has maintained its business
integrity and dedication to environmental protection, while
continuously striving to improve quality management and
employee care.

For further information in relation to the Group's ESG
practices, please refer to the Group's separate ESG report,
which is published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Employees are considered to be one of the most important
factors that contribute to the productivity of the Group.
Employees of the Group are mainly provided with on-the-job
training as well as remuneration packages and allowances.

The Group also communicates closely with its customers to
obtain valuable feedback and provides them with information
about the Group’s products and trends in the sewing threads
market. The Group has maintained business relationships
with its five largest customers for a period ranging from
approximately five to twenty years, respectively. Likewise,
the Group has also established stable relationships with its
suppliers. As such, the Directors believe that the Group has
developed a trustworthy and reliable reputation as well as a
strong partnership with its customers and suppliers.
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FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS

For the existing principal business of manufacturing and selling
of sewing threads, the Group has disposed on 27 January
2025 and shareholders can refer to the announcement on 2
October 2024.

For the business line of interior design, fitting out and
decoration services, the Group considers that there is a
growing popularity of interior design, fitting-out and decoration
in commercial, residential and public sectors in Hong Kong and
the Greater Bay Area to seek individuality and style. Hence,
the Group expected this business line will become a principal
business in our Group in 2025. The Group will release more
resources to expand this segment and source more new
higher profit margin customers in 2025.

For the equine services segment, the management will adopt
prudent approach to consider the business opportunity and
maintain lower operation costs for this segment in 2025.

The Directors would continue to review the existing
businesses of the Group from time to time with a view to
improve the business operation and financial position of the
Group. The Board considers that it is beneficial for the Group
to seek suitable investment and disposal opportunities with a
view to increase the value of the Group and maximise returns
to the Shareholders.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENSREEENEREFIS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert (% Bl {#), aged 65, was appointed
as a Director and the chairman of the Board on 18 August
2016 and re-designated as an executive Director on 23 June
2017. He is also the chief executive officer, the chairman of
the nomination committee of the Company, one of the Group’s
controlling shareholders. Mr. Wong is primarily responsible
for the management and overall strategic planning and
development of the Group. Mr. Wong has over 30 years of
experience in accounting and assurances.

Mr. Wong obtained his higher diploma in accountancy from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University) in November 1982. Mr. Wong was
admitted as a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and as an associate of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales in November
1992 and February 2008, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wong did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
EEkafheEBEBNREFE(E)

Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch (PR ¥ 3 ), aged 58, was appointed
as the company secretary, compliance officer and an executive
Director of the Company on 18 August 2016, 23 June 2017
and 19 February 2020, respectively. Mr. Chan resigned as the
company secretary on 31 August 2022. Mr. Chan obtained his
bachelor’s degree of art in accountancy from City University of
Hong Kong (formerly known as City Polytechnic of Hong Kong)
in November 1992 and was admitted as a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in February
1997 and a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in April 2001, respectively. From June 2006 to
December 2011, Mr. Chan served as an executive director
of the tax department of Ernst & Young, an international
accounting firm, where he was primarily responsible for
providing tax and business advisory services to both
international and domestic companies operating in the PRC.
Further, Mr. Chan served as a partner in the tax department
of the Guangzhou Branch of Grant Thornton, an international
accounting firm, from October 2012 to October 2015 where
he was primarily responsible for developing the tax practice in
Guangzhou. Mr. Chan has also been serving as an independent
director of Natural Health Trends Corp. (stock code: NHTC), an
international direct-selling and e-commerce company listed on
the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC, since December 2015, and is
responsible for supervising and providing independent advice
to the board of the company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

RBERLEE 8m R_E—NF/N\A
TN ZE—+tFAAZ+t=AK=ZE
—EF-_A+IBEBEZTAEARRA
AIME ARETRHTEFT -BREEAR
2 _FNAZ=Z+—HEBELRARME -
BMAEER—NAAZF+—ADREEEHT
AE(MBEEATEILSR) @2 E
TEBA WEER-—NAWNLEFE_AERR
BEBGHMAEEERN 2T —F
PAERAUABFHFARGHMAGTERES -
B-ZEANFE AR T =7 H
BREERETEESFHMEHBMEZKEF
MEBAHREBIBTEE TEZBEAR
REEELENBEBREBRAGIRERBE X
EBTEARS - i Bt =—T—=
F+AE_ZT—HAFTALETREESH
EBMBRASHMEBLAEIMND TR
HFHEBA TZEEEREMNBGES -
MAEBE _T—AF+_AEN—EET
Natural Health Trends Corp. (B& 5 £ 5 :
NHTC * ANASDAQ Stock Market LLC E
THEEEHEAETABARBIES
BEEEBTHZARNEFTEREBIER -

BREXEEEIN REENBE=ZFHE
NELFRBRBRBIEMESMB LT
MERMEM EHARRAREETEMES
B



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex (R 5348), aged 47, obtained his
bachelor's degree in commerce specialising in economics
and finance from the University of Melbourne in Australia in
1999. Mr. Leung has over 20 years of experience in financial
services sector, mainly in compliance and asset management.
From July 2014 to December 2020, Mr. Leung served as an
executive director of DT Capital Limited, whose shares are
listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 356).

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Leung did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.

Mr. Leung Tat Chi (R3#ZEXE), aged 52, has over 25 years’
experience in interior design and project management. He
joined the Group in February 2021 and has since then served
as a director of LMP International Limited (“LMP"), being an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Leung
is primarily responsible for the management of business
operations of LMP. Mr. Leung obtained a Higher National
Diploma in Interior Design at Caledonian University which is
accredited from Scottish Qualifications Authority in Glasgow.
He was a member of Hong Kong General Chamber of Young
Entrepreneurs and also the Vice President of Hong Kong
Bio-Environment Energy Association (HKBEE) from 2017 to
2018.

Mr. Leung Tai Chi did not hold other directorship in any other
listed or public companies, of which the securities are listed
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the
three preceding years.

REWEE 475 R—NANFERBRM
BERAREEREE BFAEHELEN £
BERCHME RELETSREEE(E
ENAENEEERETE)BEER2ER
BN E-—NFLAE-ZE-_ZTF+_A -
REEETRIERERAFHMITES -
EBRDREBBARSHERAR (B
Frl) =R LW (R MK : 356) °

FREXBBEEN  REERBE=-FHE
REFREBAXBIINEMNESMS LT
ZEMEAM ETm SR ARAREEEMNEAM
EER® -

REZERE B2 REARFKLEBRE
BHHEHBEBBRBFLR BR_T——

“AMAKRER  BRtEEARFAEEE
EWNBARM#BRAERAR (M) E
E-RELATZATEEMHNEREE

REEBMBRMNZRELZABEARGTEX
BAXE BRXBERBRUTTHRHESR
BFEEZEERE BRR-_FT—tFE2_
T N\EREATFREZERRBHEEE
TREBEVRERREREH A ER -

REFZRERBE=ZFHERBLFRNE
BHREIMEMESMH LM T EM L
MHABRARELTEMESTRY -

ERESERERAT /20248 23



24

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EE2MER

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Ho Wing Shan ({058 #t), aged 53, has over 15 years
of professional experience in the banking industry. From
March 2001 to July 2003, Ms. Ho worked as a client service
assistant at Citigroup Global Markets Inc. From August 2003
to September 2005, she joined the Greater China team of UBS
Group AG as a marketing assistant. From September 2005 to
December 2008, Ms. Ho became the assistant relationship
manager of Credit Suisse Group AG. From April 2009 to June
2016, she served as an associate director at Bank Julius
Baer & Co. Limited, where she mainly provided professional
banking services including but not limited to handling clients’
administrative inquiries and credit applications.

Ms. Ho obtained a Bachelor of Arts with a major in Economics
from the University of Regina in 1994. She is a licensed
representative for Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type
4 (advising on securities) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") with Upbest Securities Company
Limited.

Ms. Ho did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on
any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the three
preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEkEREEEBNEREFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tang Chun Hei (8888 8%), aged 36, currently serves as a
responsible officer of Purple Tee Capital Limited, a corporation
licensed to carry out Type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activity under the SFO. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Tang served as an independent non-executive director of
hmvod Limited, whose shares are listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8103), from 1 December 2020 to
24 February 2022. Mr. Tang obtained a postgraduate Diploma
in Corporate Governance GradCG from the University of Law
in 2024. Mr. Tang is an associate member of the Institute of
Public Accountants and an associate member of The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tang did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.

Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold (BR # Bf), aged 65, obtained his
bachelor’s degree in business administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 1986, a postgraduate diploma in
banking and finance from the City University of Hong Kong
(formerly known as City Polytechnic of Hong Kong) in 1990
and a master's degree in finance from City University of Hong
Kong in 1995. He is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute, UK Chartered Management Institute,
Certified Practising Accountants, Australia and a Chartered
Financial Analyst charterholder. Mr. Chan has extensive
experience in project finance and fund-raising activities for
construction projects in Hong Kong and Asia Pacific. He
is currently an independent non-executive director of JBB
Builders International Limited (stock code: 1903) and Upbest
Group Limited (stock code: 335), whose shares are listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
EEkafheEBEBNREFE(E)

Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel ( @ & 18), aged 42, holds a
Bachelor of Science degree in Mathematics, Economics,
and Finance from The University of Hong Kong, awarded in
2004. He is a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) and has over
15 years of experience in investment fund management. Mr.
Chow began his career at Dah Sing Bank, where he worked
as a Risk Control Assistant from October 2004 to July 2005.
He then joined JK Capital Management Limited in July 2005,
where he served until December 2017, with his last position
being Assistant Portfolio Manager. From May 2018 to May
2019, Mr. Chow was an Assistant Portfolio Manager at Step
Capital Management (HK) Limited. He subsequently served as
a Portfolio Manager at Reliance International Financial Planners
Limited from May 2019 to August 2020. Between September
2020 and June 2022, Mr. Chow worked as a Portfolio Manager
at Perpetuum Wealth Management Limited, where he was
also appointed as a Responsible Officer to carry out Type
4 (Advising on Securities) and Type 9 (Asset Management)
regulated activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(SFO). From June 2022 to September 2023, Mr. Chow served
as a Portfolio Manager at Browen Capital (HK) Limited,
where he also acted as a Responsible Officer for Type 4 and
Type 9 regulated activities under the SFO. In June 2024, Mr.
Chow rejoined Perpetuum Wealth Management Limited as a
Portfolio Manager and Responsible Officer (Type 4 and 9), a
role he held until February 2025. Since March 2025, he has
been serving as Director and Responsible Officer (Type 1 and
9) at BlackWing Asset Management Co., Limited.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chow did not hold other
directorship in any other listed or public companies, of which
the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas in the three preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
ESEkafheEBBENREFE(E)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Liu Jinghui (2% £), aged 51, is the financial controller
of Guangzhou Xinhua Thread Co., Ltd., an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company (“Guangzhou Xinhua").
Ms. Liu is primarily responsible for the financial control of
Guangzhou Xinhua. Ms. Liu joined the Group in August 1994.
Ms. Liu received her associate degree in polymer chemical
engineering from the South China University of Technology
(FEFEE T KE) in the PRC in July 1994. She also obtained
qualifications as a registered tax adviser from the Department
of Personnel of the Guangdong Province (EHR& AZEEE) in
October 2004.

Mr. Lui Hak Kong ( & = fll ), aged 60, is the production
manager of Guangzhou Xinhua. Mr. Lui is primarily responsible
for the production management as well as quality control of
Guangzhou Xinhua. Mr. Lui joined the Group in June 1996.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lui worked for Dik Sun Dyeing
Factory Ltd. as a person-in-charge for its laboratory and
quality control from June 1990 to April 1996. From June 1983
to March 1990, Mr. Lui worked as a merchandiser and site
leader of Fang Brothers Knitting Limited, which was a knitting
company.
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Corporate Governance Report

TERERBMSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board believes that cultivating and maintaining a culture
focused on good corporate governance is essential to
effect strong business growth and continue the efficient
management of the Company. The Directors are of the view
that strong corporate governance practices can safeguard the
interests of and ensure accountability to the Shareholders as a
whole.

The corporate governance code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules has been adopted
by the Board. Nevertheless, the Directors are committed
to regularly reviewing its corporate governance practices to
ensure conformity with the standard set out in the CG Code,
as well as meeting the rising expectation of the Shareholders
and other stakeholders of the Company.

Except for the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the
CG Code, details of which are set out in the section headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” in this corporate
governance report, the Board is of the view that the Company
has complied with the code provisions for the year ended 31
December 2024.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the standard of dealings regarding
securities transactions by the Directors equivalent to the
required standard of dealings as set out in rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors have all confirmed,
having been made specific enquiry by the Company, that they
have complied with the required standard of dealings and the
required standard concerning securities transactions by the
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TtERER®MSE(E)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises:

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert
(Chairman and chief executive officer)

BRRBEE(FEFTHAEE)

Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch

PR 1B 3R % A

Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex

REREE

Mr. Leung Tat Chi

RELERE

Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah

BIEXEE

Mr. Shane McGrath

Shane McGrath %t 4

Non-executive Director
FEHITES
Ms. Ho Wing Shan

f] 58 30 22 £

Independent non-executive Directors
BYFHTES

Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold

BR ME B 55 4

Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel

AREBXE

Mr. Tang Chun Hei

B SR R ST 4
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming

RIPEA &

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section headed "“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management” of this annual report.

E=xg
EEEnAm

EFeRBEIE:

(appointed as an Executive Director on 3 September 2024)
(R-ZEFE-ZMFANA=REZFRBHTESE)

(resigned as an Executive Director on 29 February 2024)
(RZFEZF-A -+ NLAFEHTEE)

(resigned as an Executive Director on 6 September 2024)

(RZFB_FAANAGEEHTEE)

(appointed as an Non-executive Director on 6 September
2024)
(R-ZFEZMFAANAEZERBFHTESE)

(appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director on 6
September 2024)

(RZFEZFANANAEEZFRBLHNTESE)

(retired as an Independent Non-executive Director on 6 June
2024)

(R=ZFZENANHRFR I IFHITEE)

EEREFRERNLAEEREIEZTRD
MEBRENREFB] —8 -
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TtEER®RE(E)

Except as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management”, there has been
no financial, business, family or other material relationship
among the Directors.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has provided
a written confirmation of his independence and the Company
regards them as independent pursuant to rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Board will hold regular board meetings at least four times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Such meetings are
expected to involve active participation, either in person or
through electronic means of communication, of a majority of
the Directors entitled to be present.

Below is the attendance record of each Director at the Board

%F%%&%?&%ﬁE’JFE%’\&J—EﬁFﬁ
®EEIN
Eiﬁlﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁ%

BREBUFRTESEREEEBE L
MRE MARARIEGEM LM R A F
509 ER BB -

EXeREBFERNEINAEHNESS
ETE CHBFE-R -BHBEELREZK

NESREBRFAEBETAMALA
%Eﬁi*ﬁﬁﬁ & °

UTAERESENREEZE_T_MFE+-A

meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2024: ST -HIEFERTNEZTESRNLERE
40 8% -

Attendance/
number of
meetings held
HERE
Name of Directors EEnR BTEBERK
Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert EEELE 4/8
Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch PR #2 3RSt A& 6/8
Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex REWEE 6/8
Mr. Leung Tat Chi RELESLE 2/8
Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah SEXEE 0/8
Mr. Shane McGrath Shane McGrath %t & 3/8
Ms. Ho Wing Shan o] 58 b 22 = 1/8
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold PR i B % £ 6/8
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel BEExXE 6/8
Mr. Tang Chun Hei B 38 0% o A 1/8
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming RIBRF &4 2/8

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

tERER®RE(E)

Below is the attendance record of each Director at the general U TFTASLZEERNEHEEZE-_ZEZ_-_MNE+-A
meeting of the Company during the year ended 31 December =+ —BItFEFERTH AL T RE X EH
2024: i FE 50 8% ¢
Attendance/
number of
meetings held
HERE
Name of Directors EENF BITERERH
Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert FERELEE 0/1
Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch PR B 3R 5T A 1/1
Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex REWREE 11
Mr. Leung Tat Chi RELEE N/ATT i# R
Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah Bk & N/AT i
Mr. Shane McGrath Shane McGrath 7t 4 1/1
Ms. Ho Wing Shan o] 52 M 22 + N/AAS i A
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold PR 3 B % £ 1/1
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel BAEELSE 1/1
Mr. Tang Chun Hei B 48 8 o A N/AA i A
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming N 32 BA OE A 1/1
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD BEEEgMECT

The Board is primarily responsible for the overall management
and strategic planning and development of the Group, which
may involve convening general meetings and reporting the
Board's work at a shareholders’ meeting, determining business
and investment plans, preparing annual financial budgets and
final reports and formulating proposals for profit distributions.
Day-to-day management is alternatively delegated to the
executive Directors and senior management. The functions
delegated to senior management are regularly reviewed by the
Board to ensure that they are appropriately aligned with the
Group's needs.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company had
three independent non-executive Directors and was at all
times in compliance with the requirements of the GEM Listing
Rules, which specifies that the independent non-executive
Directors must represent at least one third of the Board
members with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TERER®RSE(E)

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance policies to
cover the Directors’ risk exposure/liabilities with respect to
any legal actions against the Directors arising from corporate
activities of the Company. Such insurance coverage was
reviewed by the Board and shall continue to be reviewed
annually.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no committee for
corporate governance was established and the Board is thus
responsible for performing the corporate governance functions
outlined in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Directors may hold Board meetings when necessary and
include any relevant matters for discussion in the agenda as
they see fit. A minimum of 14 days’ notice of such Board
meetings is given to all Directors. A draft agenda for each
Board meeting typically accompanies the notice to give the
Directors an opportunity to raise any other relevant issues for
discussion in the meeting. Board papers and related materials
to the meeting are circulated to each Director before each
meeting for their perusal to ensure that they can make an
informed decision to discharge their duty as a Director.

Draft minutes are also circulated to the Directors for their
comment and review after each Board meeting is held, and
the minutes of the Board and the Company’s committees are
kept by the company secretary of the Company. Each Board
member and Director has access to the advice and service
of the company secretary of the Company in order to comply
with relevant procedures and applicable rules and regulations.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Directors recognise the importance of incorporating
elements of good corporate governance in management
structures and internal control procedures in order to achieve
effective accountability.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
complied with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules, except for the deviation from the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, which stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual.
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TtERER®MSE(E)

Mr. Wong, who is the chairman of the Board as well as the
chief executive officer of the Company, has been involved
in the daily operations and management of the Group since
2008. The Directors consider that vesting the roles of the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company in Mr. Wong will ensure strong and consistent
leadership, facilitate the Group’s business strategies and boost
the effectiveness of the Company’s operation. The Board will
continue to review this arrangement and consider splitting
the roles of the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company when such role splitting is beneficial
to the Group as a whole.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”)
state that at each annual general meeting (the "AGM"), one
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A
Director retiring by rotation shall be eligible for re-election.

While each of the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company to act as a non-executive
Director or independent non-executive Director for a fixed
term of three years, the non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors appointed are also
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election according to
the Articles. Independent non-executive Directors are required
to notify the Company as soon as practicable if there is any
change that may affect their independence and each of them
must provide a written confirmation of his independence every
year.
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TtEER®RE(E)

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To ensure that the Directors’ contribution to the Board remains
relevant and informed, the Directors are to participate in
continuous professional development through which their
knowledge and skills can be refreshed and strengthened. As
part of the Directors’ continuous professional development
programme, newly appointed Directors are to receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction upon their
appointment as a Director while existing Directors receive
additional training when appropriate to ensure that they
are aware of and are able to comply with the obligations
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and any other statutory
requirements. The company secretary of the Company is
responsible for maintaining and updating records for the
Directors’ training sessions.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all the Directors,
namely, Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert, Mr. Chan Yiu Tung,
Enoch, Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex, Mr. Leung Tat Chi, Ms. Ho
Wing Shan, Mr. Tang Chun Hei, Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold
and Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel, comprising the Board during
the year ended 31 December 2024, participated in a training
session and each Director was provided with relevant guidance
materials with respect to the laws applicable to Directors, the
roles and responsibilities of Directors and the Directors’ duty
to disclose their interest.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board established the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) on 24 November 2017 in
order to oversee particular functions of the Company. These
committees of the Board have been established with written
terms of reference that clearly outline their authorities, powers
and duties. These terms of reference can be found on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established pursuant to rules 5.28
to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision C.3.3
of the CG Code. The Audit Committee is mainly responsible
for reviewing financial information, monitoring the Company’s
financial reporting system and internal control procedures and
maintaining the relationship with the Company’s auditors.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold (the
chairman), Mr. Tang Chun Hei and Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel.
No member of the current Audit Committee is a member
of the previous independent auditor of the Company. The
Audit Committee has reviewed this annual report as well as
the consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The current terms of reference state that the Audit Committee
shall have at least four meetings annually. The Audit
Committee held a meeting on 28 March 2025 to (i) review
and approve the annual financial results in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2024; (ii) discuss and consider issues
significant to financial reporting, controls on operations and
compliance, the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems; and (iii) review the appointment of
the auditor and its relevant scope of work.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit
Committee held four meetings, where the Audit Committee
reviewed and discussed, amongst other matters, (i) the
Group’s consolidated results for the year ended 31 December
2023; (ii) the Group’s consolidated results for the three months
ended 31 March 2024; (iii) the Group’s consolidated results
for the six months ended 30 June 2024; (iv) the Group’s
consolidated results for the nine months ended 30 September
2024; (v) the financial reporting system and internal control
procedures of the Group; and (vi) appointment of auditor of the
Group.
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Below is the attendance record of each member of the Audit A FTABE-_ZT-_MFE+-_A=+—Hit
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2024: FEEZZEGSKELE RN
Attendance/
number of
meetings held
HERE
Name of Directors EEHR BITEREXRHY
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold (chairman) — BR#E Bt 56 4 (£ &) 4/4
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel BAEELXE 4/4
Mr. Tang Chun Hei B $8 % o A N/AT i
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming N IR BA SR A 1/4
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMEER
The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three ¥ MMZECBABE=ZRBIIIENTES -
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chow Chin  ElEIR B4 (X FE) - B EB 4 R E#E
Hang, Joel (the chairman), Mr. Tang Chun Hei and Mr. Chan  Bf%t 4 o
Tsun Choi, Arnold.
The Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible ¥ MZES€ T ZAERARREZEEEN

for making regular recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all
Directors and senior management of the Company and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing the remuneration policy. The remuneration
committee also responsible for reviewing and/or approving
matter relation to share schemes under Chapter 23 of the
GEM Listing Rules and approving the grant of options and
share awards to eligible participants pursuant to the share
schemes of the Company.

The current terms of reference state that the remuneration
Committee shall have at least one meeting annually. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held six meetings, where they reviewed
the remuneration packages for all Directors and senior
management of the Company and made recommendations to
the Board.
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Below is the attendance record of each member of the
Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31 December
2024

ATABE-_T_NF+-_A=1+—HL
FEFHZESGEKREHFESHEMACE:

Attendance/

number of

meetings held

HERE

Name of Directors EENSA BITERERH

Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel (chairman) BREEE(EE) 6/6

Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold BeR 3 B o A 6/6

Mr. Tang Chun Hei B 48 8 o A N/AAS i A

Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming NI BA OE A 3/6
Details regarding emoluments of the Directors for the year BB EZFHREBEE T _-_NF+_-_A=+—
ended 31 December 2024 are outlined in note 13 to the Elﬂzi&hél’]@ﬂﬁaﬁ BE i 7Y AN F B R AR

consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the number of
senior management members whose remuneration fell within
the following band is as follows:

BYUBHARMFEIB

HE_ZT-_MNE+_A=+—HLFE -
MeNFTIEENGREEEKE AH
LU

Number of
individuals
Remuneration band SN E AE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,0007% 7T &]
NOMINATION COMMITTEE REZEE
The Nomination Committee currently consists of one executive RELZZECRABHE —ZHITES A=

Director, namely, Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert (the chairman)
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Tang Chun Hei, Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold and Mr. Chow
Chin Hang, Joel.

BELE(ERIR=2BIIFNTESE
BIEpsAm AL REMEERBARESRE
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The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for
regularly reviewing the structure of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed change
to the structure of the Board. Following the establishment of
the Nomination Committee, the Company has adopted a board
diversity policy in order to achieve diversity on the Board.
As such, Board members are selected based on a range of
diverse perspectives, including but not limited to, gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service.

The current terms of reference state that the Nomination
Committee shall have at least one meeting annually.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee held four meeting, where they assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and
recommended to the Board for the re-appointment of all the
retiring Directors at the annual general meeting.

Below is the attendance record of each member of the
Nomination Committee during the year ended 31 December
2024:

REZESTIEZRATHEHNESTSRE -
THEMEEESTEREE ﬁﬁ%‘\

EHEZE NRIRBEZEEGER AR
EXRMEFEESHRCERR L/{,ai;ﬁu%%?
ZRL-BAit EFEXENREZET

RBHEFBEETRRMER - Fik X1t
REEES FBELR it MREER

BER)EE -

i

RERESHESPE RREZESEFER
AEL— ez BE2_FT_WF+_A
=+t HLEFE REZESER]ITHOK
TF MESERNSLFGBIIERTE

ENBILM YRR RBEAGLEN
REMBREEZAEZTGREES -

ATRBE_F_OF+-_A=Z+—Hit
FERAZBEEXNEHLFEZMLH:

Attendance/

number of

meetings held

HERE

Name of Directors EEHA BITERERHY
Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert (chairman) &= B{& % 4 (£ &) 2/4
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold PR i B % A 4/4
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel FARELE 4/4
Mr. Tang Chun Hei B $E 8% o A N/AA 3
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming RIS E 2/4

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TtERER®MSE(E)

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board recognises the importance of diversity in the
Board composition and has adopted a board diversity policy
which sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and
balanced development of the Company and also to enhance
the quality of performance of the Company. In designing
the Board’s composition, selection of candidates has been
considered from a number of perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
industry experience, technical and professional skills and/or
qualifications, knowledge, length of services and time to be
devoted as a director. The Company will also take into account
factors relating to its own business model and specific needs
from time to time. The ultimate decision is based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

The Nomination Committee has considered and reviewed
the composition and diversity of the Board. All the executive
Directors and non-executive Director possess extensive
and diversified experience in management and industrial
experience. The three independent non-executive Directors
possess professional knowledge in management, finance,
accounting and legal aspects. The Nomination Committee will
review the board diversity policy, as appropriate, to ensure its
effectiveness.

The Board understands a single gender board will not consider
diversity to be achieved. The Board has appointed Ms. Ho
Wing Shan on 6 September 2024. For the detailed gender ratio
in the workforce, please refer to the environmental, social and
governance report.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Group has mechanisms to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board and such mechanisms will
be reviewed annually by the Board, encouraging all directors
including independent non-executive directors to express their
views in an open manner during the Board/Board Committees
meetings. While all independent non-executive directors are
also members of the board committees to enable various
and independent view in company’s matter. In addition, all
Directors, including independent non-executive directors, are
entitled to seek further information and documentation from
the management on the matters to be discussed at board
meetings. They can also seek assistance from the company
secretary (the “Company Secretary”) and, where necessary,
independent advice from external professional advisers at
the Company’s expense. The Board considered the said
mechanisms has been operating effectively.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting

The Directors understand and recognise their responsibility to
(i) prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group;
and (ii) ensure that such financial statements are prepared to
give a true and accurate view of the state of affairs, results
and cash flows of the Group in accordance with the Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance as well
as any internal standards deemed appropriate and necessary
by the Directors in order to prepare the Group's consolidated
financial statements. Further, the Directors also strive to offer
a fair and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s financial
position and prospects and ensure timely publication of the
financial statements of the Group. The Directors confirm that
as at 31 December 2024, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
they were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
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The responsibility of the independent auditor of the Company
is to form its independent opinion based on its audit on those
consolidated financial statements prepared by the Board, and
to report its opinion to the Shareholders. Further details of
their reporting responsibility are set out in the independent
auditor’s report of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognises its responsibility to ensure the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems. As such, the Directors are committed to
reviewing such systems regularly. The Board, the Company's
internal audit division and the Audit Committee conducted a
review of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems during the year ended 31 December 2024 and were
satisfied with their adequacy and effectiveness. Similarly, the
Board also examined the Group's internal control systems in
terms of financial, operational, compliance, procedural and risk
management functions and were generally satisfied with the
effectiveness of the current systems in place.
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The Directors understand that the enforcement of risk
management and internal control systems is essential to the
Group's ability to manage and minimise risks that may affect
the Group’s efficiency and effectiveness, or inhibit it from
achieving the business objectives.

In relation to the undertakings provided by the controlling
Shareholders in respect of the deed of non-competition,
the details of which are outlined in the Prospectus, the
independent non-executive Directors confirm that they
have reviewed the enforcement of such undertakings and
conclude that there are no outstanding issues regarding the
undertakings that need to be raised with the Shareholders and
the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees paid or
payable to the Company's independent external auditor, Asian
Alliance and subsidiaries’ auditor, for the audit services for the
Group are approximately as follows:

B REINTERE R &R EDE
%%ﬁ%ﬁzﬁigﬁéfﬁﬁiﬁi\—lﬁé?&’ﬁ“ﬁ&%
EREREN TS EEEEREBKEED
RENEBEEE -

FhPR AR B R OBA T B S 22 4R (FF B L A 4R
RER)RENARMNS  BUFNTE
EHR - ACEHZSTARMNBH HIT
WRRBEEAZEBORBIRREZER
REBEBRRRARFEE -

o B8 B 2 A

BEE_F_DNFEt_-_HA=+—BLFE"
BREETAEENEZREMC N B
ARBBILIMNBZBENA L KB A E =%
ZEMERBAONT

Amount

&4

HK$'000

Type of service BR 7% 38 Bl FAT
Audit services EZ R 700

COMPANY SECRETARY

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the
Chairman on board governance matters, and is responsible
for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and also
facilitating communications among Directors as well as with
shareholders and management.

Mr. Lee Tak Shing (“Mr. Lee”) was appointed as the Company
Secretary on 3 September 2024 and Mr. Hui Man Ho, Ivan had
resigned on 3 September 2024. Mr. Lee had complied with
the professional training requirements to update his skills and
knowledge under Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules for the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

In order to protect their own rights and interests, Shareholders
may propose separate resolutions in regard to substantial
issues at Shareholders’ meetings for consideration and voting.
According to the GEM Listing Rules, all resolutions presented
at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted by poll, and after
the relevant Shareholders’ meeting, the results of such a
poll will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company. Pursuant to the Articles, an AGM will be
held annually in the relevant territory where the Shares are
listed, or elsewhere as may be determined by the Board.
Any meeting other than an AGM is deemed an extraordinary
general meeting ("EGM").

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETINGS

Extraordinary general meetings can be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date
of the deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at the general meetings. Such requisition must be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary of the Company
for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition.

Shareholders must send their written resolutions, together
with their full name, contact details and identification, by post
to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong or by email for the attention of the company secretary of
the Company, details of which are set out below:

: Unit B, 7/F,
Wah Kit Commercial Centre
300 Des Voeux Road
Hong Kong

Principal place of
business of the
Company in Hong
Kong

Email address . info@harbourequine.com
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An extraordinary general meeting must be within two months
after the deposit of the requisition. If, within 21 days after
the deposit of the requisition, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself/
themselves may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.

RIGHT OF RAISING ENQUIRIES

For queries about shareholdings, share transfers, registrations
and dividend payments, Shareholders should contact the
Company’'s Hong Kong branch share registrar, whose details
are set out in the section headed “Corporate Information” of
this annual report.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS'’
MEETINGS

The Articles provide that Shareholders who wish to put
a resolution to a vote may convene an EGM by means of
requisition using the procedure set out above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company utilises various channels to communicate with
its shareholders and investors, including (i) the AGM or EGM,
which allows Shareholders to comment and exchange views
with the Board; (ii) the publication of interim, quarterly and
annual reports; (iii) notices, announcements and circulars; and
(iv) the Company's website at www.harbourequine.com.
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Report of the Directors

—

SELWE

The Directors are pleased to present this report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 18 August 2016.
On 22 June 2017, the Group completed a group reorganisation
(the “Reorganisation”), details of which are set out in the
section headed "History, Reorganisation and Corporate
Structure” in the Prospectus. Through various reorganisation
procedures, the Company became the holding company of the
Group upon completion of the Reorganisation.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the
primary activities of its principal subsidiaries are the sale
and manufacture and selling of sewing threads and board
categories of garment accessories, provision of interior
design, interior decoration and furnishing services, trading of
bloodstock, stallion services and equine handling services.
The principal activities also included securities, advising
on corporate finance and assets management. Details of
the Group’s principal activities are set out in Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income of this
annual report. The Board does not recommend the payment of
a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the Group's property, plant and
equipment for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out
in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group's performance for the year
ended 31 December 2024, the main issues impacting its
results and financial position are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
In addition, a discussion of the likely future development of the
Group's business is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's profitability, financial position, results of
operations, business operations and prospects may be
affected by a variety of risks including foreign currency risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's risk
management system and policies are shown in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Further, the Group may also be exposed to other risks that
may be beyond its control. For the threads segment, the
Group may experience material price fluctuations of fibre
and yarn, both being raw materials principally used in the
manufacturing process of sewing threads. The Group also
faces business risks, including (i) failure to secure a supply as
the Group does not enter into long-term supply contracts with
its suppliers; (ii) any unexpected disruption in the Guangzhou
Production Facilities; and (iii) any labour shortage, increase
in labour costs or other factors affecting labour supply in the
PRC, For the equine segment, the Group may experience
material price fluctuations of the bloodstock market due to the
impact from repeated interest rate increase by the Reserve
Bank of Australia. Also, the performance and growth condition
of the bloodstock also influence the price of the bloodstock.
Each of which may materially and adversely affect the Group's
operations, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the five years ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the
section headed “Five Year Financial Summary” of this annual
report.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements of the issued share capital of the

Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights pursuant to
the Articles or the laws of the Cayman lIslands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which
would require the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to its existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of this annual
report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, no Company's reserves
available for distribution to Shareholders, calculated according
to Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, sales to the Group's
largest customer and five largest customers represented
approximately 68.4% (2023: approximately 11.6%) and 83.8%
(2023: approximately 39.1%) of the Group's total revenue,
respectively. The Group's suppliers include suppliers of
raw materials and processing works. For the year ended
31 December 2024, supplies attributable to the Group’s
largest supplier and five largest suppliers represented
approximately 18.9% (2023: approximately 6.8%) and 52.5%
(2023: approximately 21.7%) of the Group's total supplies,
respectively.

BLRBER

R 3% 40 Bl 3 AR B FE M AR L P BDA B 8
ERSHFENZER UEELBERNK
XHREARBARLEPIAERERRET
D -

BE HEFEOARQT LHES

BE-_ZEZ-_MNWE+-_A=+—\H1IEERE
BEEAFHREH  AQFHEWE QA
EEE  HENBLO ARG EM LFTES -

& s

AEBHE=_Z_NF+_-_A=+—HI1t
FERENEHFRBIREIEERSES
BEEEHE -

A 2K 1 4

RZZEZ=FR-_F-_NMF+=-A=+—8
BRREHBEEMNE2ERRE(—R—
FEIFRED  BEAaRETHAE AR
a3 A A A AR DR EY 4 e

FEEFRKER

HE_Z_MOM&F+-_A=1+—HILEE"
MAEEZARPEAAARTFNEED
BlAME AR E B AU 68.4% (ZF = =
F: #411.6%)%83.8% (ZZTE-=F: &
391%) - AEEMNHEZFBEREMART
FifEm BT _-_NE+_A=+—
BEFE ASEHAHEEBRAKREE
EELMNEEE NG AEEHER
FH18.9% (—Z T - =% : 496.8%) }52.5%
(ZE-ZF :#921.7%) »

BBEFZERBRAOT /2024 F 3R

47



48

Report of the Directors (Continued)

E=2g%E(E)

To the Directors’ best knowledge, none of the Directors or
any of close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
or any Shareholder who or which own more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital had any beneficial interest in

BEEMA EFRTANETHEACE
EZRGEMLEMRA K HEHL% A LR F
EETRANBRERATERELELAEE
AAREFR,/SAREEETHEETME

any of the five largest customers and/or five largest suppliers

of the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors for the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to
the date of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert
(Chairman and chief executive officer)

HREBEE(FEFTHAEE)

Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch

PR 18 3R %% A4

Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex

REWESE

Mr. Leung Tat Chi

RELRE

Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah

BIEXEE

Mr. Shane McGrath

Shane McGrath %¢ &

Non-executive Director
FHITES
Ms. Ho Wing Shan

fa] 783l 22 £

Independent non-executive Directors
BYFHTES

Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold

BR M BY SR &£

Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel

BARBExXE

Mr. Tang Chun Hei

Bl $E M5 ST AE
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming

REHAEE

Az ogde Nz
miEm e

EE

(appointed as an Executive Director on 3 September 2024)
(R=ZFZFNA=—HEZF BB TERE)

(resigned as an Executive Director on 29 February 2024)
(RZF—_mF A1+ NAFEHTEF)

(resigned as an Executive Director on 6 September 2024)

(R-ZF-_MFANANABREHRTEF)

(appointed as an Non-executive Director on 6 September
2024)
(RZBZMFANANAEZERIFHTEE)

(appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director on
6 September 2024)
(R-ZFE-ZFANANAEEZE BBV HHNTESE)

(retired as an Independent Non-executive Director on 6 June

2024)
(R-F-—WFENANHREBLFRTEE)
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Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles, the Directors shall
have power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director but the number of Directors so appointed
shall not exceed the maximum number determined from time
to time by the Shareholders in a general meeting. Any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the first general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting
and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles, notwithstanding
any other provisions in the Articles, at each annual general
meeting, one third of the Directors for the time being, or,
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one third, shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

For the biographical details of the Directors, please refer to
the section headed "“Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company pursuant to which he has agreed
to act as an executive Director for an initial term of three
years, which shall be renewed as determined by the Board or
the Shareholders. Either party is entitled to give not less than
one month’s notice to terminate the service agreement.
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Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent
non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company to which he has agreed to act
as a non-executive Director or an independent non-executive
Director for a fixed term of three years, which shall be
renewed as determined by the Board or the Shareholders.
Except for the Director’s fees, no independent non-executive
Director is to receive any other emolument for acting as an
independent non-executive Director.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has proposed
or entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation other than the statutory compensation.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCY OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has provided
the Company with a confirmation of independence pursuant
to rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. As such, the Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent as at the date of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles, a Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he may incur or sustain in or about
the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto.

Appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage
has been arranged for the Directors and officers of the
Company.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals are set out in Notes 14 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Directors receive compensation in the form of an annual
director’'s fee while members of the senior management
receive compensation in the form of salaries, discretionary
bonuses and other allowances. The Group also reimburses
the Directors and senior management for expenses which are
necessarily and reasonably incurred in relation to the Group's
operations or in the course of discharging their duties to the
Group. The Remuneration Committee regularly reviews and
determines the remuneration packages of the Directors and
the senior management, taking into account factors including,
salaries payable by comparable companies, employment
conditions, responsibilities and the individual performance of
the Directors and senior management.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions
of each of the Directors and the chief executive of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"), which
were (a) required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO; or (c) as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Long position in the Shares and underlying Shares REGREBERGZFE
(a) Ordinary shares of the Company (a) ARE]EER

Percentage of issued
share capital of the
Company (Note 1)

Number of
ordinary shares held

Nature of interest/

Name of Director Holding capacity

YN

ERITREN

BB Wit E BRYH Fii5 % AR BE AR (W 11)

Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert Interest of a controlled corporation 120,000,000 (L) 29.33%
(Note 2)
BERELE REHEBER 120,000,0000% A& 13 (L)
(Biatz)

Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex Beneficial owner 10,100,000 (L) 2.47%
REWEE EnBEAA 10,100,000 A% 13 (L)

Mr. Leung Tat Chi Beneficial owner 17460,466 (L) 4.27%

17460,466 1% f&% {3 (L)
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(b) Share options of the Company (b) A a]fE e

Number of underlying shares in respect of which share option were granted

BREBRENERROHE

Outstanding at Outstanding at

Date of grant of 1 January Granted Exercised Lapsed 31 December

Name of category of participant ~ share option  Exercisable period Exercise price 2024 during the year  during the year ~ during the year 2024

i ukdad 13 RZB-RmE

-A-H tZh=1-8

SEEERAR BRERLRE fEH kg REAR RERRE  RERERE RERKH RER
HKS
AT

Directors
gz
Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex 31 August 2022 31 August 2022-30 August 2025 0.59 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
REREE g Z3ZZENAZ1-BE
NEZ+-R  ZE-RfNA=tH
Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah 13 May 2021 13 May 2021-12 May 2024 0.57 3,500,000 - - (3,500,000) =
SHELEA 3% ZR-5RfR+ZRE
fnote 3) 1At=A ZTCMERATZA
H#3)
Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah 31 August 2022 31 August 2022-30 August 2025 0.59 4,000,000 = = 4,000,000) =
FExAE IRIIE ZRIENAZT-RE
fnote 3) NB=t-B  ZE-E&NA=tH
(&3
Mr. Shane McGrath 3 January 2022 3 January 2022-2 January 2025 0492 4,091,418 - - 4,091,418) -
Shane McGrath %t & Sl ZE-CE-fZRZE
fnote 4) -A=H “E-RE-AZA
Wiy

Other eligible participants

EeERSES

Nil - - - - - - - -
i

15,591,418 = = (11,691,418) 4,000,000

ERESERERAT /20248 O3
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As at the date of this annual report, the Company’s issued ordinary
share capital was HK$20,457,093 divided into 409,141,860 Shares of
HK$0.05 each.

Three Gates Investment Limited ("Three Gates Investment”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on 15 August 2016
is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert (“Mr.
Wong"), who is the chairman and an executive director of the Company.
Therefore, Mr. Wong is deemed to be interested in 120,000,000 Shares
held by Three Gates Investment by virtue of the SFO.

Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah resigned as an executive director of the
Company on 29 February 2024.

Mr. Shane McGrath resigned as an executive director of the Company on
6 September 2024.

Except as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company had any
other interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which were required to be recorded in the register kept by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange according to
rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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2. Three Gates Investment Limited ([Three Gates
Investment)) 2 —H R - - XFNA+H
AERBEERESEMEAIHAR  BEAR
AERRNTESEARXA(EEED 2
BEnBA AL BEEFRABKEM -
=AM B R Three Gates Investment Ff #
120,000,000 Ry P E B #E 2 »
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

To the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31 December
2024, the following persons or corporations (other than the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company) who had
interests and/or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the Shares and underlying Shares

Name of Substantial

Nature of interest/

Number of ordinary

FERRRAQTRAD K AR 5 Y
BakAR

BEEMMN RZZTE-_NF+_A=+—
B W TATHEZB(RAREEREE
TTHBA BB AN AR R B 7 sk 48 78 B 1»
THERBEESFLBEEMNEXVBE2R
3D HERETARABIHABARL AR FHKH
E&PIFE336IERMEAFTENE MM
TR RKBIT

REGREBRGZHFE

Percentage of issued
share capital of the

Shareholder Holding capacity shares held Company (Note 1)

N

ERITRAN

TERKER BEF BEtE BREH6 FEEEREE Botk(#iFr)

Three Gates Investment Beneficial owner 120,000,000 29.33%
(Notes 2, 3)
EaEBA 120,000,000 8% f&% 17
(Hat2 - 3)

Gold-Face Finance Limited Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Shares (Notes 3, 4)
HRGFBEHERAR R PEEEFEROAL 80,000,000/ A& 12
(B33 - 4)

Upbest Credit and Mortgage Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Limited Shares (Notes 3, 4)
EREEREBERRA RRDPEEESFEROAL 80,000,000/ A& 12
(B33 - 4)

Good Foundation Company Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Limited Shares (Notes 3, 4)
MEEARQA KRR PHEEESBEROAL 80,000,000 & 12
(B1i#3 - 4)

Upbest Strategic Company Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Limited Shares (Notes 3, 4)
ERRBAERDA BROmEAEESEENAL 80,000,000 f% 12
(B3 - 4)

Upbest Financial Holdings Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Limited Shares (Notes 3, 4)
RBOFEEEFERNATL 80,000,0008% f% 13
(K &t3 - 4)
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Percentage of issued

Name of Substantial Nature of interest/ Number of ordinary share capital of the
Shareholder Holding capacity shares held Company (Note 1)
NN
ERITRAN
TERRER BH BatE BEReH FEESEREE Bl (A1)
Upbest Group Limited Person having a security interest in 80,000,000 19.55%
Shares (Notes 3, 4)
XEEEBRAF RROFEBERESFEZNAL 80,000,0004% f& 13
(B33 - 4)

Fung Wing Cheung, Tony Beneficial owner 40,800,000 9.97%

B K EREBA 40,800,000 f% f% 13

Notes: Mt -

1. As at the date of this annual report, the Company's issued ordinary 1. RAFEREDY  ARAFANEBRITLEBARRK
share capital was HK$20,457,093 divided into 409,141,860 Shares of 7N 520,457,093 7T+ 5 A409,141,860 8% & A%
HK$0.05 each. H{H0.058 TTH X7 -

2. Three Gates Investment is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. 2. Three Gates InvestmentBA AR A E ERHNITE
Wong, who is the chairman and an executive Director of the Company. EELLEZEESHE RN BEREHE S
Therefore, Mr. Wong is deemed to be interested in 120,000,000 Shares % 38 FT#5 Three Gates Investment 100% % #& 7
held by Three Gates Investment by virtue of his 100% shareholding Three Gates InvestmentFT#5120,000,000/% A%
interest in Three Gates Investment. DHEEER -

3. 80,000,000 Shares held by Three Gates Investment have been charged 3. Three Gates Investment ffT #80,000,000f% % 17

in favour of Gold-Face Finance Limited (“Gold-Face”) as security for EEERTFTHRGBERAR([FER]D - A
a loan granted in favour of Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert, the chairman, RADRBERE THER BTESRERRK
chief executive officer, executive director and controlling shareholder of RERELEAERERMEKT -

the Company.

4. As Gold-Face is wholly-owned by Upbest Credit and Mortgage Limited, 4. HRHORBEEECFEEREBERARAZER

which in turn is wholly-owned by Upbest Strategic Company Limited F MEREERRBAERAIAEERRE
and Good Foundation Company Limited in equal parts, which in turn are ERAFRKERFABRBERAGDZERNSHAE MM
both wholly-owned by Upbest Financial Holdings Limited, which in turn # /R Upbest Financial Holdings Limited & & #
is wholly-owned by Upbest Group Limited, Upbest Credit and Mortgage A+ fUpbest Financial Holdings Limited 8l f
Limited, Upbest Strategic Company Limited, Good Foundation Company ZEEEBERQAAZERE BMREZEHFKS
Limited, Upbest Financial Holdings Limited and Upbest Group Limited B g H %53?%&}%%75@ Al EER
are all deemed to be interested in the security interest in the 80,000,000 BARAR - FEABRAF - Upbest Financial
Shares charged in favour of Gold-Face by virtue of the SFO. HoIdings Limited R X2 EBHR DA H R
B E R F 19K 680,000,000 Bk h P A &
HRER o
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Except as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the
Directors are not aware of any interests and short positions
owned by any other parties, other than a Director or the
chief executive of the Company who held interests or short
positions in the shares and the underlying shares of the
Company, which were required to be recorded under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, who
was interested, directly or indirectly, in 10% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The existing share option scheme of the Company (the
“Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 8
February 2023 and the previous share option scheme of the
Company adopted on 24 November 2017 (the “Old Share
Option Scheme”) was terminated on the same date. The
following is a summary of the major terms of the Share Option
Scheme:

(a) Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract
and retain the best available personnel of the Group,
to provide additional incentive for employees working
full-time and part-time as well as other eligible personnel
under the Share Option Scheme and to promote the
success of the business of the Group.

(b) Eligible participants

Eligible participants include (i) employee participant(s)
including the director(s) and employee(s) (whether
full-time or part-time) of any member of the Group
(including persons who are granted Options under the
Share Option Scheme as inducement to enter into
employment contracts with the Group); and (ii) service
provider(s) including person(s) who provide services to
any member of the Group on a continuing or recurring
basis in its ordinary and usual course of business which
are in the interests of the long term growth of the Group,
which include any independent distributor, contractor,
supplier, agent, consultant or adviser to any area of
business or business development of the Group, but
exclude any placing agent or financial adviser providing
advisory services for fundraising, mergers or acquisitions,
and other professional services provider such as auditor
or valuer.
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(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Subscription price

The subscription price shall be determined by the
Board at its absolute discretion, provided that it shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Shares as shown in the daily quotations sheet of
the Stock Exchange on the offer date, which must be
a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of
the shares as shown in the daily quotations sheets of
the Stock Exchange for the five (5) consecutive business
days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the
nominal value of the share on the offer date.

Time of exercise of options

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period
as the Board may determine which shall not exceed 10
years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of
early termination thereof.

Grant of options

An offer for the grant of options shall remain open for
acceptance for a period of twenty-one days, including the
day in which the offer was made. The amount payable by
the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance
of the offer for the grant of the option is HK$1.0.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

(i)  The total number of shares which may be issued in
respect of all options which may be granted at any
time under the Share Option Scheme together with
options and awards which may be granted under
any other share schemes for the time being of the
Company shall not exceed such number of shares
as equals to 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of the adoption of the
Share Option Scheme (“Adoption Date”). Unless
Shareholders’ approval has been obtained pursuant
to sub-paragraphs (iii) and (iv) below, options lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme will not be regarded as utilised for the
purpose of calculating the scheme mandate limit
and the service provider sublimit.
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(iii)

(iv)
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The total number of shares which may be issued in
respect of all options which may be granted at any
time under the Share Option Scheme together with
options and awards which may be granted under
any other share schemes for the time being of the
Company to service providers shall not exceed such
number of shares as equals to 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at Adoption Date.

The Company may seek approval of the
shareholders in general meeting to refresh the
scheme mandate limit and/or the service provider
sublimit under the Share Option Scheme after three
(3) years from the Adoption Date (or the date of
Shareholders’ approval for the last refreshment),
provided that the limit so refreshed must not
exceed 10% of the relevant class of shares in issue
as at the date of passing the relevant resolution.

The Company may also seek separate approval of
the shareholders in general meeting for granting
options beyond the scheme mandate limit provided
that the options in excess of the scheme mandate
[imit are granted only to eligible participants
specifically identified by the Company before such
approval is sought. For the purpose of seeking
approval of shareholders under this sub-paragraph
(iv), the Company must send a circular to the
shareholders containing a generic description of the
specified eligible participants who may be granted
such options, the number and terms of options to
be granted, the purpose of granting options to the
specified eligible participants with an explanation as
to how the terms of the options serve such purpose
and such other information as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

(iii)
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Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
the exercise of the options and awards granted to each
participant under the Share Option Scheme or any other
option schemes of the Company in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue, unless approved by the Shareholders
in the manner stipulated in the Share Option Scheme.

Duration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall continue in force for the
period commencing from the Adoption Date, and expiring
at the close of business on the date which falls ten (10)
years after the Adoption Date.

Termination of the Share Option Scheme

The Company by ordinary resolution in general meeting
may at any time terminate the operation of the Share
Option Scheme and in such event no further options will
be offered but in all other respects the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme shall remain in force to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted but not yet exercised prior thereto or otherwise
as may be required in accordance with the provisions
of the Share Option Scheme and options granted prior
to such termination shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.

Since the Adoption Date and up to date of this annual report,
no share options have been granted pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme. Details of share granted under the Old Share
Option Scheme are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statement of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

The Directors and the controlling shareholders of the Company
have confirmed that for the year ended 31 December 2024
and up to the date of this annual report, none of the Directors,
controlling Shareholders or any of their respective close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) engaged
in any businesses that compete or may compete with the
business of the Group, or had any other conflict of interest
with the Group.

On 24 November 2017, each of Mr. Wong Kwok Wai,
Albert and Three Gates Investment, being the controlling
Shareholders, entered into a non-competition undertaking
in favour of the Company, details of which were set out
in the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders — Non-competition Undertaking” in the
Prospectus. Such undertakings have been fully complied with
and enforced during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up
to the date of this annual report.

The Board confirms that as at the date of this annual report,
no other matters are required to be brought to the attention of
the Shareholders and the potential investors.

Further, the independent non-executive Directors confirm that
they have reviewed the enforcement of such undertakings and
conclude that there are no outstanding issues regarding the
undertakings that need to be raised with the Shareholders and
the Company.
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SANCTIONS UNDERTAKING

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company provided an
undertaking to the Stock Exchange that it would not use the
proceeds from the Share Offer or any funds raised through the
Stock Exchange to finance or facilitate, directly or indirectly,
activities or business with, or for the benefit of, countries
that are sanctions under international sanction laws, or any
sanctioned government, entity or individual.

To ensure its compliance with this undertaking and to further
enhance its risk management, the Group will continue to
evaluate any business opportunities with those countries
sanctioned under international sanction laws and will have
delegated members of the senior management of the
Company review the transaction documents from customers
or potential customers from countries sanctioned under
international sanctions laws.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the Group's related party transactions are set out in
Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Directors confirm that during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this annual report, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
complied with the minimum public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2024

As disclosed in Note 43 in this annual report, the disposal of
Strat Tech Group is completed on 27 January 2025.
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AUDITOR

Asian Alliance was appointed as the auditor of the Company.
A resolution for the reappointment of Asian Alliance as the
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Harbour Equine Holdings Limited
Wong Kwok Wai, Albert
Chairman, chief executive officer and executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
T8 37 1% B ED

/Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

AR(BR)ETMERABRAF

To the Shareholders of Harbour Equine Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Harbour Equine Holdings Limited (the “"Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 76 to 269, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred loss
attributable to the owners of the Company of approximately
HK$37,011,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
as of that date, the Group has net liabilities of approximately
of HK$15,199,000. Even though the Group's current assets
marginally exceeded its current liabilities by approximately
HK$232,000, the Group incurred loss consecutively for
several years and its cash and cash equivalents amounted to
approximately HK$3,784,000 only. These conditions, along
with other matters as set forth in Note 3.1 to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. Qur opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BREZXEE

Impairment of trade receivables and contract
assets

EUXEREREGNEERE

AREZEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEHEBERTEEBREREENS X

We identified impairment assessment of trade
receivables and contract assets as a key audit
matter due to the significance of trade receivables
and contract assets to the Group's consolidated
financial position and the involvement of subjective
judgement and management estimates in evaluating
the expected credit losses (“ECL") under HKFRS 9
of the Group's trade receivables and contract assets
at the end of the reporting period.
EEBRRRXGRERANEERETHHANB
FREZFE DTHRERIXIRELGHNEE
# EXEENGAMBERABRRER U PRBRE
EEMBREEABORETH EXENKREH
ANERZGREREGNEENTEHREEER(E
HEEBFEBDZTBAGRERBE MG -

As disclosed in Notes 26 and 27 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’'s net trade
receivables and contract assets amounting to
approximately HK$10,985,000 and HK$7,249,000,
respectively, have been net off with ECL amounted
to approximately HK$179,000 and HK$58,000 as at
31 December 2024, respectively.

HG AT RERM 2627 EE - R=_F =1
F+_A=+—H EBEEEERIFIRNEBEIFEK
EHEE D B4 /10,985,000 JT 17,249,000
T BEMKRBEEEEEED 179,000 T &
58,0007 7T °

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of trade receivables and contract assets included:
EERERRGRBERENEERBENGAETZ
BreiE:

° Evaluating the independent valuer’s
competence, capabilities and their experiences
in conducting valuation of ECL;

e HIEBUFEMEEHNEESBEAETHAED
BE gAML RH:

° Understanding key controls on how the
management estimates the credit loss
allowance for trade receivables and contract
assets;

. THEHEEBNNMAETERRZREBREH
EECEBEREBE B EHE®R:

° Testing the integrity of information used by
management to develop the provision matrix,
including trade receivables and contract assets
ageing analysis as at 31 December 2024, on
a sample basis, by comparing individual items
in the analysis with the relevant sales invoices
and other supporting documents;

e MEANEBRENETREBEEEMAEN(RE
RZEBEZMFE+ZA=T—HNEKX S HE
RERNEERRIMBOAIERE  AERK
SR e & R T8 B AR RE i B B K H b 8 B
XHEMEE LR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)
HREXSE(E)

Impairment of trade receivables and contract
assets (Continued)

BUEXZRERENEEREE)

HEEXEEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(Continued)
EEEBERTREERREXSENS £ (E)

As disclosed in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group estimates
the amount of ECL of trade receivables and contract
assets based on provision matrix through grouping
of various debtors that have similar loss patterns,
after considering internal credit ratings of debtors,
ageing, repayment history and/or past due status
of respective trade receivables and contract
assets. Estimated loss rates are based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of
the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information. In addition, trade receivables and
contract assets that are credit-impaired are assessed
for ECL individually. The loss allowance amount of
the credit-impaired trade receivables and contract
assets are measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows with the consideration
of expected future credit losses.
HNEGEEVBMREAIHER BESEHEEE
KERBEBANANIEETR SERXIHRER
EHNEENERER BXREL R SAEEKR  RIE
KARUBERRANEEBADEEGSHOBEE
AU RSRBEREGNEENTEREEERES
BB EBEENDERBEBARMFEFHRABREME
MESENE  WHATEMEERIELAE o Lo -
HEREEERENERRIRERENEETIIRER
EEBEBEETEMNFTG HREERENEKRZS
RERGHNEENEEREGeEREEREESR
KEBRBRHAREEEENGBFRREERER
BzHEONEETZ -

Challenging management’s basis and
judgement in determining credit loss
allowance on trade receivables and contract
assets as at 31 December 2024, including
their identification of significant balances
and credit-impaired receivables and, the
reasonableness of management’'s grouping of
the remaining debtors into different categories
in the provision matrix, and the basis of
estimated loss rates applied in each category in
the provision matrix (with reference to historical
default rates and forward-looking information);
EnEtEEEr-_T_WNF+-_A=+—HE
WRZXGRERGHNEEGEERBEZER
RAE BEESHEAREAREREER
BENEKFEZH#HR EEEERTEBAD
FEREDPETREN BN AR
BERSESPREREHEMLTEEER(RZEERL
BHRRAEEER MERE:

Evaluating the disclosures regarding the
impairment assessment of trade receivables
and contract assets in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements; and
TR EMBEHmEMIICMABEAERRIZS
REREHNEERBETHNRE &

Reviewing subsequent settlements of
significant balances of trade receivables
and contract assets, on a sample basis, by
inspecting supporting documents in relation to
cash receipt from debtors subsequent to the
end of the current reporting period.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)
BEREXZSEE)
Impairment of other receivables

H th F& WK TH R (E

EAREZEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEHEBERTEERREERSENSG E

We identified impairment assessment of other
receivables as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, combined with
management’s estimation in measuring the ECL
under ECL model as stipulated in HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” ("HKFRS 9”).
EEBNNHEMBERRBZ REMNGESBRET
FEH NEREBRBEAVBEGRRTEHZ2EEMN - U
NEBEREABNKRESLENFIRIeMIAITE
BUBRELERBIOR AR ERBERACEEEE
BEXRARGERREEERE 2MHE -

As disclosed in Note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group's net other receivables
amounting to approximately HK$1,474,000 have been
net off with ECL on other receivables amounted to
approximately HK$48,000 as at 31 December 2024.
WM EM B REMF2MER RZTWF
TZA=+T—H X EBE£EHMEKREBEIFENAR
1,474,000 7T - BEEMBREMEKRKRIENTEHEE
&5 18 4748,000/8 7T °

Management performed periodic assessment on
the recoverability of the other receivables and the
sufficiency of impairment loss allowance based on
information including credit profile of the debtors,
historical settlement records, subsequent settlement
status, ageing of the other receivables and expected
timing and amount of realisation of outstanding
balances.

ERBERBEBRANGERR BLEEIH A
BEENRRE  EMERFRENERRERZER RENE
EREVTE EA RS A X & B 5 8 KL E B AT i H fb 8 W R IE
EEABERBEEERESETRRE

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of other receivables included:

EEREMERRAREFGEMETIEFEHE:

° Evaluating the independent valuer's
competence, capabilities and their experiences
in conducting valuation of ECL;

e IMBUMFEMYEBNEESEETHED
BEE gAML E

° Understanding key controls on how the
management estimates the credit loss
allowance for other receivables;

e THEHEREEBNMMMGGAHMEKKXIARGE
B 1B R BB IR R

° Reviewing the reasonableness of
management’'s estimation in expected
timing of collection and the credit quality of
individual debtors, including the background
of the debtors and their credit worthiness and
collection history;

. R BIEEMGENGEHEAKRKESRREHRK
FEEEZNaEYL BEBEBEASERHEEE
R E L
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) ERELSEIEE)

Key audit matter (Continued)

HREZER(A)

Impairment of other receivables (Continued) How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(Continued)

H fh FE W R TE R E () EEEERTREFBRERBENS X (E)

Management also considered forward-looking e Evaluating the disclosures regarding the

information that may impact the ability of the impairment assessment of other receivables
debtors to repay the outstanding balances in order in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
to estimate the expected credit losses for the statements;

impairment assessment. e AU MRMN EI6AHTE A BEE 4 E K
ERENERARETEBBRACBERENERES SRIE R (B BT 8RR

WATIEMER - LG RETHNEHREEEE -

o Checking the accuracy of the ageing
classification of the other receivables balances
on a sample basis; and

e HIBZEHMEWFIEE R DRI ERL
K&

° Reviewing subsequent settlements of
significant balances of other receivables, on
a sample basis, by inspecting supporting
documents in relations to cash receipt from
debtors subsequent to the end of the current
reporting period.

e FHEBRBEAREHMEEREHLBEEBA
ZHEEWRBEBOERXXM MR H g
WHIBHE KERNBEREE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)
BEREXZSEE)
Impairment assessing of goodwiill

BERERNR

EAREZEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEHEBERTEERREERSENSG E

The Group has goodwill with carrying amount of
approximately HK$6,683,000 as at 31 December
2024, which is allocated to the CGU represented
by interior design and decoration business. In
determining the recoverable amounts of goodwill,
the Group engaged an independent professional
valuer to perform such valuation. The valuation is
determined based on the value-in-use model for
the CGU discounted to their present values and
it requires the use of key assumptions, including
the discount rate, terminal growth rate, budgeted
revenue and gross margin, taking into account the
financial budgets approved by the directors of the
Company based on the management’s experience
from interior design and decorations business, and
also management’'s expectations for the market
development. During the year ended 31 December
2024, no impairment loss had been recognised on
goodwill.

EEEHE_ZT-_NF+ZA=T—ANBEEER®
B %) #6,683,000/% 7T © 2 B %4 LA = A &% &5 7 & &
EBARKRNBCELENL -ERTEHENATRE
SR SEEEFEVEXEGEMETZMGE -
HERBRERSELEMNNBIBRENFRAEER

TN EFERMABRARE  RHEREX-
BERAMEMNETEANBERESR LEE AR

AEEREEEBEEEARFMEMHEHL TEOHLE
BAUAENMBREE  UREEBHMSEROBE -
BHE_Z_MF+_A=+—HBLFE HE}S
BREDREESE -

We identified the impairment assessment of
goodwill as a key audit matter due to its complexity
and the inherent subjectivity arising from the
significant management judgement.
HREENEREUREEEERAHELENESR
FHYE EEEEENRETERERAEREERS
I8 o

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of the carrying amount of goodwill included, but
were not limited to:
EEYEERAEETRENHEENEFEIEE
PR A -

Understand the Group's impairment assessment
process, including the impairment model performed
by the independent qualified valuer, basis of
allocation of goodwill to the CGU, the preparation of
the Cashflow Forecast and key assumptions adopted
in this Cashflow Forecast through enquiries with
the independent valuer and management'’s review
process of the work of the independent valuer with
respect to the valuation of CGU;

TR BEEEMNBENGEE BEBYARMGE
ATHRERE MREELBELIEHENE

BoBRBEBUMEBEMNARMMEREHBIMEE
B RE A TEMEEBRE  RERSREBRAME
EREFRNFRANERKRR:

o Evaluating the independent valuer's
competence, capabilities and their experiences
in conducting valuation of similar business;

e HMEBUMEMHBURBETEHEENER
NS T .

BE &%&%ﬁi g

° Checking the respective independent valuation
reports and discussing the valuation of
the carrying amount of goodwill with the
management;

e EHEABBUMERS VHEFEEISREE
FEENHE:
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) ERELSEIEE)

Key audit matter (Continued)

HREZER(A)

Impairment assessing of goodwill (Continued) How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(Continued)

BEEERNR (&) EEEERTREFBRERBENS X (E)

The significant judgements and estimates and e Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation

related disclosures on goodwill are included in Note models, the preparation of the Cashflow
21 to the consolidated financial statements. Forecast and assumptions based on the
FEBENEXRHAGNGEARBAREA N A Y industry knowledge;

M EE21 - e HAEMEEANEZE BRETEAZGRH

BenERBMERE:

° Evaluating the appropriateness of the
key inputs in the Cashflow Forecast by
independently checking to the relevant external
market data and/or relevant historical financial
information including budgeted revenue and
gross margin, and terminal growth rate by
considering the approved financial budgets and
the available industry and market data;

e BAPBUKRSHBINBHSEIER SIEH
FELMBES BEBERAMENE UK
EEM AN BEBEEMATANITENT S H
BORBERE AHReRERAIFEERE
ABEBEHEE M

° Comparing the historical cash flows forecast
against the performance of CGU to test the
reasonableness of projections; and Comparing
the historical cash flows forecast against the
performance of CGU to test the reasonableness
of projections; and

e KELBEREVEANRRSGELEUNER
ETEE LAFHBANGENE: REELE
ERERAERSELEUNERETHER
AR TER M & &

o Checking the mathematical accuracy of
valuation calculations.

e REMBEMENHBERENE-
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are
responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

Bz BE ¥ ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Directors.

RBAMHERFESVBBRRNEM

EEZEARRAERTER LEAMK R
REAANFEHERKFRERMER 2
EARERBIZREBEEEERZK
HMBE ESERREMNETABE
MEZEGERR BTUESER HRS K
i AR EFHEEBLAEN  FEETE
%$ﬁizmwﬁﬁﬂﬁ@Aiﬁi%%
BEFNEE - BRI B KFOHRR
B3 T R & ﬁﬁ%%%ﬁﬁWﬁFM%
REEBRAMEFENEARERL - X
ERAATERRFRERMEL - HE R
EERHAERASEFHH ‘@@%
FREZE ?éﬁ%&%ﬁﬁmmﬁﬁ
AR BERKRERL

ERBEEBETLENETERZN -5 -
£ME§$@E¢@%£%M%&&#§
%rm ﬁgﬁ =

e HBEFHEERFHERTEHN
FAMBBRERNKRERANER
RALRBTERZSTRABRNEZRE
FriZBMARSREHLSE FH
EARHEMNERRE - K%ER
lmﬁﬁ%ﬁméﬁ%ﬂﬁ mﬂ

%T ﬁ&%L %L &5$¢
ﬁ FE R PR At = ¥ BB P AF 4% )

e HMEZBZHEBOARNMIZH AR
AAERBBATEENEREFF
BYIFRY HKEMRBIESKX
BREBR-

s HEEFMRAMNSHHEERRELS
BEMELO S G MEREEE

EIT/\EEO
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Lam Chik Tong

Practising Certificate Number: P08346

8/F., Catic Plaza
8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meBEm kEMEERAR

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

" For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_FT - F+ A=+ —HIFZF
2024 2023
—E-NE —ZF==
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B it FTER FHET
Revenue W &5 5 68,581 69,059
Direct cost HERAR (69,305) (72,359)
Gross loss Ei8 (724) (3,300)
Other income, gains and losses, net  Efth Ut A ~ 1 55 N B9 18
gl 7 (13,606) (8,984)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (2,006) (3,317)
Administrative expenses THAX (13,948) (21,495)
Reversal of impairment loss BHEEEBEBEXATRE
(impairment losses) under expected  EiE8 & E OREEE)
credit loss model, net of reversal B B O 8 (3,662)
Impairment losses of property, plant ¥ ¥ - BiE R R EZ HE
and equipment &5 18 18 - (799)
Impairment losses on intangible asset & 2 & &= i B /& 18 (3,788) s
Finance costs A& B AR 9 (3,540) (5,010)
Loss before tax bR BRI 1B (37,459) (46,567)
Income tax credit (expense) FrissiEe (HER) 10 448 (258)
Loss for the year FAEE 12 (37,011) (46,825)
Other comprehensive income Htt2HEK A (FX)
(expense)
Items that may be reclassified KA & B[] ] gt % 77 38
subsequently to profit or l0ss: FEZMIER -
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINEBHER
translation of foreign operations =% (1,715)
Other comprehensive income 2HEHMEEKA
(expense) for the year, (A% ek
net of income tax Frig it (1,715)
Total comprehensive expenses 2FELHBEAXBE
for the year (48,540)
Attributable to KAREEBAEA
owners of the Company (34,587) (48,540)
Loss per share BRER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) E AR #E B) 17 (11.44)



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

NN RN

At 31 December 2024 WR_-_ZE-WME+—-HA=4+—H

Notes
B 77

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BERE 18
Investment properties wEYE 19
Right-of-use assets FREEE 20
Goodwill [ 21
Intangible assets mEEE 22
Biological assets EYEE 23
Financial asset at fair value BEARBEFABER

through profit or loss ([BRAAEBEFAE

("FVTPL") #)HEeRMEE 24
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 25
Biological assets YA E 23
Trade receivables B R 5 IE 26
Contract assets EHEE 27
Deposit and other receivables e & E e R R 26
Cash and cash equivalents BehkREEEY 28
Tax recoverable Al Uk [ B 1E
Assets classified as held for sales SEAFELHENEE 11
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables FERT R 5 5 IE 29
Other payables and accruals HAth FE AT 3R TE & FE AT

M 29

Borrowings &% 30
Lease liabilities HEBE 31
Tax payables FE T 18
Liabilities associated with assets NEARBELHEEEMR

classified as held for sale BHaE 17
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEE(EE)

(LIABILITIES) FE

2024
—E-MIF
HK$°000
FERT

2,150
482
10,985
7,249
2,136
3,784
293

27,079
6,478

33,557

6,721
9,632

393
272

17,018

16,307

33,325

2023

HK$'000
TET

4,544
4,300
1,385
6,683
3,788
5,864

5,226

31,790

5,780
9,550
7595
7,755
12,175
4,123
561

47539
47,539

12,857

9,399
33,445
1,046
1,323

58,070

58,070

(10,631)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e B R(E)

" At 31 December2024 R-ZFE-WF+=H=4+—H

2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
okz3 THE T FTHET
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHBERARBAR
LIABILITIES 21,259
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBARE
Borrowings EEN 30 22,610 —
Lease liabilities HEARE 31 265 896
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIBEEE 34 1 677
Retirement benefit obligations BRAREBHEMR 40 146 298
23,022 1,871
NET (LIABILITIES) ASSETS (BE)EEZFHE (15,199) 19,388
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR#E
Share capital f& 32 20,457 20,457
Reserves & 1 (35,656) (1,069)
TOTAL (DEFICIT) EQUITY S (Es)AE (15,199) 19,388

The consolidated financial statements on pages 76 to 269 $76H £ F269B Y &AM BHRERD N =
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of “hFEZA-t+\BEEZTeHERR
Directors on 28 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: HEMG THTIINEESR

Wong Kwok Wai, Albert Leung King Yue, Alex

=HEE R
Director Director
EF EZE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

—H= N/
/ 3 $ / ~ II\I:III\ EE
X

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

Share Share Merger Share option ~ Statutory ~ Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
ke RGEE  AHEE BRERE  iEEE  ENRE ZitER it
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
T TR T T TR T T Thr
o fa) — MNote3s) — (Note (b)
(ie)  WEn) (e
At 1 January 2023 i St 2
-B-H 20,457 130,674 (1,000 4,942 5,670 6,911 99,726) 67928
Loss for the year EnER - - - = = = (46,825 (46,825
Other comprehensive expense for the 2 FE M2 ERL
year, net of income tax BARAER
tems that may be reclassified REGEETE
subsequently o profit or loss: g ﬁfi]‘ BZEzH
Exchange differences arising on ?ﬁﬁ@?\#ﬁﬁ’]
translation of foreign operations EAZE - - - - - (1,715) - (1,715
Total comprehensive expense PERERTAE
for the year - - - - - (1,719) (46,825) (48,540)

At 31 December 2023 and et g
1 January 2024 =t-Bk
ZZomE
-f-A
Loss for the year EREE
Other comprehensive expense for the 2 FEH2ARR
year, net of income tax BHBHER
Jtems that may be reclassified REGEET#
subsequently o profit or 1oss: EffFBZERN
EE:

Exchange differences arising on REBNERR
translation of foreign operations EXEE

Total comprehensive expenses PERARLEE
for the year

Lapse of equity-settled share option ~ JER £ E B R

At 31 December 2024 RZE-RE
tZB=t1-H 20457

130,674

130,674

(1,000}

(3,611)

(1,000 1331 5,670

(146,551)

(37.011)

(37.011)

(179,951)

19,388

(37011)

(34,587)

(15,199)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

[\\/ A

—H— \N 7/
/ ~ II\EIII\

goxR(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_ZF - WF+ A=+ —HIFZE

Notes:

(a)

The merger reserve represented the difference between the Company’s
shares of the nominal value of the paid-up capital of the subsidiaries
acquired and the Company’s cost of acquisition of the subsidiaries under
common control upon the reorganisation undergone by the Group.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"), the companies registered in the PRC shall appropriate
a certain percentage of their net profit after tax (after offsetting any
prior years' losses) calculated under the accounting principles generally
applicable to the PRC enterprises to the reserve fund. When the balance
of this reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity's capital, any further
appropriation is optional. The statutory surplus reserve can be utilised
to offset prior years' losses or to increase capital. However, the balance
of the statutory surplus reserve must be maintained at a minimum of
25% of the capital after these usages. After making the appropriation to
the statutory surplus reserve, the companies may also appropriate their
profits for the year to the discretionary surplus reserve upon approval by
the board of directors or the shareholders in a general meeting.

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT
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EHEBEIEASEETERR  ARFEK
BHEBARSRERANHEERARTRBR K
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BEMWARASRETECXERBERN
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EeWEREEREAR0RR @ AIATRBERE
EEBEFNEMNE-—SBER - EZTRBREE
ARAREEAEFEERNKIEE - A - £
BOETRBHRBERRVAETEELD
25% ° [FEE BB EBELERE  RERA
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

eRERER

/\\/ \

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax

Adjustments for:

Finance costs

Financial guarantee service income

Interest income

Remeasurement of defined benefit
pension plans

Fair value gains on financial asset
at FVTPL

Fair value losses on investment properties

Fair value (gain) loss on biological assets

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Gain on termination of lease contract

(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment

Loss on written-off of property,
plant and equipment

Written-off of trade receivables

Written-off of other receivables

Impairment losses of property, plant and
equipment

(Reversal of impairment loss) impairment

losses under expected credit loss model,

net
Impairment losses on intangible asset
Written-down of inventories
Loss on disposal of biological assets

2024
= =33
HK$’000

TERT

RETEE
b %1 A1 /&5 18 (37,459)
EE
B & AN
B 75 P& (R BR 75 U A
B A
EHMAERTENE
& &
BEAREFAEBERZZ
TREEMNALEWRZE
REMEAAREBEEIE
EYEEARE
(Wz=) B8
ME BMEERZETE

Ke

ERABEENE
RIEBEADHZW S
HEWE BERREZ
(W zt) &5 18
WMEME - BFE KK
& 18
M%EWX%M
85 L FE U 5K
%¥~@%&%
BB
BEHMEEBRRLEAT
Rt B B 18 B ) R &
B 183 8
BEERMEBEER
MR F &'
HEEMEENEE

RHEZ

ﬁﬁ

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FHE T

(46,567)

5,010
(54)
(152)
270

(45)
200

175

799

3,662

1,380
680
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
melRensak(E

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2024 & Z_-ZF _—WF+-H=+—HIFFEZF

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHET

Operating cash flows before movements 2 EE B BHHLERSE

in working capital RE (15,285) (22,609)
Decrease in inventories FERD 1,944 1,851
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables FE W 22 5 5118 (38 an) w4 (3,777) 8,741
Decrease in deposit and other receivables e & H Mg R IE R D 611 5,051
Decrease in trade payables &S X 5 F A R D (4,164) (10,497)
Increase in other payables and accruals EMmEMNREREER

2 10,024 1,536
Decrease (increase) in contract assets aHEER LD (BN 524 (5,273)
Decrease in biological assets EMEER D 8,942 26,854
Cash (used in) generated from operations Z& (FTA)FTBR & (1,181) 5,654
Income taxes refunded BEAFBH 87 1,023

NET CASH (USE IN) FROM OPERATING KETEH(MAAMBR:E

ACTIVITIES H 6,677
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETH
Proceeds from sale of biological assets HEEMEEMBRE 4,340
Interest received 2R & 152
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWE BELRRKEMSE

and equipment RIE 183
Proceeds from disposal of investment HEREYEMESRE

properties oy
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B EWE BMEKLK (241)
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZBHFERESFHE 4,434
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIF&E

2024
—ENE
HK$°000
FTHEx
FINANCING ACTIVITIES METE

New borrowings raised FEEK 11,339
Repayment of borrowings EEME K (15,780)
Interest paid B B (3,443)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEAaRE (941)
Advance from (repayments to) directors EEZRR(MEFENR 1,303

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING METHAARE TR

ACTIVITIES

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND B2 RBELZEY R L)
CASH EQUIVALENTS 0 E 58

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FHRERAESEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE ERSENE
CHANGES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND S XRE2RBEEZEY
OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BY BANK URITESHRESARR
BALANCES AND CASH

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BeRESEEY
AT 31 DECEMBER, represented by: R+=ZA=+—RH"
ATEEBAREK:
Bank balances and cash RITEBLRRS
Bank balance and cash included in assets AN BEABELREEER
classified as held for sales RITHEB LIRS

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FHE T

25,453
(23,999)
(5,767)
(1,663)
(1,445)

(7421)

3,690

2,166

(1,733)

4,123

4,123

4,123
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Harbour Equine Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman lIslands under the Companies
Law (as revised) of the Cayman lIslands on 18 August
2016. The registered office address of the Company is
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company.
During the year, the Company’'s subsidiaries were
principally engaged in the manufacture and selling of
high performance sewing threads and broad categories
of garment accessories, provision of interior design,
interior decorating and furnishing services, trading
of bloodstocks, stallion services and equine handling
services and provision of advisory on securities,
corporate financial advisory services and asset
management services.

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
Dollars ("HK$"), which is also the presentation currency
of Company.

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e BB RMEE (8

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on 1 January
2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and related amendments
to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group's
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

R REIETBEEMBERE

RIS R

REAFERFHERZERUBRSE

ZRETEAEIT A

RAFEE AEERHEGEEVHRE
RERERE-_T_HNF—A—BH
MZEREHHEBHERNTINEE
S ((BEREMAE])HMA
MEEMBREEA G ERER

7N -

EEMBREENE ERELDMHNEE
CEACEEN; BE
BEREGHENFE R HEEIEAR

CHEN) ek E R B
12 555 19 41
BT (=%
—EF)
EAGHELNFIR MHERLHOER
(B RTA) BAE
BEEGHEAEIRE HERRE

REEAGRELE gl
BIE75% (B 7T AX)

BRIXHEN EXFERAE
BMBREENGTERNERT A
HAEBAFERBEFENMB
RARKER R ZSGEANH
BEMENTBELEBERTE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(Continued)

2.1

Impacts on application of Amendments
to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related

amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation

5 (2020) (the “2020 amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first

time in the current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to
defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as

current or non-current, which:

specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on
rights that are in existence at the end of the
reporting period. Specifically, the classification
should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability
within 12 months.

clarify that the settlement of a liability can
be a transfer of cash, goods or services, or
the entity’s own equity instruments to the
counterparty. If a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately
as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR A% R M R (A8

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

FERSET RGBT BERM B RS
ERE R (E)

2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments 21 EREEBESERFEH (15T

to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities

as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the “2020 amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

X)EETERRERFETE
Rz #H ?)ﬁiﬁf?%?%ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ/l/if
(CE-FF)(-F-FF#EF
KREBEEEE ﬁ/%h/ﬁf(ﬂk
TR MERENHFREEE (=
SR ERIA N E (E)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve HRBEEREAHBEES
months from reporting date which are conditional D@ AR ER (A BT RE
on the compliance with covenants, the 2022 REMN) T _FEITRE
Amendments specifically clarify that only covenants FIEE BERARNBEBRK
that an entity is required to comply with on or LHBTHNRB IS EERE
before the end of the reporting period affect the BEEEENRNREAHRBREL

entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability
for at least twelve months after the reporting

7
=

EL+-@EAMER - BIER
FEHETIBERER RS BHE

date, even if compliance with the covenant is e T ZF BRI
assessed only after the reporting date. The 2022 B ERAREEBHENAEE

Amendments also specify that covenants with THRBEDRKREZRE) g%
which an entity must comply after the reporting BEEERNBREARIEARDY
date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect the S IETRE) o R WE R TE

classification of a liability as current or non-current
at the reporting date. However, if the entity's
right to defer settlement of a liability is subject
to the entity complying with covenants within
twelve months after the reporting period, an entity
discloses information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk of the liabilities
becoming repayable within twelve months after the
reporting period. This would include information
about the covenants, the carrying amount of related
liabilities and facts and circumstances, if any,
that indicate that the entity may have difficulties
complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the
Group has applied the new accounting policy to the
classification of liability as current or non-current
retrospectively. The application of the amendments
in the current year had no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

BEAEMNENZBREER
RMEHE T -_@EARNEBTRE
Rl ERE AR EE R AE B R
EMNERENTHRZEZAER
RERABRT—_BAAREEED
Bk - ZEERBBELE
ﬁ@ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ»&%%?

BRENETRENETER
E/R(ﬁuﬁ>

REBEBEG NEECHEH
SRR EPEARKEED
BRARDAFERD - RAFE
FERZFETHEAMBRE
VWEBAZE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2.

88
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W N

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the
and HKFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of
and HKAS 28 Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements
to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 113

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements*
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without

Public Accountability
Disclosures*

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e BB RMEE (8

For the year ended 31 December 2024

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards mentioned below, the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace
HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. This new
HKFRS Accounting Standards, while carrying forward
many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new
requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide
disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and
improve aggregation and disaggregation of information
to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition,
some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8
and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement
of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also
made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027, with early application permitted. The
application of the new standard is expected to affect
the presentation of the statement of profit or loss and
disclosures in the future financial statements. The
Group is in the process of assessing the detailed impact
of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

2.
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FERFR RAEIERT B EMBRE

Y8R 5t B ()

A s

C 28 i 1B 1o R A Rz #T AT R AR B ET
BRYBRELENS T ER ()

BREEMBRRMAKEITEEM
BHmEERGTEAI XRARES
((EE)DBHERMAEMBHG &
RETEEV B HRE LR S ER
RABEARARTEHEREHTBKREK
EREATE -

BERNBRELENE18RY B KA
2 2R K E

FEEVHHREERESR Y F KA
ZEIRBEHINARBIBRRZ
EHRBEZATE BBKELS
AHEAEVRAFHXZES o MF
ARV REENGHERELT
BEBSFENBIRZZEREN
R SIAFREARBRR 27
FEBRRRAENT  EFBHRERN
AR REEEERAENEENE
VREKEMFEBRETREERD
ERA DR - U BB EFER
FIRETRECBERT B G ER
FSRNBERBUBHME LR ETR -
EREHEUNRIRHAZ RELRE
B & 51 2 R 335 & R & M 5 1F
BT -

BEAEMBREERF 185 L H M E
Al 2B AR+t —HA—H
HCRABZEFERRER XA
HRFPER - ERAFEREREE
BEDZERN2I RN REY K RE
MR AEBEEFBHEENK
BEEBEBRUAEESGEUNB
BERWFHATE -

BBEFZERBRAOT /2024 F 3R

89



90

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance ("CO").

As stated in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred loss attributable to the owners
of the Company of approximately HK$37,011,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at of that
date, the Group has net liabilities of approximately
HK$15,199,000. Even though the Group’'s current
assets marginally exceeded its current liabilities by
approximately HK$232,000, but the Group incurred
loss consecutively for several years and its cash
and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$3,784,000 only. Notwithstanding the above,
the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors
have given careful consideration to the impact of
the current and anticipated future liquidity of the
Group and are satisfied that:

1. Ongoing Support from director: One of the
Directors, Leung King Yue, Alex agreed to
provide a financial support of HK$10,000,000
at any time to meet in full the Group's financial
obligation on or before 31 December 2025.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z _F - F+ A=+ —HIFZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

Restructuring: The Group has undertaken
a comprehensive review of its operational
structure, to aim at improving cash flow
and profitability. These measures include
downsizing or disposing non-profitable
business units, renegotiating supplier
contracts to reduce procurement costs, and
optimizing overhead expenditures.

Revenue-Generating Opportunities: In addition
to cost-cutting measures, the Group will find
revenue-generating initiatives.

Refinancing and Availability of Liquidity
Facilities: The Directors have undergone
ongoing negotiations with financial institutions
to extend or restructure existing credit
facilities. This would provide the Group
with additional liquidity to meet short-term
obligations and continue its operations
without significant disruption. The Directors
are confident in their ability to secure such
extensions or refinancings, particularly given
the Group's established relationships with its
lenders.

Cash Flow Projections and Short-Term
Liquidity: The Group has developed detailed
cash flow projections for the 18-month period
up to 30 June 2026, considering various
scenarios,
estimates and potential delays in receivables.
The Directors have reviewed these projections
and believe that the Group will be able to
generate sufficient cash flow to meet its
operational needs and financial obligations
in the short term. This includes meeting its
working capital requirements and servicing any
outstanding debts.

including conservative revenue
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

6. Management's Experience and Expertise: The
Directors are confident in the management
team’s ability to navigate through the current
financial challenges. The management team
has demonstrated a proven track record of
successfully implementing strategic initiatives,
managing financial constraints, and adapting
to changing market conditions. The Directors
believe that with the current leadership, the
Group will be able to execute its recovery plan
effectively.

Through continuing the abovementioned business
strategies, the Directors believe that the Group
would be able to meet its financial obligations and
fulfill its operational needs while obtaining additional
financing resources in pursuing other businesses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group will
be able to have sufficient working capital to finance
its operations and to meet its financial obligations as
and when they fall due for a period of not less than
the next twelve months from 31 December 2024.
Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
on a going concern basis. The consolidated financial
statements do not include any adjustments that
would result from the failure of the Group to obtain
sufficient future funding. Should the Group be
unable to continue to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to reduce the
carrying amounts of the assets of the Group to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities,
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERWME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBBREREBRRERS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBERER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 EXEHEREN

3.2 Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation mEER%E

The consolidated financial statements incorporate HRAEMBERRBEARARAF K
the financial statements of the Company and AR EKBRQREH R E S
entities controlled by the Company and its MBI HBHRER - EARARBFTAEMN

subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the T EE - BEUS 5 4

Company:

e has power over the investee; e HEREBEHRITEEN:

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns e HFAKREHZM2HEMAE
from its involvement with the investee; and BREEEBAEER:

P4

. has the ability to use its power to affect its e HHENFERAEEINEZE

returns. B R o

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls WMEZEEXBRAB R LM =18
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate Tﬁ“ HEERR  FE-HIALH
that there are changes to one or more of the three ﬁ g AREeEHTMHE
elements of control listed above. EEEHEEHR -

AEBEREFHE AR 25 #
BEMBARGEAEAR IR
REMB ARG EHEERILEA

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the

subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a BRe ABEmME - NERUEK
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year TENHMBE AR ARMX
are included in the consolidated statement of profit EARSEBERGESESB®BE

or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

& MR R M (8

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies in line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
is allocated to each of the Group’'s cash-generating
units (or group of cash-generating units) that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or
any of the cash-generating unit within the group
of cash-generating units, the attributable amount
of goodwill is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the
Group disposes of an operation within the cash-
generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within
a group of cash-generating units), the amount of
goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of
the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of
the cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-
generating units) retained unless the Group can
demonstrate that some other method better reflects
the goodwill associated with the operation disposed
of.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are
classified as held for sale if their carrying amount
will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use. This
condition is regarded as met only when the asset
(or disposal group) is available for immediate sale
in its present condition subject only to terms that
are usual and customary for sales of such asset
(or disposal group) and its sale is highly probable.
Management must be committed to the sale, which
should be expected to qualify for recognition as a
completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e HRERNEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Non-current assets held for sale (Continued)

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the
assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified
as held for sale when the criteria described above
are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain
a non-controlling interest in the relevant subsidiary
after the sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified
as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Control is transfer over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the
Group's performance as the Group performs;

° the Group's performance creates and
enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

° the Group's performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer that is
not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a
receivable represent s the Group's unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time
is required before payment of that consideration is
due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERWME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBBREREBRRERS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBERER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or an
amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to
the same contract are accounted for and presented
on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on
input method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to
the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that
performance obligation, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or
services.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVMBBRFREBRRERS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TR ER ()

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXBFHXER(E)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Combined services of interior designs, interior

decorating and furnishing services

Combined services of interior designs, interior
decorating and furnishing services is recognised
by reference to the stage of completion of the
provision of service at the end of the reporting
period. The progress towards fulfilment of
construction contracts is measured with reference

to contract cost incurred for work performed to

KEEFEHHKE (&)
FAR  FEARERFNR
3% AR 1% & 48 & AR 7%

EARGF EARKERETAR

BERBHESRBEIAREAR
AR AZIREE SRR H#
RGO THERER - ZER
RHETEEZ2RESETK
MTREMBELENEGRKAE -
HEHREERNERMKANE

date. Contract cost that related to provision of BERIAEZAR -

service are expensed as incurred.

Sales of sewing threads

ROKEERARAEE M

Sales of sewing threads recognised when the

Company has transferred to the buyer the BEMNEARRKRLKERER T
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the BEHRER -
goods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e HRERNEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Sales of biological assets

Revenue from sales of biological assets is
recognised at the point in time when control of the
asset is transferred to the customer, i.e., when the
products are collected by the customers.

Stallions service

Service income is recognised at the point in time
when a vet certificate is produced for confirming
that a viable live foal was produced. Service income
is recognised at the amount attributable to the
Group's interests in the stallion.

Biological assets handling services

Service income is recognised when services are
rendered, on an accrual basis or where condition
attached to the relevant agreements and mandates
is in satisfaction of the relevant condition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF rEMBRAERERRERS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBERER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Finance advisory and assets management

The Group provides asset management and advising
on securities to customers. The corporate advisory

3.2 EXEFBEES(E)
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service income is recognised in the accounting 1R IR B B RS 5% 00 1 BUIR B
period in which the underlying services are rendered fELE ) 5 2E R 42 1 FE B AR 7% MY

on a time-proportion basis in accordance with the
terms of the underlying service agreements. Asset
management fee income is charged at a fixed
percentage per month of the net asset value of
the managed accounts under management of the

SHHHEER - EEEEEBW
ABRAEBEEBNERRFH
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Group.
Principal versus agent ZEAANHEHLEA
When another party is involved in providing goods ES—S2HEREFREREE®

or services to a customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for
those goods or services to be provided by the other
party (i.e. the Group is an agent).
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The Group is a principal if it controls the specified MEAEEEETHE®ER

good or service before that good or service is BEBREREPZANET%ZEA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERWME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBBREREBRRERS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBERER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation
is to arrange for the provision of the specified good
or service by another party. In this case, the Group
does not control the specified good or service
provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in
the amount of any fee or commission to which it
expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for
the specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 Leases at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions
of the contract are subsequently changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3.

& B R R MY A ()

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components and the aggregate
stand-alone price of non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associate non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments
on short-term leases are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERWME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BRENBERFERERRERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STHERER (E&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received,

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FEMBRARRERRERS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBRER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

3.2 EXEFBEER &)

Leases (Continued) HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) FrEBEEDBAHBA(E)
Right-of-use assets (Continued) EHESE (&)
Right-of-use assets in which the Group is WMAEEaEREEHESNE

reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date to
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the announcement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e B KRN (8

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BRENBERFERERRERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STHERER (E&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXSHHEER(E)
(Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) FEBELBAHEAN ()
Lease liabilities (Continued) HEEE (&)

The lease payments include: HEFEBIE:

fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
an option to terminate the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
ek E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a
change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market
rent review, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for
as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the
lease liability, less any lease incentive receivable,
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBBRRERERREXRS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBERER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXBFHBEXER(E)
(Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE (&)

The Group as a lessor FEFESHBA
Classification and measurement of leases HER 7RG E

All leases are classified as operating lease. FFEHEAIERERE

Rental income from operating leases is recognised KEHEMNHES R AERBAMR
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term EHRARREREIBRAIE
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred moBEERLELEHERE
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are ERTBREERNAGFARESR
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, ENEAE FEKNAREE
and such costs are recognised as an expense on BARERFIEREAS B

a straight-line basis over the lease term except for BREALERANAENREY
investment properties measured under fair value oo
model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A M ERR W e (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments from
lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it
accounts for the head lease and the sublease as
two separate contracts. The sublease is classified
as operating lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

rEMBRRERERRERS
STBURES (&)

3.2 EXEFBEER (&)

HE (&)
FEEESLHBEAE)
F[AR [E#H B 1% &

BWAIROEER: IRES
BB RELENFEIRAKAY
THAARBEE HHHRER
RO AABEEENAZEHSGE A
REFARMEANBINEENT -

7 HE

EAEERTELOEAR - H
RERERSPHEHEARRMND
BYAHN - 2HESIBEARKE
HE -

S

RERSERNEEEREDNYH
BERK FHERBUIEREE
AN EEGINE)ETZRS
BRXZEBNERER - N B
EHR AN BHENEER
BLEZBEMNBRITEREHNB
B UEHERIAEK
MIFERBRERBEEAREES
HBITHWEREFRBLE - LI
BELKRAFAEZIHFEREHR
TTEHBRE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities
of the Group's operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HKS$)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of
“exchange reserve” (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A M ERR W e (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and
rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants related to that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

For defined retirement benefit plans including the
Long Service Payment (“LSP”) under the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance and others to specify,
the cost of providing benefits is determined using
the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
valuations being carried out at the end of each
annual reporting period. In determining the present
value of the Group’s defined benefit obligations
and the related current service cost and, where
applicable, past service cost, the Group attributes
benefit to periods of service under the plan's
benefit formula. However, if an employee's service
in later years will lead to a materially higher level of
benefit than earlier years, the Group attributes the
benefit on a straight-line basis from:

(@) the date when service by the employee first
leads to benefits under the plan (whether or
not the benefits are conditional on further
service) until

(b)  the date when further service by the employee
will lead to no material amount of further
benefits under the plan, other than from
further salary increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and
losses, the effect of the changes to the asset
ceiling (if applicable) and the return on plan assets
(excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the
consolidated statement of financial position with a
charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive
income in the period in which they occur.
Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive
income is reflected immediately in retained earnings
and will not be reclassified to profit or loss.

Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in
the period of a plan amendment or curtailment and
a gain or loss on settlement is recognised when
settlement occurs. When determining past service
cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, an entity
shall remeasure the net defined benefit liability or
asset using the current fair value of plan assets
and current actuarial assumptions, reflecting the
benefits offered under the plan and the plan assets
before and after the plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement, without considering the effect of
asset ceiling (i.e. the present value of any economic
benefits available in the form of refunds from the
plan or reductions in future contributions to the
plan).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e HmERNEE(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount
rate at the beginning of the period to the net
defined benefit liability or asset. However, if the
Group remeasures the net defined benefit liability
or asset before plan amendment, curtailment or
settlement, the Group determines net interest for
the remainder of the annual reporting period after
the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement
using the benefits offered under the plan and the
plan assets after the plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement and the discount rate used to
remeasure such net defined benefit liability or
asset, taking into account any changes in the net
defined benefit liability or asset during the period
resulting from contributions or benefit payments.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

° service cost (including current service cost,
past service cost, as well as gains and losses
on curtailments and settlements);

o net interest expense or income; and
o remeasurement.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the actual deficit or surplus in the
Group's defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting
from this calculation is limited to the present value
of any economic benefits available in the form
of refunds from the plans or reductions in future
contributions to the plans.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the
employer Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF")
contributions expected to be offset as a deemed
employee contribution towards the LSP obligation
in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is measured on a
net basis. The estimated amount of LSP obligation
is determined after deducting the negative service
cost arising from the accrued benefits (being
projected and attributed to periods of service)
derived from the Group’'s MPF contributions that
have been vested with employees and would be
used to offset the employee’s LSP benefits, which
are deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e HRERNEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBBRERERRERS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBRER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-
term employee benefits are measured at the
present value of the estimated future cash outflows
expected to be made by the Group in respect of
services provided by employees up to the reporting
date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying
amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that another HKFRS requires or
permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments
transactions

Shares/Share options granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured

at the fair value of the equity instruments at the
grant date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments
transactions (Continued)

Shares/Share options granted to employees
(Continued)

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share-
based payments reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of
the number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share-based payments reserve. For share/
share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the shares/share options
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in “share option reserve” will
be transferred to “share capital”. After vesting date,
when the vested share options are later forfeited or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in “share option reserve"” will
be transferred to “accumulated losses”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the
current tax and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit
and at the time of the transaction does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period,
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

to recover
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment property over time, rather than
through sale, except for freehold land, which is
always presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the
tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the lease
liabilities, and the related assets separately. The
Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to
lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilised
and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
ek E(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

REVBBRRERERREARS
STBURES (&)

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXSHHEER(E)
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied the same taxable
entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current
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and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity

respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax BaHETVLS T REBEME
arises from the initial accounting for a business ERIRMBREERAEXLES

HeEtRE -

combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets other than construction in progress
less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets
and subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in profit
or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment
properties under construction are capitalised as part
of the carrying amount of the investment properties
under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal.
A leased property which is recognised as a
right-of-use asset is derecognised if the Group
as intermediate lessor classifies the sublease
as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BENBERFERERRERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TR E R ()
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 EREFHEER(E)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

126

(Continued)
Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and
are initially recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset,
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and
intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at
least annually, and whenever there is an indication
that they may be impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared
with the carrying amount of the relevant cash
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or
the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit or the group of cash-generating units) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or the group of cash-generating units) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Biological assets

Biological assets are measured on initial recognition
and at the end of the reporting period at their fair
value less costs to sell, with any resulting gain or
loss recognised in the profit or loss for the year in
which it arises. Costs to sell are the incremental
costs directly attributable to the disposal of an
asset, mainly transportation cost and excluding
finance costs and income taxes. The fair value
of biological assets is determined based on their
present location and condition and is determined
independently by a professional valuer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances
that are subject to regulatory restrictions that
result in such balances no longer meeting the
definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments rather than for investment
or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented
as short-term borrowings in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect
of the time value of money is material).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_ZF - WF+ A=+ —HIFZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss)
(“FVTPL") are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF rEEBRRGEREREREAS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STHREER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash flows
and selling; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e HRERNEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

REVBBRRENRERRERE
STBURER (&)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 EXREFTBERER (&)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income
if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS
3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that are required to be measured
at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B BEHRERI T (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(a)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost and
debt instruments/receivables subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. For financial instruments
other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A M ERR W e (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(b) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the "“other gains and losses, net”
line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial
assets (including trade receivables, contract assets
and deposits and other receivables and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

& B R R MY A ()

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month
ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets without significant
financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a
significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’'s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument
has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) it has
a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of 'investment grade’ as
per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure
that the criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

140 HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

REVBBRRERERRERE
STBURES (&)

3.2 EXEFBEER (&)

€@ T A (&)

THEEH)
BRBEEENHHEEREI
ST B A 15 Y 2 B E
18 (&)

(i)

EERBBEEA(E)

BEMOWN - H-BEHKT
ARBERPREREE

BEREE: AIAREERR
&FﬁIﬂMZﬁ % B
W%ﬁmMXIEK%ﬁ
M°M—EF%IE
HERBBRIE- %%Aﬁ
HARXD Lﬁmﬂﬁiﬁ
EREMRENRINVREM
RBMREBMRE M
HEAIEEE R MG FEE
AAENENRERER
BN AIZEEHKT
ARHELAGEERRBREE -
W —HEBTANABK
SMBEERNAABERE R
MIERERM - AIRNEH
ARZBAEBIANEESR
BB B -

N E E BB A LA B
EERBRELTEELNN
ZEZ s BIBFTIZ%E
(ﬁum”‘)uﬁﬁ%@ﬁﬁaéﬁ
A MHEEER
wmELM -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(ii)

Definition of default

(iii)

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

3.

142

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(Continued)

(iii) _ Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for

that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

(Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition. For a
lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the ECL is consistent with the
cash flows used in measuring the lease
receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B BEHRERI T (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

/\\/T\

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

(Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes
into consideration the following characteristic
when formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based
on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade and
other receivables and contract assets where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in
that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate
at the end of each reporting period. Specifically:

° For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other gains
and losses, net’ line item as part of the net
foreign exchange gains and losses;

° For financial assets measured at FVTPL
that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other gains
and losses, net’ line item as part of the net
foreign exchange gains and losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises
its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERWME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEMBBREREBRRERS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STBERER (&)

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’'s own equity
instruments is recognised and deducted directly in
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, lease liabilities and borrowings are

subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e BB RMEE (8

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured
initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9; and

° the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised over the guarantee period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A RERWME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEMKBRFREBRRERS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TR ER ()
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXBFHRER(E)
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) R IAE)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) THEERED (&)

Foreign exchange gains and losses S FE 18 75

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a HRUNEAB L ETERS
foreign currency and are measured at amortised HARZRBEKRAFTENSRE

cost at the end of each reporting period, the foreign
exchange gains and losses are determined based
on the amortised cost of the instruments. These
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in

B EBRSRESBRTAN
BEXRAEE RFERLER
ERIEA[E MU s M e 1R
HEHRER -

the ‘Other gains and losses, net’ line item in profit

or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities RIERETHEE

The Group derecognises financial liabilities AEEEREEXEHBER -
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations FHEkERRAERIEERS
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The BEE KRIEERNSHRAG
difference between the carrying amount of the FHEHEENKENREZME
financial liability derecognised and consideration MEBEERERPRER -

paid or payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3.2, the Directors
are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the
Directors have made in the process of applying the
Group's accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern and liquidity

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared by the management on a going concern basis.
The assessment of the going concern assumptions
involves making judgement by the management, at a
particular point of time, about the future outcome of
events or conditions which are inherently uncertain. The
management considers that the Group has ability to
continue as a going concern and the major conditions and
business strategies about the going concern assumptions
are set out in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into a sublease arrangement as
lessor on leasehold land. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting
a major part of the economic life of the leasehold land
and the present value of the minimum lease payments
not amounting to substantially all the fair value of
the leasehold land, that it retains substantially all the
significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
the leasehold land which are leased out and accounts for
the contracts as operating leases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

(a)

Income tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to enterprise income tax
in the People's Republic of China (the “PRC").
Judgement is required in determining the amount
of the provision for taxation and the timing of
payment of the related taxations. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers to be probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Income tax and deferred tax (Continued)

No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the
tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset
mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits
or taxable temporary differences will be available
in the future, which is a key source of estimation
uncertainty. In cases where the actual future taxable
profits generated are less or more than expected,
or change in facts and circumstances which result
in revision of future taxable profits estimation, a
material reversal or further recognition of deferred
tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in
profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal
or further recognition takes place.

Fair value measurement of financial
instruments

As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group's
financial assets amounting to approximately
HK$5,318,000 (2023: HK$5,226,000) are measured
at fair value with fair value being determined based
on an independent valuer and the surrender value
of the policy of the financial assets. Judgement and
estimation are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof.
Changes in assumptions relating to these factors
could result in material adjustments to the fair value
of these instruments. Further details are contained
in Notes 24 and 36(c) to the consolidated financial
statement.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Leases — Estimating the incremental
borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest
rate implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an
incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of
the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
market interest rates) when available and is required
to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets

Trade receivables and contract assets with credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables and contract
assets which are not assessed individually using a
provision matrix. The provision rates are based on
aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors
taking into consideration the Group's historical
default rates and forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes
in the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and
the Group’s trade receivables and contract assets
are disclosed in Notes 26, 27 and 36(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Provision of ECL for other receivables and
deposits

The Group calculates the ECL for other receivables
and deposits by grouping the counterparties with
similar nature under general approach. The provision
rates are based on internal credit rating and taking
into consideration forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs of effort. At every reporting date,
changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and
the Group’'s other receivables and deposits are
disclosed in Notes 26 and 36(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(f)

Fair value measurement of biological assets

The Group’s biological assets are valued at fair
value less costs to sell. The fair value of biological
assets is determined based on either (i) the market-
determined prices as at the end of the reporting
period adjusted with reference to the species, age,
growing condition, costs incurred and expected
yield to reflect differences in characteristics and/
or stages of growth of the horse; or (ii) present
value of expected net cash flows discounted at
a current market-determined rate, when market-
determined prices are unavailable; or (iii) the cost
when appropriate. Whilst the Group considers these
valuations are the best estimates, the worldwide
economic uncertainties and the fluctuation of
capital and stock market have resulted in greater
market volatility and may cause further disruptions
to the Group, which have led to higher degree
of uncertainties in respect of the valuations in
current year. Any change in the estimates may
affect the fair value of the biological assets
significantly. Independent professional valuers and
the management review assumptions and estimates
periodically to identify any significant change in
the fair value of the biological assets. Details of
assumptions used are disclosed in Note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(g)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the
higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of
disposal. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit (or a group of
cash-generating units) and a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or
change in facts and circumstances which results in
downward revision of future cash flows or upward
revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss
or further impairment loss may arise. Furthermore,
the estimated cash flows and discount rate are
subject to change due to ongoing uncertain
macroeconomic environment.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount
of goodwill is approximately HK$6,683,000
(2023: HK$6,683,000) (net of accumulated
impairment of approximately HK$12,103,000
(2023: HK$12,103,000)). Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in Note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(h)

Estimated impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
assessed for impairment annually. In determining
whether intangible assets are impaired, the Group
has to exercise judgement and make estimation,
particularly in assessing whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group
has to exercise judgement and make estimation,
particularly in assessing: (1) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use,
the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (2) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. The Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the
assets belong, including allocation of corporate
assets when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, otherwise recoverable
amount is determined at the smallest group of
cash generating units, for which the relevant
corporate assets have been allocated. Changing
the assumptions and estimates, including the
discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of
intangible assets subject to impairment assessment
were HK$Nil (2023: HK3,788,000), after taking into
account the impairment losses of HK$3,788,000
(2023: HKS$NiIl) in respect of intangible assets that
have been recognised. Details of the impairment of
intangible assets are disclosed in Note 22.
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5.

REVENUE

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

with customers

Types of goods or services:

Manufacture and selling of sewing

threads

Interior decorating and furnishing
services

Interior design services

Equine services

Advising on securities, corporate

EmBIBRBEER:

EAEMHREARRK

AR %5
AR &R
55 AR %

FLREFF m%pﬁé&ﬁ

5.

iy #=
(i)

finance and asset management EEEREE
Total et

Geographical market — location of

wWENE - FFNE

customers
PRC (excluding Hong Kong) FER(TBESRS)
Hong Kong BE
Middle East PR
Mauritius FEEkHr
Australia R
Others Hith
Total st
Timing of revenue recognition: R
Over time Bi& B

At a point in time

P2 — B P B

Total

Mt
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REFFEHNWES
2024 2023
—E-_MEF ZEEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FET
8,035 21,196
51,479 14,092
1,038 2,358
6,519 31,413
1,510 b
68,581 69,059
291 9,550
53,698 24,758
6,937 7408
808 3,345
6,519 23,931
328 67
68,581 69,059
53,501 16,450
15,080 52,609
68,581 69,059



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

4 A

N

B 75 R R My (8B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

5.

REVENUE (Continued) 5. W= (&)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (i) REEFEANWRSE: (&)
with customers (Continued)
2024 2023
—EBopmEF —¥-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FETT
Set out below is the reconciliation TXHEHIKRERFEN
of the revenue from contracts F U 2= B2 9> 2B & RHAT
with customers with the amounts WESHEMNYEE:
disclosed in the segment
information:
Manufacture and selling of sewing ZAELEERBEE
threads
Selling of sewing threads HERAR 21,196
Interior design and decoration EARTRERE
services
Interior decorating and furnishing EREMREARK
services Hlﬁ‘“ 51,479 14,092
Interior design services % AR 7 1,038 2,358
Total st 52,517 16,450
Equine services B R&
Trading of equines [EES 28,173
Equine related services 55 UC 48 B8 AR 7% 3,240
Total et 31,413

Advising on securities, corporate

BES DEBMER

finance and asset management EEEERHER
Corporate financial advisory services 1 2 B 7 &% #9 R 1%
Asset management services BEEERY
Total Wt
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5.

REVENUE (Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Selling of sewing threads

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the sewing threads and payment is
generally due within 30-90 days from delivery.

Combined services of interior designs,
interior decorating and furnishing services

Interior design services, interior decorating and
furnishing services are recognised as a performance
obligation satisfied over time as the Group's
performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date. Revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation
using input method.

The Group's service contracts include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the
design period once certain specified milestones are
reached. The Group requires certain customers to
provide upfront deposits range from 10% to 30%
of total contract sum, when the Group receives a
deposit before design service commences, this
will give rise to contract liabilities at the start
of a contract, until the revenue recognised on
the specific contract exceeds the amount of the
deposit.
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5. REVENUE (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

Equine services

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
completion of trading of bloodstocks, stallion stud’s
services, horse management services and horse
racing, payment is generally due within 30 days
after services provided.

Corporate financial advisory services

Corporate financial advisory services are recognised
as a performance obligation satisfied over time,
payment is generally due within 30 days after
services are provided.

Asset management services

Asset management services include advisory
services and property services. Revenue from
advisory services is recognised over time as the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group. And revenue
from property services is recognised at a point in
time when the services are rendered in accordance
with the contract terms. Payment is generally
received in advance or prompt payment will be
given after services are provided.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

All revenue contracts are for period of one year or
less. As permitted by HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

5. Wz (&)

(ii)

(iii)

BEFEHZBHEREE)

B R

BHETRGERES - BERD -
%E%ﬁ%ﬁ&%%&%%&
BEK MNIRBEAIREM
#1308 A EIE -

EEPBEARE

1 % 75 AR 75 T 2R R BE B
METHEANRE IXBE
BRHEREKIOANDE -

EEEERY

EEEERG OREERRER
MERRH - B REF R K KE
EERAASERENR D - &
7 AR 75 Uk 25 BE B PRI A GR o T 4
ROBR 5 U a5 R AR IR & H IR R R
HREORRMER - —RIE
Al 2 A 3R Bk R AR RS 1R &
B T3 e

TEEEFAEANBRTENEM
MR 5 ERE

FTEWM ANz BRAE— Fk
AR o 3 a0 & 8 BF 1% 3R 4 2 B
FISWATAY . WEEE DI
ERERBHAHZIRZER -
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6.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Information reported to the board of directors of the
Company (the "“Board”), being the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or
provided. No operating segments identified by the
CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

The Group now has four (2023: four) reportable
segments. The segments are managed separately as
each business offers different products and services
and requires different business strategies. The Group
has four reportable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments as follows:

Manufacture and selling of sewing threads

— manufacture and selling of high performance
sewing threads and broad categories of garment
accessories

Interior design and decoration

— provision of interior design, interior decorating,
furnishing services and sales of furnishings

Equine services

— provision of trading of bloodstocks, stallion services
and equine handling services

Advising on securities, corporate finance and
asset management

— provision of advisory on securities, corporate
financial advisory services and asset management
services
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6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue
and results by reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Reportable segment revenue
from external customers
Inter-segment sales

Manufacture
and selling
of sewing
threads

EEES
TEREE
HK$000
TRR
Reseg
GEEEPED S
DRRHE

Reportable segment profit

(loss) (E%) (19,549)
Corporated and PERRAR

unallocated expense A
Group's loss before tax KEERBAER

Interior
design and
decoration

BhRit
R&#
HK$'000
TER

6.

(a) @

AT—EAREDBEAEH

2 & (%)

L EIES

Y s M BB DI

BE-F-NOF+=A=+-—

AIEFE

Equine
services

ELRE

HKS'000
TR

(10,545)

Advising on
securities,
corporate
finance

and asset
management
tEfE
REEER
REER
HKS$'000
TER

Adjustment
and
eliminations

it
HK$'000
TR

ERYY
HKS'000
T

(29,797)

(7,662)

(37459)
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6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)
(a) Segment revenues and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023
Manufacture
and selling Interior

of sewing design and
threads decoration

RS ARG
TERHE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn

6.

re

(a)

Equine
Services

SER%

HK$'000
TiEn

2 & (%)
7 EB U E MR AR ()

BE-_F-_=Fft-A=1-
BiEFE

Advising on

securities,

corporate

finance  Adjustment

and asset and
management  eliminations Total
A& 5

tERE

REEER

REEER  AERYEH @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL

Reportable segment RENEP

revenue from external MTRES s

customers 21,1% 16,450 31,413 — — 69,059
Inter-segment sales PHREE - - - 240 240) =
Reportable segment profit AR & 2 A

(loss) (B%) (13,442) 1,104 (27135) 7 - (39,401)
Corporated and PERANDE

unallocated expense R% (7166
Group's loss before tax rEERHAIER (46,567)

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as the Group's accounting policies
described in Note 3. Segment profit (loss)
represents the profit earned by/loss from each
segment without allocation of central administration
costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM
for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market
rates.
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6.

OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets
and liabilities by reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Manufacture
and selling
of sewing
threads

#98
fEREE
HK$'000
T
Reportable segment assets ARENHEE
Assets classified as held for sale DEERIENELE
Unallocated assets AOMAE
Reportable segment liabilities EEES R
Liabilities associated with assets classified 2 A& (FEEEEREH
as held for sale B

Corporated and unallocated liabilities TERAAREE

6.

RED (%)

(b) 7=

AT—EAREDBEAEH

BEERER

BEMBENDI:

BE-_FE_NF¥+=-A=+-—H

EFE

Interior
design
and
decoration

BRR
R&#
HK$'000
TR

26,750

Equine
services

SURE

HKS'000
TRR

1

(17.931)

Advising on
securities,
corporate
finance

and asset
management
LERER
BEER
REER
HKS$'000
TER

146

it
HK$'000
TR

27,706
6,478
6,964

41,148

(25,229)

(16,307)
(14,811)

(56,347)
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(b)

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6. REHEB(HE)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) (b) " HEEREE (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_ZE-_=+=-A=+—H
LEE
Advising on
securities,
Manufacture Interior corporate
and selling design finance
of sewing and Equine and asset
threads decoration services  management Total
A&
TEBER
B0 B BEER
EERHE &1 SIRH REE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn
Reportable segment assets THENFEE 21,631 26,675 16,403 4,069 68,778
Corporated and unallocated assets PERAIREE 10,551
79,329
Reportable segment liabilies THEFBAR (14810) (9.402) (26,469) (632) (61,313
Corporated and unallocated liabilities PEREAINEE (8,628)
(69,941)
For the purposes of monitoring segment 7%7 EEsREBENED I Z
performance and allocating resources between DERER:
segments:
e all assets other than certain of the Group's s FEEEMMBEETASE

property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, other receivables, financial assets at
FVTPL and cash and cash equivalents are
allocated to operating segments; and

° all liabilities other than certain of the Group's
borrowings, other payables, lease liabilities
and retirement benefit obligations are allocated
to operating segments.
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6.

OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit
or loss on segment assets

Manufacture
and selling
of sewing
threads

Amounts included in the measure
of segment profits or loss or
segment assets:

Addition to property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Fair value gains on financial assets
at FVTPL, net

Fair value gain on biological assets,

net

Reversal of impairment losses
under expected credit loss
model, net

Impairment losses on intangible
asset

Written-down of inventory

Loss on disposal of biological
assets

Written-off of trade receivables

Written-off of other receivables

Interest income

Finance costs

Other gains and losses, net

LS
LEREE
HK$'000
TR
ABENAERLD
EEGEDRENSE:

BANE BERRE

h% RERRENE

EREBESE

RAREHAREZ R
BENAAERERE
TNEELABUERE

REGEFREATRE
ERED 28

BVAERERR

fiEEs
HEENEENER

BURSTENE
R BUFRR
AERA

BENE
EhERERER

Interior
design and
decoration

B
k&#
HK$'000
ThR

6.

RED (%)

(c)

Equine
services

SLR%

HK$'000
Thr

Hitn HER

BE-Z_-_NME+=-A=+—H

EFEE

PN

DEEEZ D #B A

IER e

Advising on
securities,
corporate
finance

and asset
management
A&
LERER
BEEE
RH#ER
HK$'000
Tin

Unallocated

AAEH &t
HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR ThR
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6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6. REDIR(4E)
(c) Other segment information (Continued) (c) HftbypIEFR (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-ZE-_=5+=-H=t+—H
IEFE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit FTAFEDEEE 29 % F
or loss on segment assets: BB
Advising on
securities,
Manufacture corporate
and selling Interior finance
of sewing design and Equine and asset
threads decoration services management Unallocated Total
rES
PEBER
28 LR EEER
EEREE &3 SR RUER AR RH @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T i A i Thn i
Amounts included in the measure A HBEFXEBLS P
of segment profits or loss or EEHERRENSE:
segment assets:
Addition to property, plant and mANE BERZE
equipment - 792 — - - 792
Addition to right-of-use assets BAGREEE Ky} 892 = 2. 548 1814
Depreciation of property, plantand  91% - BERREN &
equipment 592 481 - - 103 1176
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  FHEZENE 561 431 = - 356 1,348
Fair value gains on financial assets AR EFABEZ 28
at FVTPL, net BENAMEUSHE 105 - (60) = = 45
Fair value loss on biological assets, SN EEAAEEEFE
net - - 9,505 - - 9,505
Impairment of property, plantand ~ ¥1% - BERZBHE
equipment 799 - - - - 799
Impairment losses under expected B EEEBERXT
credit loss model, net of reversal  FEBE (MR ER) 3,760 (110) 9 3 = 3662
Written-down of inventory HAGE = 1,380 = = = 1,380
Loss on disposal of biological NEAMEENER
assets — — 680 — — 680
Government grants HREH (69) - - - - (69)
Interest income MEKA (151) - - - 1) (152)
Finance costs HERK 78 217 4,251 - 464 5,010
Other gains and losses, net EphaRBRTE (545) (244) (459) - 313 (935)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6.

(d)

Geographical information

The Group's operations are located in the PRC,

Australia and Hong Kong.

Information about the Group's revenue from
external customers is presented based on the

location of the customers.

Information about the

Group’s non-current assets is presented based on
the geographical location of the assets.

e 8 (E)
(d) #EZEHR

AEBEBNEBLRPE - EM
REE -

BERAASBERENTEFLHK
DERDRBEEFPHEZT -
ERASEERDEENEHR
HIRBEEENMBANERY -

Revenue from

external customers

RESNBEF B Y

PRC

Hong Kong
Middle East
Mauritius
Australia
Other

2024

—EomE

HK$’000

THT

H 291
B 53,698
FE 6,937
E Bk 808
N 6,519

Hit 328

Non-current assets excluded non-current assets
held for sale, financial instrument and goodwill.

Non-current assets

FRBEE

2023 2024 2023
“E-=F etk T -fF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TET

68,581 69,059

EkRBEETRERIELEN
ERBEE  CMIARFHE -

wEEEERERAT /2024585 1/



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RMEE)

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_-F_F+_-H=—+—HIFFZE

6. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6. R&HI(E)

(e) Information about major customers (e) BERETEXZFMWEHR

HEFEAANEEBIK I F R
1M0% A EHEFPHW LT :

Revenue from customers of the corresponding
years contributing over 10% of the total revenue of
the Group are as follows:

2024 2023

—ENEF T =

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH T FET

Customer Al BEA = 8,000
Customer B2 = F B2 6,937 7408
Customer C! BEC 46,890 N/A
i@ A

ERRREM W E -

1 Revenue from interior design and decoration. 1

2 Revenue from manufacture and selling of sewing threads 2 EENMBEBROBRE 2 W= -
service.

3 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of 3 BRI EORAEERBREH
the total revenue of the Group. 10% A £
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z _F - F+ A=+ —HIFZE

7.

OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 7. Hfttlh A - X R EBEFEE
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Rental income, net He W AFEE 691
Fair value gains on financial assets at BEAREFAEZN S/

FVTPL, net BENARERRFRAE 45
Fair value losses on investment properties & &% % R /‘ETEJEETEI (200)
Financial guarantee fee from a related e —EEERE IS

company EREHR 54
Exchange loss, net b 3 B 18 )5 58 (390)
Fair value gain (loss) on biological assets, 4£#MEEAEKZE (EE)

net P (9,505)
Interest income FE WA 152
Insurance compensation R ESE 465
Government grants (Note) XA w8 Bh (B 77D 69
Gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant ﬁ’E%¥ B K&

and equipment B (EE) (4)
Loss on written-off of property, plant and %% - B = & 5% & 35

equipment &5 18 (175)
Loss on disposal of biological assets HEEMEENEIE (680)
Gain on termination of lease contract MEBEEENES —
Written-off of trade receivables FE UK 22 5) 3K TA 8 S
Written-off of other receivables H 8 W 5ROIE M EE S
Others HAth 494

(8,984)
Note: i -

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the amount represented the
subsidy received from government authorities in the PRC for encourage

employment.

There were no unfulfilled conditions and other contingency attached to

the receipt of subsidy.

HE-Z-_=Ff+-A=+—BHLFE Z&
HEETERFHE KRB EME -

BELRRZBEHEMMEARERDFEHRE
AR EE -

BBEFZERBRAOT /2024 F 3R
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" Forthe year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_-F_F+_-H=—+—HIFFZE

8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED 8. AHFEFBEEATNEERSEGE

CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL BR#2[E)
2024 2023
—EWEF S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Impairment losses recognised EHER(EE)RE
(reversed) on: &5 18
— trade receivables — BN 5 KA (334)
— contract assets —AREE 77
— deposit and other receivables — & & R E R FE 3,919
3,662
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note B &E R B M RE36(b) ©
36(b).
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BERX
2024 2023
—B-mF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interest expense on borrowings and EBRREZFERAX
overdrafts 4,440
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEAENERX 115
Interest expense on accrued benefits EETRAAF ERAX 28
Interest expense on overdue trade BEHENRZREHFE
payables =53 427
5,010
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

10.

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE

Current income tax BV HER AT 13 B4
Under-provision in prior years BAFERETR
Deferred tax IR & 7 18

10. FriE#i (K %) B

Total income tax (credit) expense

Pt (B %) F X 48 88

2024 2023
—E-MmF —FT-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE& T FET

200

58

258

The Group is subjected to income tax on an entity basis
on profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions
in which subsidiaries of the Group are domiciled and
operated. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"),
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and BVI.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong
Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits
of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate
of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the
qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first
HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at
16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2
million.

AEBAREBEERELHRR

AN N NN S o ]
AEERBRMDINBAAER - RIE
REHEMABRARE((REER

ZERBDORULER  AEEHE

BHEHENEBRRESNE
AIETIEHE ©
BEEEFNESHMANESHHE -

AEREETREE2EEB T HEAG
#8.25% B - MR BE2E &8 T H
s IR16.5% BB o TRHAFEBH
MAGEENEBRERN LN BE#
BIZ165% KB — B KB - Bt -
EERSEERBNEENGHIZE?2
AEB LA ERR E M A8.25%
B MBE2EE S TN EETERB
i A A% 16.5% F & o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_=—F-—F+ =A==+ —HIFZE

10.

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE
(Continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profit for both years. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, Hong Kong Profits Tax
is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits by offsetting the tax loss which previously not
recognised. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
no provision for Hong Kong tax has been made for the
Group as the assessable profits arising in Hong Kong was
fully offset by the tax losses previously not recognised.

No provision for corporate tax has been made for the
Group's operation in Australia as such operation incurred
loss for taxation purpose for the year of assessment
2024 (2023: Nil).

Pursuant to the PRC Income Tax Law and the respective
regulations, the subsidiaries which operate in the PRC
are subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 25% on
the taxable income. No provision for PRC income tax
has been made for the Group's operation in PRC as such
operation incurred loss for tax purpose for the year of
assessment 2024 (2023: Nil).
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10. FRE%i (K &) (&)

BEEMNESB T MEFERMHETE
%m/ﬂ&mfm5%ﬁ cEHEZ

E-_NFE+-_A=Z+—HLEFE &
B RSB T B S AT R R B s AR
R16.5% 5t &+ LA K 85 5% Al & #E 3R BN
HEEBB BREE-Z_=F+=
A=+ —BLFEEAREEREEE
ERERT AT EAERKRERO
EEESEEE R ERE S
FIE AT IR AR o

HAREENARMNNEBER_-_T -
FRUFEELEREARBE RAE
MREBELEERRBERB (T ==
FE)

BERPBRASHEREBERAT B
PREEE B AR EIRERB K
AM%%@%&&%& o B RIE
MEBR-_ZTE_NFFIHRFEELE
HEEBE SMEXRLTEERFEL
¥BARTBAEREBEEBE(ZE=
FomE)o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

10.

INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE
(Continued)

The income tax (credit) expense for the year can be
reconciled from the loss before tax per the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

10.

P& % (I8 %) B2 (&)

AEEREHRERIBEIERAIE
HXLREMEAKAZKBRATEIR
HEEMT

income as follows:

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Loss before tax bR B RS 1B (37,459) (46,567)
Tax calculated at applicable tax rate HEBAMEFTENRIE (8,244) (10,500)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for 7~ A] 1 B 2 09 3 75 52 28
tax purpose 608 3,848
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax  HEBRHW AN K E
purpose (226) (13)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not AL REROIA
recognised &5 18 (45) (116)
Under provision in respect of previous BEFERETR
year 155 =
Tax reduction i 18 R (2) =
Tax losses not recognised RERBIBEE 7,380 7,204
Tax effect of two-tiered profits tax rates |15 5 /R 4% 1 &0 55 75 5 &
regime (74) (165)
Income tax (credit) expense for the year FEREH (KRB X (448) 258

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
HK$28,609,000 (2023: HK$21,377,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of
the companies in which the losses arose.

The Group has tax losses arising in the PRC of
HK$29,612,000 (2023: HK$19,012,000) that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits.

No deferred tax assets has been recognised in respect
of these tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

AEBRBFEELEH BB B
28,609,000 (= T = = F:
21,377,000 7o) - AI £E BR BB B 1€ 1K
HELEBRBZARMNAKRERD R
F o

AEEBRFBEANMESE ZRIEE
B 7,%29,612,000,9.%5 T(ZE = =ZF:
19,012,000 L) * X — =2 AF KN
EIER - AMESH AR RIERB R -

BB R 2 A R R O S BT BRI
VEAHABERERECHAEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z _—ZF _-_WF+ A=+ —HIFZE

11.

DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE

On 2 October 2024, the Company and Trillion Mind
Limited (“Trillion Mind"), an independent third party,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to
which the Company has conditionally agreed to sell, and
Trillion Mind has conditionally agreed to purchase, the
sale share, representing the entire issued share capital in
the Strat Tech Holdings Limited (“Strat Tech”) for a total
consideration of HK$1,000,000 (the “Disposal”).

Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of Strat Tech and its
subsidiaries (“Strat Tech Group”), which are expected
to be sold within twelve months, have been classified
as a disposal group held for sale as at 31 December
2024 and are presented separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The net proceeds of
Disposal are expected to exceed the net carrying amount
of the relevant assets and liabilities and accordingly, no
impairment loss has been recognised.

Strat Tech Group is principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of sewing threads and board
categories of garment accessories. Strat Tech Group
is included in the Group’'s manufacture and selling of
sewing threads activities for segment reporting purposes
(see Note 6).

The Disposal is completed on 27 January 2025.
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11.

FEHENHEA R

RZZE-ZMWE+AZH XA FA
ER ¥ 37 % = J Trillion Mind Limited
([Trillion Mind)) 3] 32 B & # &% -
Bl ARREEKHEREHEM
Trillion MindE B4R EBEREHE
f% 17 - Bl Strat Tech Holdings Limited
([Strat Techl) B9 & 382 3 17 A -
4 K {8 &1,000,00008 T(H &=
B -

A itk v Strat Tech & H W B & &
([Strat Tech&EE ) EE R BE B H
Rt+—_@AREE  R_2T= E$
+i= A= EE’\*EF%T—M’HHEZ
HEMER  TREAMBRREFR
BHEEY LEBEMBREFE
BEHERAEBEELRAENER
FE BARYEREDBREEIE -

Strat TechEB T ER FTHRAFE LT
HREBHEERBEE - /J"\*B#ﬁ
£ ME - Strat Tech&E BB EERNE

EHEAOSEENHEEEBRLKNF
6) °

HEFER
SERK e

s B = Fon s a3
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

11.

DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE 1. FEHENHEHR (&)
(Continued)
The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Strat Strat Tech&EEB D EARBELENE
Tech Group classified as held for sale are as follows: ENBENZZHFAT:
HK$'000
FHET
Plant and equipment g B M 5% 164
Financial asset at fair value through profit #Z A AEFAEZ(EAAEFAER])
or loss (“FVTPL") TR & E 5,318
Right-of-use assets EREEE 172
Trade and other receivables FE W A 5 FIE K H b & W 5k 18 452
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIRS 372
Total assets classified as held for sale NEABELENEELT 6,478
Trade and other payables FE 7 32 5 3R T8 T H b FE < 3R T 13,066
Lease liabilities HEAE 186
Tax payables JFE 1 B 18 900
Retirement benefit obligations BEReRAEME 162
Bank borrowing R1TE 1,993
Total liabilities associated with assets HOBARBELEEEMENABERSE
classified as held for sale 16,307
Cumulative amount of HK$10,977,000 relating to the HoMARIEEE R EHEANER
disposal group classified as held for sale has been 2 25 £ %810,977,0008 TE R E b
recognised in other comprehensive income and included FEWAERL T AR °
in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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" Forthe year ended 31 December 2024 # Z_-ZF _—WF+-H=+—HIFFEZF

12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 12. FRAEHE

Loss for the year is arrived at after charging: FRNEBEBEHNBRTISE:

2024 2023
—E-MEF —EZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 85 R 7 BM
— Audit services — Z Bk 1,022
— Non audit-services — EZH RS 90 Lik
Cost of inventories sold BEEFEKRAR
— Manufacture of sewing threads — RBAREE 10,001 19,019
— Interior decorating and furnishing — EANEHEERRK
services AR 7% 3,667 3,888
Cost of bloodstocks sold BEMRESKAK 8,187 26,339
Written-down of inventories MomFEE 1,721 1,380
Depreciation of property, plant and mME BMERZEBETE
equipment 530 1,176
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CTREEENE 725 1,348
Lease payments not included in the THAHEBEFEZ
measurement of lease liabilities HEHRIE 1,243 1,650
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

13. STAFF COSTS

Employee costs (excluding Directors and EEXK AN (TBEEER

13. BEIRA

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET

Chief Executive's remuneration) TIN5 )
Wages and salaries TERF® 11,429
Pension scheme contributions BRIRSET B R 2,423
Service costs of long service payments  EHIRH% & 2 RIEK A 270
Reversal of LSP obligation BRoRBRBESET —
Severance payments EBHE 45
14,167
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the staffs HE-Z-_HWEF+=-_A=+—801

costs of approximately HK$4,551,000, HK$1,233,000
and HK$4,433,000 (2023: HK$6,002,000, HK$2,081,000
and HK$6,084,000) are recognised as direct cost, selling
and distribution expense and administrative expense
respectively.

FE- B I X 7K #74,551,00078 7T -
1,233,000/ 7t }%4,433,000/8 L (=&
— = % :6,002,0003% 7T - 2,081,000
77T 56,084,000 ) DRI ER AE
BRA HERDHERI RITHRA
i °

BBEFZERBRAOT /2024 F 3R
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" For the year ended 31 December 2024 B E-F-FEF+ A=+ —AILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable GEM Listing
Rules and CO, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

14. EERITHRAR N

Basic

Director  salaries and

Name fees allowances

5

i3 ESNE  BEREE

HK$'000

Chief executive and executive director: ~ THAHRHTES:

Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert BHAELE

Executive directors: HTES

Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch RRELE

Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex 2ENEE

Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah (Note (2)) SEXEEW )

Mr. Shane McGrath (Note (b)) Shane McGrath % £ (472 b)
Mr. Leung Tat Chi (Nots (¢)) REREEW )
Non-executive director: FHES

Ms. Ho Wing Shan (Note (a)) AEREL M)

Independent non-executive directors: ~ BIFHTES:

Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming (Note (&) REREE MW H o)
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold RENEE

Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joel ARELE

Mr. Tang Chun Hei (Nots (f) HEBEEWHN)
Total @

182 HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

HK$'000

RIEEAMGEM Em R Bl & A& g
BIFENAFEEELRITRARF
BT

BE-ZE-_NF+-A=t+—-HLHFE
Equity

settled Retirement
Emoluments  share-based scheme

waived payments  contributions Total
NERGEN

BHEME RHixs  EEHHHR @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

14. EERTRARHM(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-—F_=F+-A=+—HLEE
Equity
Basic settled Retirement
Director salariesand ~ Emoluments share-based scheme
Name fees allowances waived payments  contributions Total
£X NEREER
## EEHe  HEREE  CHEMS R BIHEER &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Chief executive and executive director: ~ THARRUTES:
Mr. Wong Kwok Wai, Albert EEERRE - 1623 - - 18 1,641
Executive directors: HrES:
Mr. Chan Yiu Tung, Enoch RREEE - 360 - - 18 378
Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex RERTE - 480 (347) = 18 151
Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah (ote (2)) SEXEEWHE) - 840 (548) - 18 310
Mr. Shane McGrath (Note (5)) Shane McGrath & & (47 i# ) = 2,080 = = 2,080
- 5,383 1835 - n 4560
Independent non-executive directors: BUfynES
Mr. Sung Alfred Lee Ming REHLE 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Chan Tsun Choi, Arnold REHLE 180 = = = = 180
Mr. Chow Chin Hang, Joe! ARERE 180 - - - = 180
540 - - - - 540
Total it 540 5,383 (895) - 7 5,100
Notes: Bt 5% -
(a) Mr. Ma Pok Man, Josiah (“Mr. Ma") resigned on 29 February (a) SEEXAEE((BRE)R-_TE-_WF=
2024, AZ+hBEIE -
(b)  Mr. Shane McGrath resigned on 6 September 2024. (b)  Shane McGratht A E R == F N A

(c) Mr. Leung Tat Chi appointed on 3 September 2024.

(d) Ms. Ho Wing Shan appointed on 6 September 2024.

(e) Mr. Sugn Alfred lee Ming retired on 6 June 2024.

(f) Mr. Tang Chun Hei appointed on 6 September 2024.

NERE -

REXAREENR_ZT_MNFHLA=ZRE
ZRfE-

MEMZLTtER _ET_MEAANBE
1T -
RERAEEER-_Z_WEASAANAR
F o
HEBMALEER _T_MFLANAE

EE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

14.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
(Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive director’'s and independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services as directors of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Ma Pok
Man, Josiah and Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex, the executive
directors, agreed to waive their emoluments of a total
of approximately HK$253,000 due to the unsatisfactory
financial performance of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Ma Pok
Man, Josiah and Mr. Leung King Yue, Alex, the executive
directors, agreed to waive their emoluments of a total
of approximately HK$895,000 due to the unsatisfactory
financial performance of the Group.
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FE HOTEEFEBENEERES
WELERERNEFESHIMESARY
253,000 T RERAEB YK X
IR R AE .

BHE-_ZE-_=f+-_A=+—81
FE HOTEEFEBEXNEERRES
WELERENEFESHMESARY
8950008 L RARAEEY KX
WRAE o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # £ - ZF_HF+_-H=+—HIFFEF N R—
15. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 15. AEBREFMAL
The five highest employees of the Group during the year FAXREEREESTMHATBE
included two (2023: two) Directors, details of whose ME(ZEZ=F -MB)EF HF
emoluments are set out in Note 14 above. Details of the B 5 15 B B/\J: M EE14 0 FARERT
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2023: —H(CZEZ=F =R )EesFE
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director B(YHARAEEFTHITHAEAE) N
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: FMEFIEMT
2024 2023
—E-ME —E_=F%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind & 28N EWEF 2,024
Service costs of long service payment EHRBE2 ZBRBEK R 91
Pension scheme contributions RRSETEH R 54
2,169
The number of the highest paid employees who are FHBRUATHEINE=EHMES (K
not the Directors whose remuneration fell within the WHES)AHDT:
following bands is as follows:
2024 2023
—E_E —E-=F
Number of Number of
Individuals Individuals
AE AH
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,0005 7T 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_ZF - WF+ A=+ —HIFZE

16.

17.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2024, nor has any dividend been proposed
since the end of the reporting period (2023: Nil).

16. RE

RBEE-_T_ME+_A=+—H1t

FE-
BES ¥

I & A AN EE AR R R K
B TERBSHRE

BEKEMNBRE(ZE_ZF &) -

LOSS PER SHARE 17. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share ARRFEBAREEREAREE
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the BRDRBEATBIEE:
following data:
2024 2023
“E-NF s
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Losses B8
Loss attributable to owners of RARHER A EL
the Company &5 18 (37,011) (46,825)
Shares gy
Weighted average number of ordinary RAUFTESRARNK #E
shares for the purpose of basic and E 1B T B AR
diluted loss per share hn#E 19 B COERERIEDN 409,141,860
Basic and diluted loss per share GREARK & HEE (BW)
(HK cents) (Note) (K1 &t) (11.44)

Note:

The computation of diluted loss per share for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 does not assume the conversion of the
Company’s outstanding options since their assumed exercise would
result in a decrease in loss per share from operations.

186 HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT

B it -

BE-_ZT-_MNER-_FT_=ZF+-A=+—8"
AEERESEHEENIERIEBRARAMEK
TEERE RARBIRITEZSEREKE
HWEEHMBEREERD -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ERRM (&

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE \%\

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Production
Buildings machinery
BF LEHS
HK$'000 HK$'000
T
31 December 2024 ZECRE+ZAZT-A
At31 December 2023andat ~ H-F-ZF+-A=T-H
1 January 2024: R=Z-m¥-A-H:
Cost KA 4,193 26,501
Accumulated depreciationand T ERHE
impairment (809) (26,173)
Net carrying amount KEFE 3,384 328
At 1 January 2024, net of RZE-RE-A-A"
accumulated depreciation NhEHNE 3,384
Additions hE =
Disposal il 3 (3,336)
Written-off WH -

Depreciation provided for the year
Asset classified as held for sales
Exchange realignment

ERMFRIE (48)
ARARFHENEE =
EXA% -

At 31 December 2024 net of

R-E-mE+-A=1-H"

accumulated depreciationand MR R HERAEEH
impairment et
At 31 December 2024 R-B-RET-A=1-H
Cost A
Accumulated depreciationand i ERAE
impairment
Net carrying amount FHEE

18. W% - KEKRZE

Office Leasehold
equipment improvement Vehicles Total
HAERGE HENEER ot @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
T T TAR TAR

1,813 1,086 ' 35,387

(1,758) (964) , (30,843)

55 122 4,544

4,544
207
(3,339)
(16)
(530)
(164)
(54)

1,993

(1,345)

648
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A BEBRERMTEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. W% - MERRE (&)

(Continued)
Production Office Leasehold
Buildings machinery equipment  improvement Vehicles Total
BT EEHE  FLZRE BEMEEE e B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn
31 December 2023 ZRCZEtZAZT-R
At31 December 2022 andat ~ H-E--E+-F=1-H
1 January 2023; R=%z=%-A-R:
Cost KA 4193 29,164 2281 1,154 1,660 38452
Accumulated depreciationand T ERAE
impairment (664) (27062) (2,210) (830) (1,527) (32,293)
Net carrying amount BHFE 3,529 2,102 n 324 133 6,159
At 1 January 2023, net of RZB-=%-A-A"
accumulated depreciation NHEiiE 3529 2,102 7 34 133 6,159
Additions AE - — 15 - 177 792
Disposal e - (93) - - (94) (187)
Written-off i - (175) - - - (175)
Impairment e - (778) - - (21) (799)
Depreciation provided for the year FMzF 5 & (145) (661) (31) (202) (137) (1,176)
Exchange realignment ERAR - (67) - - (3) (70
At 31 December 2023 net of RZFZ=E+ZA=1-R-
acoumulated depreciationand MR EFHERKERH
impairment A8 3,384 328 55 122 655 4,544
At 31 December 2023 RZSZ=ETZA=1-H
Cost A 4193 26,501 1,813 1,086 1,719 35,387
Accumulated depreciationand it TERA(E
impairment (809) (26,173) (1,758) (964) (1,139 (30,843)
Net carrying amount REFE 3,384 328 55 122 655 4,544
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B BEHRERI T (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

/\\/T\

18. W% - MERRE (&)

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to

TESRERLRFEN  REMHE

write off the cost of each item of property, plant and MNERSTABSEDE BER
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful BEOKAMBEREEBE - BRI

life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Buildings Over term of lease ¥ R ER

Production machinery 10% to 20% A E B3 10% £ 20%

Office equipment 20% to 30% MAERE 20% £30%

Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the il f%%”t & BEHEEFHKE20%
lease terms and 20% BmEPREE

Vehicles 20% to 30% RE 20% £30%

The carrying amount of vehicles held under lease BEHEEEFREMNAEEEAE

liabilities was approximate to HK$453,000 (2023:
HK$647,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s buildings
with carrying amount of approximately HK$3,384,000

43 B453,000% T(Z T = = &
647,000 7T) °

R—ZEBE-_=%F+=-_A=+—8 &2
ETEE@TE%"JS 384 OOO?’%T_EE’]@%_EE

has been pledged for a borrowing raised by a related F—REBEER M fEREE R (K
company (Note 39). 5¥39) ©
Impairment assessment BB

For the year ended 31 December 2023, following
a review of the business, which takes into account
the deteriorating outlook for the textile industry and
the Group's future business plan, management has
reassessed the carrying values for all the property, plant

BE-_ZT-_=F1T-_A=1+—HL#F
B XGEE 2K ZEIGHEBEM
ERRAREKEEZHOA R B
AEENAKEBTE  EEEE
MAm TR T _=F+-_HA=1+—

and equipment as at 31 December 2023. An impairment BRAEYE BERRE 2H5B
provision of HK$799,000 has been recorded to reduce 799,000 B LB BEEE KAKEY
the carrying value of the Group’'s property, plant and ¥ BELEZHE EE@@ WA EHEM
equipment to their estimated recoverable value, which is kel e BAAERLERK
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and VIU. N EA{E A EEW%Z%‘T S

BBEFZERBRAOT /2024 F 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

18.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Impairment assessment (Continued)

Regarding the sewing thread industry business, the
Group has two CGUs, i) production line for polyester
threads (“CGU1"); and ii) production line for nylon
threads (“CGU2"). The recoverable amount of CGU was
determined at VIU and fair value less costs of disposal
as at 31 December 2023. VIU and fair value less costs of
disposal are categorised within Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy and are measured based on the independent
valuer and latest available market data sourced from an
independent second-hand machinery and equipment
agent as at 31 December 2023.

The recoverable amount of polyester threads and nylon
threads product line as at 31 December 2023 was
determined based on value in use calculation and based
on certain key assumptions. Value in use calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group covering a
four-year period, which is taking into account the useful
lives of plant and machinery. The discount rate used
for the value in use calculations is at 10%. Cash flow
beyond the four-year period were extrapolated using a
2.2% steady growth rate. This growth rate was based on
the relevant growth forecasts and does not exceed the
average long-term growth rate for the relevant industry.

As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of
CGU1T and CGU2 are HK$153,000 and HK$183,000,
respectively. The relevant assets were impaired to their
recoverable amount of HK$336,000, which is their
carrying values at the end of the reporting date and the
impairment of HK$799,000 has been recognised in profit
or loss within relevant functions to which their assets
relate during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

19.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REWE

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FiE T
At 1 January mn—H—H 4,500
Fair value loss AREEIE (200)
Disposals s -
At 31 December R+=ZA=+— 4,300
Unrealised loss on property revaluation STABEMAZRYE

included in profit or loss EHEE 200

The Group leases out offices under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. As at 31 December 2023, the
lease typically runs for an initial period of two years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies
of group entities. The lease contracts do not contain
residual value guarantee and/or lessee's option to
purchase the property at the end of lease term.

The Group's investment property is situated in Hong
Kong under medium-term lease.

The fair value of the Company’s investment property
at 31 December 2023 has been arrived at on the basis
of a valuation carried out on the respective date by the
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, the management has
(i) verified all major inputs to the independent valuation
report; (ii) assessed property valuations movements
when compared to the prior year valuation report; and (iii)
held discussion with the independent qualified valuer.

AEBERBERKEMAELEABRLIE
HeERABAXN RZT-_=F+=
A=+—B HE-ROFXSHM
qfo

HRFAEEEUUNEBRERBREED
DREE¥HE RAKBEYERME
ExHmERNERR HEAD
TrEERBEERER H AR
ARERERGBEY RN RER -

AEBREMEM
HEQFAE -

MREE AP

ARREREMER-_F_=F+_H
ST —HHNAAREDREBEAREH
VTERBENBYIAERZRMGLEM
REBERETHOREMER -

RBEEER BEEEEORETBY
HERENME 28 AEE ()T
TE%¥1ETEFJ:—¢TE1ETE$E¢E’J

BE)RNVEBIASERGEME
TTTH—JLEFHE"
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

192

19.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3
fair value hierarchy.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The fair value of the owned properties was determined
based on the market comparison approach by reference
to historical sales price of comparable properties on
a price per square foot basis using market data which
is publicly available. The valuation take into account
the characteristic of the investment properties which
included the size, floor level, year of transaction and
other factors collectively. The fair value measurements
are positively correlated to the discount on characteristic
of the property.

A slight increase in the market unit rate used would
result in a significant increase in fair value. If the market
unit rate was 5% higher/lower while all other variables
were held constant, the carrying amount would increase/
decrease by HK$210,000/HK$230,000 respectively for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’'s investment
properties with carrying amounts of HK$4,300,000 have
been pledged to secure a loan from a related Company
(Note 39).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

20.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

As at 1 January

Additions

Depreciation charges

Early termination
Reclassified as held for sale
Exchange realignment

R—A—H

NE

FrEH

AL
EFOBERBHELE
PE 3 8 %

As at 31 December

R+t=-A=t—H

Expense relating to short-term leases

EREHEENRX

(Note) (B &)
Total cash outflow for leases HER:RLD®
Additions to right-of-use assets FRHEEEARE

Note:

For both years, the Group leases various offices for its operations. Lease
contracts were entered into for fixed term of two years (2023: two
years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for which the

contract is enforceable.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, the Group entered
into several short-term leases for office. As at 31 December 2024, the
outstanding lease commitments relating to these offices are HK$187,000
(2023: HK$921,000).

20. FREEE
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=

HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
1,385 951
— 1,814
(725) (1,348)
(228) —
(172) —
— (32)
1,385
1,650
3,313
1,814

Hiat:
RABEFEE AEBHESHABARELEEZ

A BEANREEFPEMF(CT_=F 8

FIFTL MEGRDEBENER LR S
BTARGRRGE RETEARRTETA
Bz HRE AEEERAONTE  LE

ERREIMITAHONEE -

BE-_Z-_=-FrR=-TE-_MNF+=-A=+—H
LtFE AEERBAEIVETRHMEE -
RZT-_WME+—A=+—H8 AEZENA
EMREEREEIE 187,000 T (=T ==
£ :921,000/8 7T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

21. GOODWILL 21. HE
HK$'000
FET
Cost A
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 RZZE=F—H—B8: - =%
and 31 December 2024 —=F+-A=+—B8Rk=-FE
—WHE+-A=+—A” 18,786
Impairment HAE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 R-ZZE-_=F—HF—H8 =%
and 31 December 2024 —=Zf+-—A=+—8k=FE
—E+=-A=+—8H (12,103)
Carrying amounts BREE
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-MNFE+=A=+—H 6,683
At 31 December 2023 RZB_=F+-HA=+—8 6,683
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, E ¥BAMHTESHEEERBER
at acquisition, to the cash generating units that are STRATEPRZEEAHFPZEN
expected to benefit from that business combination. The ReELEBEN BENEEBEES
carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated to the BRI EEEM BT
cash generating units as follows:
2024 2023
—E_ME e e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
Operation of interior design and = AR A A A
decoration business EIEH L E 6,683
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z _F - F+ A=+ —HIFZE

21.

GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill
Interior design and decoration

On 9 February 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the
equity interests in DML at a total consideration of
approximately HK$25,628,000. Management considered
that the DML Group represents a separate CGU for the
purpose of impairment testing. During the year ended
31 December 2021, the Group recognised an impairment
loss of approximately HK$12,103,000 in relation to
goodwill allocated to the DML Group for impairment
testing purpose. The goodwill arising from the acquisition
of the DML Group represented the excess of the cost of
acquisition over the Group's interest in the provisional fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the DML
Group.

In connection with the acquisition of DML Group,
67,441,860 consideration shares were transferred at the
issue price of HK$0.215 each were issued and allotted
to the vendors to acquire the 100% equity interest in
DML Group. The difference between (i) the grant date
fair value of the consideration shares for the acquisition
of DML Group as determined based on the closing
price of HK$0.38 per share of the Company on the
completion date and (ii) the issue price of HK$0.215 per
consideration share pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement for the acquisition of DML Group, has
resulted in unexpected increase in the total consideration
transferred for acquisition of DML Group from
approximately HK$14,500,000, being the consideration
as stipulated in sale and purchase agreement for
the acquisition of the DML Group, to approximately
HK$25,628,000, being the fair value of the consideration
having been transferred.

In accordance with HKFRS 3 Business combinations
issued by the HKICPA, the cost of this business
combination was determined using the fair values at the
date of the business combination of these instruments
issued by the Group. The Group has performed an
impairment assessment on the carrying amount of the
CGU (including goodwill) based on VIU calculations.

21.

e (%)
R E R
ERRFARES

RZEBEZ—F_AhhB AEEU
48 % (825,628,000 JT W B DML &Y
100% k- ERERE - LR E R
HAME DMLEERE—EEBH
ReEELEBEN #HEzZ_—F+=
A=+T—HALtFE AEBHIRE
DMLEERERENANETEEHE
B 8 (B B 18 912,103,000 7T o Ug BE
DMLEBELEMNEHEREREKAR
BBAEEEDMLEBTHREE
MEBENBREALETRAEZS -

LU DML Groupim & * 67,441,860
BRERGE®RETESR215E
TTEE WE R E A BT RE
LA U B8 DML £ B #9100% B% #E » (i)
REHEHAEBDMLEE K EEEE
REBOZAARBEMRE R KB H
KRR ESRBK MK TE0.38E Tim
EE)HE()RIEDMLE B W EE £ 18
BHTITEEHZERRERKKH0.215%
THBTEZEZEEEHREDML
CEWBEEEEZINRANRE KLY
14,500,000/ ;T (AIDML & B W B8 =
EMNEERZEATHARE) ZINEM
E| #925,628,0008 T (A2 & W R
BARME) -

BREEZESFMIAERMANETEY
BHREEMNEIREHFSH  ARE
BEMHHRARAARNEEEZETHA
MIAEXHEHEANARERE -
AEBECDREERE fﬁ.ﬁr%%ﬁﬁ%
ELENBEEREBNREEEE
TTRERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_ZF - WF+ A=+ —HIFZE

21.

GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Interior design and decoration (Continued)

Management expected the operation scale of the CGU
after the acquisition would be further expanded by
incorporating the resources of the Group. However, such
expectations are not incorporated as assumptions in
preparing the cash flow forecasts for impairment testing
purpose as they are not clearly supported and therefore
not included in the VIU calculations. Since the carrying
amount of the CGU (including goodwill) is significantly
above its recoverable amount, the Group impaired the
amount of goodwill of approximately HK$12,103,000 on
date of acquisition of the DML Group.

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023,
goodwill is further tested for impairment for this CGU by
the management by estimating the recoverable amount
of the CGU based on value in use calculations. The Group
engaged an independent qualified valuer to perform the
valuation.

The key assumptions for the VIU calculations are those
regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected
changes to selling prices and direct costs during the
relevant periods. Management estimates discount
rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the CGU. The growth rates are based on the
estimates made by the management on the industry.
Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on
past practices and expectations of future changes in the
market.
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GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Interior design and decoration (Continued)

The Group prepared cash flows forecasts derived
from the most recent financial budgets approved by
management for a five-year period. The CGU's cashflows
beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a steady
3% (2023: 3%) growth rate. The financial budgets and
growth rates are estimated according to the stage of
operation with reference to the development curve of
the industry. The rate used to discount the forecast cash
flows for the CGU is 15.5% (2023: 14.4%).

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the
recoverable amounts of the DML Group calculated
based on VIU exceeded its carrying value. No further
impairment of goodwill was required. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not result in impairment.

21.

BE_—_FE-_mWFEf A=+ —HIFE

e ()

GE AR EAC )
ERRTRE S (H)
AEERBEEBBERENRORSF
U BEARRBERERD - 8

BRAFHNBESCELEENNIR SR
EFHABENIR (ZE-=F: 3%)

BEXHEE PHBAEMNERX
RIBEEEE Ex'%%ﬁ%?é‘)%ﬂﬂ&

HEMN - AREREEALAEMNTE
hil Eﬁ%fﬁ%ﬂﬁ£ﬁﬂ@ﬂ$ﬁ15.5% (=
T~ =4F 1 14.4%) °

RZE-_WMF+_A=+—HRZZE
—ZF+-A=+—HB DMLEEKR
FAEBEFENTRESEBERE
FAE TFTZE— P RETE -

ERERA AT E S R
AR B T E E O -

BBEFZERBRAOT /2024 F 3R

197
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 22. BELEE

Licence
g
HK$'000
F&ET
Cost 2N
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 W-_Z_-_=4—H—H -
and 31 December 2024 ZEZ=F+ZA=+—8HK
ZE-mMFE+=ZA=+—H 3,788
Accumulated impairment ZF R E
Impairment loss and at BEBBER-_ZE-_NF+_A=+—H
31 December 2024
Carrying amounts REE

At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_WNE+=-A=+—H

At 31 December 2023 R—E-_=ZF+=-A=+—H 3,788

The licence represents the licence issued by Securities
and Futures Commission (“SFC"), which enable Hua Yu
Investment Management Limited (“Hua Yu”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, to operate in advising
on securities (Type 4 regulated activity), advising on
corporate finance (Type 6 regulated activity) and assets
management (Type 9 regulated activity) activities in
Hong Kong, under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”). Under SFO, Hua Yu is required to
meet its relevant paid up share capital and liquid capital
requirements of the Securities and Futures (Financial
Resources) Rules issued by SFC.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z _F - F+ A=+ —HIFZE

22.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group would
renew the licence continuously and has the ability to
do so. As a result, the licence is considered by the
management of the Group as having an indefinite
useful life because it is expected to generate economic
benefit to the Group indefinitely. The licence will not
be amortised. Instead, it will be tested for impairment
annually and whenever there is an indication that it may
be impaired.

The recoverable amount of intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives with carrying amount of
approximately HK$Nil (2023: HK$3,788,000), within the
provision of advising on securities, corporate finance and
asset management segments, is estimated individually.

The recoverable amount of the licenses has been
determined based on the VIU calculation by reference
to valuation carried out by an independent qualified
valuer engaged by the Group. The calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a 5-year period, and pre-
tax discount rate of 13.7% (2023: 14.5%). The financial
model assumes a terminal growth rate of 2.5% (2023:
2.5%) taking into account of inflation rate and other
relevant economic factors. The cash flow projections,
growth rates and discount rate have been assessed as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 taking into consideration
higher degree of estimation uncertainties in the current
year due to volatility in financial markets, including
potential disruptions of the Group's operations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_ZF - WF+ A=+ —HIFZE

22.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, based on the result of the
assessment, management of the Group determined
that the recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit is lower than the carrying amount. The impairment
loss has been allocated to the intangible assets with
finite useful lives. Based on the value in use calculation
and the allocation, impairment loss of approximately
HK$3,788,000 have been recognised against the carrying
amount of licenses for the year ended 31 December
2024.

As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable amounts
of the licenses calculated based on VIU is estimated
to exceed its carrying amount. The management of
the Group determines that there is no impairment is
recognised on intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives. Management believes that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the carrying amount of the licenses to exceed the
recoverable amount.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

23.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

A subsidiary of the Group is holding quality stallions
and provide stallion services in Australia, and another
subsidiary of the Group is engaged in the rearing of
trading of bloodstocks, horse management services and
horse racing in Australia.

The quantity and value of stallions and bloodstocks
owned by the Group at the end of the reporting period
are shown below.

As at 31 December 2024
R=ZB-_NF+=A=+—H
HK$'000

FE T

No. of horses

ENEE
Current assets REBEE
Bloodstocks wiiE 5
— Broodmares — &S
— Racehorse — 85
— Colt —NE
— Fillies — M
Total bloodstocks e S B
Non-current assets HFREBEE
Stallions ;5

Total biological assets 4 & &E #1&

Bloodstocks represent thoroughbred broodmares, colts,
fillies and racing horses held primarily for trading purpose
and are classified as current assets.

Stallions represent adult male horses that have not been
castrated and are held for breeding purpose. The stallions
are classified as non-current assets as the Group has no
intention to sell these stallions in the foreseeable future.

23. £YEE

AEEN—KHBRRERMNESR
BEESYRHUBSERYE MAE
Bems— KK B QR R RN =
MESHNAENEE SCEBRRK

RBEHR AEBREENES R
MEEHEREEMT -

As at 31 December 2023
RZEZ=F+=-H=+—H

No. of horses HK$'000
S5MeE FET

5) 1,543

26 5,558

6 1,997

2 452

39 9,550

7 5,864

46 15,414

MEEEETIZERRSENMIBIAEN
E*EJ%\/J\/%\M/%&EI% ! %iﬁi\
RMEBEE -

BEEYABIERAREEEN ZK
FRHF BELEBEBFESEARIERGE
E ARAXEEEEEFARNR
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" Forthe year ended 31 December 2024 #HE-—F-—[FE A=A =+ —HIFFE

23. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued) 23. £Y)EEE)
No live foal (2023: 5) were born during the year and there FATEESHHE(ZE_=ZF:5

are no other output of biological assets during the year ) BEFRAVYEHMEYWEEED
(2023: Nil). (ZE—=ZF &)

The movement in value of biological assets during the WREHAEDEEEEEDBELDN
reporting period were as follows: T

As at 31 December 2024
R-E-_WNE+=-HA=+—H

Bloodstocks Stallions Total

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

F#& T F#& T F#& T

At 1 January mn—A—H 9,550 5,864 15,414
Fair value changes NAERE 309 - 309
Decrease due to death S6 T R (644) — (644)
Decrease due to sales $5 & Mo (8,187) (5,664) (13,851)
Decrease due to retirements B & 1% w2 (206) (12) (218)
Exchange realignment b M PR (340) (188) (528)
At 31 December R+ZHA=+—8H 482 482

As at 31 December 2023
R-ZE-=%+=-A=+—H

Bloodstocks Stallions Total

MiE S 25 @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET F& T F&ET

At 1 January n—HA—H 45,407 11,386 56,793

Increase due to natural B 28 18 0 m 25 i

increase 2,026 — 2,026
Fair value changes NI (9,003) (502) (9,505)
Decrease due to death & 3t T i L (1,169) — (1,169)
Decrease due to sales 8 & R 2 (26,339) (5,000) (31,339)
Decrease due to retirement RGO A (1,148) — (1,148)
Exchange realignment I H 5 B (224) (20) (244)

At 31 December w+=—A=+—8 9,550 5,864 15,414
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z _F - F+ A=+ —HIFZE

23.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)
Financial risk management strategies

Biological assets are exposed to domestic, disease
and other natural risks. The Group engages an external
veterinarian hospital to provide professional veterinarian
services to the Group’s biological assets to minimise the
risk and to take care the health of horses. Depending
on the emergency, the veterinarian arrives at the farm
around 10-45 minutes, or the Group delivers the
biological assets to veterinarian hospital within 15-30
minutes. As at 31 December 2024, the biological
insurance coverage for 1 (2023: 39) bloodstock and nil
(2023: 7) stallions are approximately HK$530,000 and
nil (2023: HK$20,358,000 and HK$9,141,000), which
covered 110% (2023: 213.2%) of bloodstocks and nil
(2023: 155.9%) of stallions book value respectively.
In the opinion of management, the above policies are
effective and sufficient against the financial risk arising
from bloodstocks and stallion. There is no restriction on
the title of bloodstocks owned by the Group and there
is no commitment for acquiring biological assets at the
end of reporting period. The management is regularly
reviewing the portfolio of biological assets to maximise
the return.

The fair value of the biological assets are measured at
the reporting date on a recurring basis, categorised into
level 3 fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair
Value Measurement ("HKFRS 13"). The level into which
a fair value measurement is classified in determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the
inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

23. EYEE(E)
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23.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)
The qualification of valuer

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the
Group's bloodstocks were independently valued by Magic
Millions Sales Pty Limited (“Magic Millions”), which is
a leading bloodstock sales company in Australia, a major
market place and key actor of the global horse economy.
The professional valuer in charge of this valuation
is Mr. Clint Donovan, Bloodstock Manager of Magic
Millions, who has appropriate qualification and relevant
experiences in various appraisal assignments involving
biological assets and has worked in the industry of
thoroughbred bloodstock and provides regular bloodstock
valuations in Australia. In addition, this valuation report
has been consulted with the following experts:

— Dane Robinson (Magic Millions’ Bloodstock Manager)

— James DAWSON (Magic Millions’ Bloodstock Consultant)

— Georgia Everingham (Magic Millions’ Bloodstock

Consultant)

—  Nicky WONG (Magic Millions" Bloodstock Consultant)

— James Hetherington (Magic Millions’ Bloodstock
Consultant)
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23.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)
The qualification of valuer (Continued)

All experts are full time members of the bloodstock
department of Magic Millions and members of the
Federation of Bloodstock Agents Australia Limited. Magic
Millions, through its experts, has conducted a number
of yearly stock valuations for major global and domestic
bloodstock entities.

The valuation methodologies adopted are consistent
with those described in accounting standards HKAS 41
Agriculture and HKFRS 13.

Based on the above qualification, history and various
experiences of Magic Millions, the Directors are of the
view that Magic Millions is competent to determine the
fair value of the Group’s bloodstocks and stallions.

Bloodstocks
Valuation methodology of bloodstocks

In the process of valuing the biological assets, Magic
Millions has taken into consideration the nature and
specialty of the above bloodstocks and considered
that the market approach would be appropriate and
reasonable in the valuation of the fair value less costs
to sell of the bloodstocks by making reference to the
requirement of HKAS 41 and HKFRS 13.

23. EYEE(E)
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23.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)
Bloodstocks (Continued)

Valuation methodology of bloodstocks
(Continued)

The valuations are arrived at based on market approach
to estimate the fair market value of the biological assets.
In determining the fair market value, the valuer has
had regard to the price that a buyer could reasonably
expected to pay and a seller could reasonably be
expected to accept if the assets were exposed for sales
on the open market for a reasonable period of time with
both buyer and seller being in possession of the pertinent
facts and neither being under nor compulsion to act.

Where available, publicly observable information has
been used to the maximum extent possible in deriving
valuations. In the absence of such information, or where
such observable information is believed not to derive a
fair value measurement at measurement date, the valuer
has adopted valuation techniques with inputs that valuer
believes are reasonably based.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

23. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued) 23. £ EEE)

Bloodstocks (Continued)

Valuation methodology of bloodstocks
(Continued)

With respect to the valuation of horses, the valuer
adopted a stand-alone basis of valuation. In this regard,
each horse is valued having regard to the price that the
horse could be realised for at auction less the costs of
disposal. Such valuations are determined by considering
large number of qualitative and quantitative factors which
including:

1. The economic outlook in general and the condition
and outlook of the specific industry in particular.

2. The nature of the asset.

3. The earning capacity of an asset.

4. The residual value for breeding of an asset.

5. The age of the asset.

6. The market price of in the same or a similar line
of business having their stocks actively traded in a

free and open market.

74 Based on circumstances unique, additional factors
have been considered.

These factors vary for each valuation which depend
on the unique circumstances of the general economic
conditions that exist at the effective date of the valuation.

In the rare event that a market based value cannot
be derived, initial cost of acquisition may be used to
approximate fair value, particularly where the horse was
acquired within the past year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

23.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)
Bloodstocks (Continued)

Valuation technique and major inputs
Breeding Stock

Valuation of broodmares takes into account the age of
the individual, its race records and its cover status, if
applicable and its progeny record, both commercially and
on the track. Magic Millions took into account as well the
last price it was sold for in the scenario the individual had
been exposed to a public market in recent years, and to
compare this profile to a similar profile that went through
public auction in the past year.

Weanlings and Foals

Valuation of weanlings and foals take into account the
assessment of market trends, the depth of the pedigree
of the individual (i.e. the black type performances
through the female line), the race record and the age of
the first dam, and the progeny record of the first dam, if
applicable, as well as the stallion’s commercial trends.

Yearlings

Valuation of yearlings takes into account the assessment
of market trends, the depth of the pedigree of the
individual (i.e., the black type performances through the
female line), the race record and the age of the first dam,
and the progeny record of the first dam, if applicable, as
well as the stallion’'s commercial trends.

Racing Stock

Valuation of racing stock takes into account the
assessment of market trends, the race record of
the individual and his/her breeding residual value, if
applicable. In the scenario the individual is still at a young
age and hasn’t been exposed to races or trials, Magic
Millions performed their valuation based on the public
auction price at the yearling stage, or an assessment of
the value the individual would have possibly made if he/
she was exposed to a public market at the yearling stage.
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23.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)
Bloodstocks (Continued)

Valuation technique and major inputs (Continued)
Racing Stock (Continued)

As the valuation results of bloodstocks are subjective
based on the experiences of Magic Millions and current
market conditions which are unable to be quantitatively
measured, accordingly, the Directors consider that no
sensitivity analysis should be presented.

Stallions
Valuation methodology of stallions

In 2023, the fair value of each stallion was individually
determined at the end of the reporting period based
on an income approach. The valuation used revenue
projections based on historical service fees income of
the stallions and also took into account the stallion’s prior
activity, his age, his average live foal ratio, his progeny
racetrack and sales results. In 2023, the Directors relied
on the valuation performed by an independent valuer
which covered a two to three years period depending on
the age of the stallions to determine a value and pre-tax
discount rate of 5.6% per annum.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the shareholding
applied to stallions of the Group range from 2% to 33%.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on reasonably possible changes of the respective
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period,
while holding all other assumptions constant.
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EMRETEROSEMEST -

BE
BEMAERZE

RZE_=ZF SrLEEMNARERE
MEBRBEBERAZEBRET - I
BREBESNESRE B AGS AR
ATER - WEEEESATEES -
FHR - $ﬁ%%%m W EEBME
ER/RE WN-ZTE-_ZF EFRBEE
S H (B B 1T mm@ BRIEESH
FlRETWE =ZF/HE A8,
RERBTFL56% o

HE_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HBLHF
B AEEESHMEBNEFRKRLL D
N F2%ZE33% °

TXZBREREDIWDEMRAE HiBR

BTENERT BHRBEHFRE
AMARBRA D EE B RS -
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23. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (Continued)

Stallions (Continued)
Valuation methodology of stallions (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, if the service fee is 10% higher
or lower, the fair value of the stallions would increase
approximately AUD106,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$568,000) or decrease approximately AUD106,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$568,000) respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, if the useful live is increase
or decrease by 1 year, the fair value of the stallions
would increase approximately AUD377,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,017,000) or decrease approximately
AUD371,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,985,000)
respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, if the average live foal ratio
is 10% higher or lower, the fair value of the stallions
would increase approximately AUD106,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$568,000) or decrease approximately
AUD106,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$568,000)
respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, if the fertility percentage
is 10% higher or lower, the fair value of the stallions
would increase approximately AUD127,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$680,000) or decrease approximately
AUD127,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$680,000)
respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, if the discount rate is 10%
higher or lower, the fair value of the stallions would
decrease approximately AUDS8,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$43,000) or increase approximately
AUDS8,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$43,000)
respectively.

HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT
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R-_ZE-_=ZF+=-_A=+—8" f§d
ﬁmi%WMﬁﬁm*E B 5

N FEA D BIE AN #377,00058 7T (48
B W 492,017,000 JT) 0 3k A A 4
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F 1505 5 B kL 38 opn sk R 210% 0 TE
BH R REK D R N 4106,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at FVTPL:

Unlisted equity investment,

BAnEFARS

24. BAREBEFABEZZEREE

ZEREE:

BAREFENRETEAR

at fair value (note a) % & (Kfita)
Life insurance policy, at fair value BEAABHENSRRE
(note b) (M #b)
Notes: W2
(a) The unlisted equity investment represented the Group's equity (a)
investment in a private entity established in Australia. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, fair value losses on financial
assets at FVTPL of HK$60,000 on the unlisted equity investment
have been recognised in profit or loss.
(b) On 25 January 2016, the Group entered into a life insurance policy (b)

with an insurance company to insure an executive director. Under
the policy, the Group is the beneficiary and the policy holder. The
Group paid upfront premiums for the policy and might surrender
the policy any time by making a written request and would
receive cash based on the surrender value of the policy at the
date of withdrawal, which would be calculated by the insurer. The
Directors are of the opinion that the surrender value of the policy
provided by the insurance company is the best approximation of
its fair value, which is categorised within Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. The life insurance policy was mandatorily classified as a
financial asset at fair value through profit or loss as its contractual
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest.

As at 31 December 2023, in opinion of the Directors, the Group's
life insurance policy would not be surrendered within the next 12
months and was therefore classified as a non-current asset.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's life insurance policy is
classified as held for sale and included in line item of “Assets
classified as held for sale” on the consolidated statement of

financial position (see Note 11).

2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
5,226

5,226

FLETRAREREBAEER —HBERK
MERIZREERBOREAKRE - B
E_ET-_ZF+_-_AZ+—BHLEE"
BRARBHFABRZZE2REEBIEYD
60,0008 TERIEZFER -

RZE—AF—A=-+HA A%£EH
—BRBAFRTISBRARE  R—E#H
TEERR -BRERE AEEARRH
ARREHBAEA - AEHEBNRE -
HAEBRREBMARBEHER - RIR
BRENEERHNERRSE(H AR
AFFEIKRRA S - BERR RBRA
ARENRERREFEEEQIAERE -
VTHERAAEBERE=R -FBRRE
KRt P>ERARAABEMABEZZSR
BE RARHANREREYLIIFER
RS RFA -

RZFE-Z=F+=-A=+—H EER
BOAKEBEART-_BEARTEERSE
RIRE ANBEBRAAIRDEE -

R-ZF-_NME+=-_A=1+—HB 4H5H
NERRESBEARFELE WAL
é%%#ﬁifﬁﬁhﬁﬁ%mﬁéJ
BA(RMF1) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR (E)

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2024 & Z_-ZF _—WF+-H=+—HIFFEZF
25. INVENTORIES 25. 78
2024 2023
—E_ME —_EFEq-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE& T F&ET
Raw materials R A4 841
Work in progress R 1,426
Finished goods B & 3,513
5,780
26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES FEU 3R 5018 & H fth FE UL IR
2024 2023
—E-NF S S
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Violza FE& T F&ET
Trade receivables: EWXSHE:
Contract with customers BEEAY 11,164 8,019
Less: Allowance for credit B EEBBREE
losses (179) (424)
(a) 10,985 7,595
Other receivables: H{th fE R FRIE -
Other prepayments H fth 8 7 5k 18 1,678
Loan to a vendor M e E R (b) 1,400
Deposits and other receivables 1% & & H b & U 3k 18 19,291
Amount due from a director Bk — R EEFERIE s
22,369
Less: Allowance for credit B EEEBERG
losses (10,194)
12,175
As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts RZTEZ=F—A—H BFAHE

Wx%mﬁﬁﬁ%]%@m%ﬁ'm
b= B B 18 B 5 49758,0008 7T °

with customers approximately to HK$16,760,000 net of
allowance for credit losses of approximately HK$758,000.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z _F - F+ A=+ —HIFZE

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes:

a)

b)

The followings is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of
allowance for credit losses presented bases on the invoice dates.

Within 1 month — @A
1 to 2 months —ZmEA
2 to 3 months ME=M@A
Over 3 months Bim =18 A

26. EWR ST

(&)
5

a)

As at 31 December 2024,
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$5,008,000 (2023: approximately
HK$5,963,000) which are past due as at the reporting date.

included in the Group's trade

Out of the past due balances, approximately HK$3,867,000 (2023:
approximately HK$3,140,000) has been past due 90 days or
more and is not considered as in default. The Directors are in the
view that there has been no significant increase in credit risk nor
default based on the historical record and creditworthiness of the
debtors.

As at 31 December 2023, loan to a vendor bear interest at rates
5.00% per annum, secured by certain machineries of the vendor
and repayable in one year with demand clause.

On 1 July 2024, the vendor was seized by the court, the Directors
are of opinion that there is no realistic prospect to recover the
loan to the vendor and considered to written-off the loan to
the vendor. Loss on written-off of loan to the vendor and other
receivables amounted to approximately RMB575,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$623,000) and RMB7,688,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$8,324,000) was recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables
are set out in Note 36(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

b)

RIE B E Aty FE WK TE

=R %éxaaﬁiﬁmﬁwﬁzx% X B (B
NMBREEEBREBE NERIWHOT :
2024 2023
11 S —E-=%
HK$’000 HK$'000
THExT FHT
5,977 1,632
621 1,075
422 1,720
3,965 3,168
10,985 7595

—

T-_ME+=-_ABA=Z+—H' &
SEEKRXSIARBELEBBERE S
B #5,008,000 T(Z T = = F: 4
5,963,000/ 7o) K FE R BR 3 W& A
@ .

BH S E R £3,867,00008 (= F
= = 4 : 493,140,000/8 JT) # HH90H =
LNE BEERAEEN -EERAE B
REBANELLERERE  EER
==§k@f<ﬁj[ﬂj<maiﬁbue

R-B-_=Ff+-A=t+—8B RAHE

W ERIREF5.00% 8 M R 8 LAH
EREETHSERER LARERKE
AR —FRNEE-

RZBE-_MFLA—B  HEFREK

EH EERR/AHEERTRDERYE

EEMRATAL > 3B B R R
MEXR BE_FT-_WNFF+-_A=+—

BIEFE - B RME WM ERERH
EFRREMERFTEZEBHOARE
575,0007T (48 & 7 49623,0007% Jt) & A
R 7,688,000t (18 & M #8,324,000/%
JT) °

F%‘%Z?&%&Em%ﬂlﬁﬂﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁ’lﬁ
WA AR & B 5 $R K I 5E36(b)

\NTI:I

Es
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

re IS R M R (88)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_ZF - WF+ A=+ —HIFZE

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c) The amount due from a director is unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed terms of repayment.

26. R ZFIA R EAth UK
(&)

Baz: (%)

() BU—FZEZTHEREER 2ERE
B &R -

Maximum
amount
outstanding

during the
year ended 2023

HEE#

FEREE
BEme —E-MmfF —E=-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FE T FHET
Amount due from Mr. Leung Tat Chi PR R E R L AR 736 b

27. CONTRACT ASSETS 27. ERNEE
2024 2023
—E_mF el e

HK$°000 HK$'000
F&T FAET
Contract assets BHEE 7,307 7,832
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEBBEEE (58) (77)
7,249 7,755

The contract assets are primarily related to the Group's
right to consideration for work completed and not billed
because the rights are conditioned on the Group's future
performance. The contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B BEHRERI T (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z _F - F+ A=+ —HIFZE

mm

27. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 27. AHEE (&)
Interior design and decoration ERRHREE
The Group’s interior design and decoration contracts REBWNETARAREELSLBIE
include payment schedules which require stage ﬁ BlE EkRA8ERESD

payments over the contracts period once certain

ETHEERBEIHNR - A&

specified milestones are reached. The Group requires BERXEFEEEHENTREY S
certain customers to provide upfront deposits which ¥10% 230% W AT HiE & e H =
range from 10% to 30% of total contract sum as part of BERBTEREN D BAE
its credit risk management policies. The contract assets ERSEREPHEMNTIHER kA

are transferred to trade receivables when the Group
obtains the certification of the completed works from
the customers or when the Group is entitled to issue
invoices for the completed work to the customers.

The Group also typically agrees to a retention period
ranging from 1 month to 1 year for 5% to 10% of the
contract value. This amount is included in contract assets
until the end of the retention period as the Group’s
entitlement to this final payment is unconditional on the
expiry date of the retention period.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current
because the Group expects to realise them in its normal
operating cycle.

Details of impairment assessment of contract assets
are set out in Note 36(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUEZTKIREATFRAAZERR
RRHEEREZRIZZHEA -

AEBE—RIABERFHN T —@E
RE—F  BAYNELBEHN%E10% °
ZEHEAAGNEEEZREBLLE

RE R AN E B &R A
FIERNREHEMBBAAIESR -

TEBBZEENEENEA/RD
BE REARAKEERHNELEER
LERPRNERZEEE -

2 4 B LB BT 5 S
B 7% 45 % MY £ 36(0) ©

HNEA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RMEE)

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2024 & Z_-ZF _—WF+-H=+—HIFFEZF

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 28. BERBREEEY
Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of meeting AR mEASE SRR RKENIR
the Group’s short term cash commitments, which carry ERBEEFEEY  ENT0%E0.25%
interest at market rates range from 0% to 0.25% (2023: T ZF:0%20.79%) K T 5 F
0% to 0.79%). EEE
Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following FMERSRBITHEBTDUNUTER
currencies: wHE:
2024 2023
—E-OE BRSNS
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Denominated in — RMB NAR®E A 214
Denominated in — HK$ LA TR E 3,851
Denominated in — AUD AR T EHE 58
4,123
Included in cash and cash equivalents are the following RehBeEEYWRENLNTIZIINE
amounts which are subject to foreign exchange control EHROERETTEREZEN SR
regulations and are not freely transferable:
2024 2023
—E-NEF T TS,
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Amounts denominated in RMB ARG ERFKIA 214
Details of impairment assessment of bank balances RITEHBRETHFEHREES N
are set out in Note 36(b) to consolidated financial 7% 2R & M 5E36(b) °
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

29. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND 29, B X558 - HMENZER

ACCRUALS WLt
2024 2023
—E-NEF —_EF-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
T % T FHET
Trade payables EfX5RE
— from third parties — RBE=ZFRAE
(Note a) (Kt ita) 12,857
Other payables and accruals HtEARERESEA
Contract liabilities (Note b) aRAaE M ZD) 4,171
Other payables and accruals HiENREREFTER
(Note ¢, d and e) (Bt itc ~ dfe) 5,228
Amounts due to directors (Note f) FETZE H 5 IE (M i) —
Total other payables Hfth fE T 5/ 18
and accruals JEtERBRE 9,399
Notes: i -
a) An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of each a) RERETHR BENXHFREERRS
reporting period, based on the transaction date, is as follows: AHMERRITAT
2024 2023
—E-OmEF —T-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHT FHET
Within 1 month TRr—@A 3,853
1 to 2 months —ZmEA 1,022
2 to 3 months ME=EA 2,143
Over 3 months HwiA=MEA 5,839
12,857
The credit period in purchase of goods is generally from one to BEERZEEHRER—Z2=ZEA -

three months.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR (E)

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2024 #HE-—F-—[FE A=A =+ —HIFFE

29. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND 29. BNXRZFIE  HENRER

ACCRUALS (Continued) PESHE R (&)
Notes: (Continued) Htit - ()
b) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: b) EHABEHBOT:
2024 2023
—E-MmEF = e dcd
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FH& T
Interior design and decoration EANRETREE 740
Manufacture and selling of sewing threads BOGREERBE 3,431
4171
As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to RZTE-_=F—A—RH AHNAGBEHEH
approximately HK$161,000. #9/5161,00058 7T °

Manufacture

Interior and selling

design and of sewing
decoration threads Total

ZERRTR HRABREER
1 HE st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000

THER THERX THER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ_-T - F
+=A=+-HLEE
Revenue recognised that was included MREVHAADAEBEEHD
in the contract liabilities balance at B 7 3R UK =
the beginning of the year

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ_Z - =4
+—A=+—HBLEE
Revenue recognised that was included REVHAADEBEEHH

in the contract liabilities b balance at B 3R U =

the beginning of the year 133 28 161
Typical payment terms which impacted the amount of contract FEEHMRENABESEN — BRI KK
liabilities recognised are as follows: M
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z _F - F+ A=+ —HIFZE

29. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS (Continued)

Notes. (Continued)

b)

e)

(Continued)

Interior design and decoration

When the Group receives a deposit before the interior design
and decoration services commence, this will give rise to contract
liabilities at the start of a contract, until the amount of revenue
recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of
the deposit. The Group typically receives a 10% to 30% of the
contract amount as deposit before construction work commences.

Sewing threads and garments

When the Group receives a deposit before the production activity
commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of
a contract, until the amount of revenue recognised on the relevant
contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the significant increase
in contract liabilities was mainly, because certain number of
contracts with approximately of HK$4,133,000 were signed with
customers closed to the end of the reporting date which resulted
in an increase in contract liabilities of HK$4,010,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the significant decrease
in contract liabilities was mainly because the contract liabilities
for sewing threads and garments accounted to approximately
HK$3,189,000 were transferred to liabilities associated with
assets classified as held for sale.

As at 31 December 2024, included in other payables is the
amount due to a related company of HK$134,000 (2023:
HK$114,000).

As at 31 December 2024, approximately HK$1,812,000 (2023:
approximately HK$1,540,000) represented the accrued salaries.

As at 31 December 2024, approximately HK$2,824,000 (2023:
approximately HK$493,000) represented the interest payable on
placing notes (Note 30(b), (c) and (d)).

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

29. ERRZXN

HBARER

@—rﬁﬁﬁ(nﬁ

Hiat: (%)

b)

d)

f)

EREBRERLZFTRESRSFSAT
WEESE  EERANHBEREES
HAaBE BEEREBGOBRINKES
HRBRESSEAL - AEEAER
BEIEHBRAMKREHNSENIONE
0% tEARE R -

BRI RE

g %@Kiééﬁﬁ%w%ﬂ&%h'
HEREOHABBELEEDNAR

FLIA RS TR A I = %ﬁtﬂﬁ%%
BRI -

N
i

BE-_Z-_=F#+-_A=+—HILt&EE -

EHEBBERABENEZRHENBRSHR

ﬁ%ﬁuJE¥éﬁmMmpm%i'
BHEMHAEENMNE010,0008 T °

BHE-FT-_MWF+=-A=1+—HLFE -
EHEERBERIEEZANEDE R
HAHBELN3189,000/8 THE S HES
BRABELEEAERENARE -

R-ZETE-_WE+-_A=+—H  H#p
ENREREEN —BHEEARKE

134,000 7L (= T = = & :114,000/8
JT)°
R-ZZ-WFE+=-A=+—H 1,812,000

Br(ZF=
EstE & -

= : 491,540,000 7T) 35

M-Z-mE+=-/F=+—8 - 2,824,000
B (ZZE = =F : 4493,000% 7T) E 5
Bt & == 4 fE 1 /9 FI 2 (KT 5E30(b) ~ (o) &
(d)) ©

e

Z%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ 2B RARERE

°

Ak
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

re IS R M R (88)

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2024 #HE-—F-—[FE A=A =+ —HIFFE

30. BORROWINGS

30. &

2024 2023
—E-_mF ==

HK$'000 HK$'000

T T F& T

Bank loans — unsecured RITE R—EIKE 1,973

Loan from shareholders — unsecured % BB R — K I 5,280
Loan from a related company RKE—HBEEQRMNER

— unsecured — 5,046

Other borrowings — secured HithfEm—AFEKIHR 14,500 21,146

22,610 33,445

The carrying amounts of the above borrowings are L EREAEREBEANEER D

analysed based on contractual repayment date as i U N
follows:
Loan from shareholders and
a related company and
Bank loans other borrowings
RERRR-—EHEARN
BITER EXNRHMER

2023 2024 2023
“Eoch el —F_=%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TER TEL

The carrying amounts of the above il HHFEEE R

borrowings are repayable BE

— Within one year ——FR/

— Within a period of more than — SR —FET%
one year but not exceeding RMEBREA
two years

The carrying amounts of above LB ERERER
borrowings that contain a EHRRTEAE
repayment on demand clause BR3R)BAR

{shown under current liabilities) ENEXMERD

but repayable: 1A

— Within one year —— %R/

Less: Amounts due within one R RBEREBE T
year shown under current N —F N 8

liabilities t 5 08 (31,472)

(1,973)

Amounts shown under non-current R IERE & EE T 5
liabilities THRE
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z _F - F+ A=+ —HIFZE

30. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Bank loans

The bank loans are at floating interest rates that are market
dependent and the carrying amounts approximate the fair values.
The range of interest rates for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023 are as follows:

30. (&)

g

(a)

Bank loan, unsecured

RITER - EEA

All the interest-bearing bank borrowings were repayable on
demand as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. As at
31 December 2024, the Group's bank loan is classified as held
for sale and included in line item of “Liabilities associated with
assets classified as held for sale” on the consolidated statement

of financial position (see Note 11).

The effective interest rate on the Group's bank borrowings as at
31 December 2024 are ranged from 3.75% to 3.85% per annum
(2023: 3.85% per annum).

FITER
BITERZRIORR TS ZB A RS
HEEERAAERE HEZT-MN

F+-A=+—BR-F-=%+=5
SH-BLFEHFEREDT

2024 2023
—E-lmEF —T==
LPR+0.3% LPR+0.3%

R-ZZB_WE+_A=+-—HRZ-%
=SEEar= )5]—+—EI FrA st B RTT
EBREARERKEE R-F-_OF+=

A=+—B A&BENBRTERIESL
BELE Tt AGREMBERRKRIA
DEABIFHELERBNEREIEE (R
Bt EE11) ©

Eé:;:@i-}——ﬂ:-f——ﬁ rEH

RRITERNBERE R LN F376% =
3.86% (ZE - =% :§%3.85%) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_ZF - WF+ A=+ —HIFZE

30. BORROWINGS (Continued) . BER(E)
Notes: (Continued) HiaE: (&)
(b) Loan from shareholders (b) % RE &

The Group entered into three loan agreements with two
shareholders respectively (“Loan agreement A, B & C") as

AEBESHEMERRIZAT=ZNE
R ((ERMBHA - BRC]) ¢

follow:
Loan agreement A Loan agreement B Loan agreement C
ERHHEA ERHEB ERHHEC
(Notes (a), (b), (c)) (Note (b))
(K& (a) - (b) ~ (c) (B £ (b))
Agreement date EL=E: 17 November 2022 25 June 2024 25 June 2024
—E-C —E-mE ZE-mE
+_)EH’JCE| /\E,JrﬁEl /\HfﬂﬁEl
Facilities — Maximum amount BE—5EeE HK$15,000,000 HK$2,500,000 HK$380,000
15,000,000 7T 2,500,0007% 7T 380,0007% T
Date of Maturity 3 8A 16 November 2026 1 January 2026 1 January 2026
T RE —E-A~E-8—H —E-R"E—-R—R
+—R+AAH
Interest rate P 10% 5% Interest-free
%8
Outstanding balance as at RZE-_ME+-A=1+—H HK$5,230,000 HK$2,500,000 HK$380,000
31 December 2024 AEENHE 5,230,000/ 7T 2,500,000/ 7T 380,000/ 7T
Outstanding balance as at RZZZ=F+=-A=+—8 HK$5,280,000 — —
31 December 2023 REENHE 5,280,000 T
Maximum outstanding balance FRREENESHE HK$6,450,000 HK$2,500,000 HK$380,000
during the year 6,450,0007% T 2,500,0007% 7T 380,0007% 7T
(a) On 17 February 2023, the Group entered into a (a) RZZTE-Z=F=ZRA++tH &%
supplementary agreement with the shareholder to increase BEREREITIHTBZE KB
the loan facilities amount for Loan agreement A from EXHBZANEBERIMESE A
HK$8,000,000 to HK$15,000,000. 8,000,0007% 7T ¥ 1 215,000,000
P IT ©
On 17 November 2023, the Group entered into the second RZEZ=%+—A+t8 - $§
supplementary agreement with the shareholder to extend HRRITLE—DEERE
the Loan agreement B to 15 November 2024 with interest BERBZEBERE-_ZT_/N @
of 10% per annum. +—A+HEAB - EFHMEI0%E
g
(b) On 25 June 2024, a shareholder of the Group had signed (b) RZEBE-_NMFEXA=Z+TEHAB &%
a deed of assignment (“Loan C") in relation to assign the — AR REEBERZE(E
receivable with aggregate amount of HK$380,000 from HC)) "NABABERS—ERESH
Loan A to another shareholder. ® E A4 EE /A380,0007 T K FE
WskE -
(c) On 17 November 2024, the Group entered into (c) RZE-_WMF+—A+tB - 23»‘%
supplementary agreement to make the available to the Bz i%ﬁﬁ:ﬁz’a # MR EIREME

shareholder facility and extend the repayment of loan and
interest to 16 November 2026.

All borrowings from shareholders are unsecured and denominated
in HK$.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z _F - F+ A=+ —HIFZE

30. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

HiaE -
Loan from a related company (c)
The Group entered into a loan agreement with a related company
(“Loan agreement D") as follow:

. FER(&)

(%)

’E— MR EAREER
AEHE-FBEERARTLATERR
@ (ERmBZHEDD) :

Loan agreement D

B #ED

1 % B 4
ME—&B&5EH

Date of Maturity 2 H A

Agreement date

Facilities — Maximum amount

Interest rate | &

31 May 2023
=R A=+—H
HK$6,000,000
6,000,000/ 7T

30 May 2024
—E-_WFRA=TH
Interest-free

SN

Outstanding balance as at 31 December 2024
Outstanding balance as at 31 December 2023

Maximum outstanding balance during the year

HK$5,046,000

Loan from a related company is unsecured and denominated in
HKS.

Other borrowings (d)

The Group entered into three loan agreements with independent
third parties (“Loan agreement E, F & G") as follows:

5,046,000/ JT
HK$5,046,000
5,046,000/ JT
RE—BHEEARNERAEERRIU
PEILETE °
H b 8K

AEBERBIE=ZFITLAT=MH
% (&R HE - FRG)) :

Loan agreement E

Loan agreement F

Loan agreement G

ERHEE ERBEF EXHEG
Agreement date wERH 30 June 2022 13 September 2022 27 December 2023
“Z-Z5XAZ1A “EZZENATER “ZE+-Azt+A
Facilities — Maximum amount BE—5R%E HK$15,000,000 HK$3,292,000 HK$14,500,000
15,000,000 7T 3,292,000% 7T 14,500,000 7T
Date of Maturity 3EA 29 June 2024 12 September 2024 19 June 2026
“E-WERAZTAA “E-_mEAATZA —E-AEXATAR
Interest rate Fil= 24% 10% 12%
Outstanding balance as at 31 December 2024 ® 2 = F+ZA=+-B% — - HK$14,500,000
14,500,000 7T
Outstanding balance as at 31 December 2023 HK$7500,000 HK$1,646,000 HK$12,000,000
& 7500,000% 7T 1,646,000 1 12,000,000 7T
Maximum outstanding balance during the year EW%T’"LE’JE&H%‘@E HK$7500,000 HK$1,646,000 HK$14,500,000
7500,0007% 7T 1,646,000 1T 14,500,000 7T

Loan agreement E matured on 29 June 2023, the Company repaid BEXBEEER —Z=FXA=+h

approximately HK$7,500,000 to the lender and the Company

entered into a supplementary agreement with the lender on 29

June 2023 to extend the outstanding borrowing of approximately
HK$7,500,000 to 29 June 2024. The loan was secured by all
bloodstocks and with interest of 24% per annum. During the year

ended 31 December 2024, the Company have settled the entire

amount.

i ﬂi"TEﬁ%

AN EE D

7,500,000/%75 CMARRBERZT =
FRAZTNABRERATLI—HH T
& - A KB E B 547,500,000 7T

EREZ

TZ_WMEXA=Z+HNB-%ZE

FA PR A L TE 5 15 4K 90 0 12 F 7 £ 24%

AR -BEZTE-_ME+-_A=+—H

#EEEEHKE -

LEE ARAD
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

30. BORROWINGS (Continued) . fBER(E&)

Notes: (Continued) HtaE - (48)

(d)  Other borrowings (Continued) (d) HihfEx (&)

Loan agreement F matured on 12 September 2023, the Company EXRWEF ZE-=FNA+=8%3

repaid approximately HK$1,646,000 to the lender and the |- R N/N —IEHQ A8 i 491,646,000

Company entered into a supplementary agreement with the lender BT MARRARZZEZ=FNLA+=

on 12 September 2023 to extend the outstanding borrowing of AHEEBERATUATHEUNCRRESR

approximately HK$1,646,000 to 12 September 2024. The loan & 3 491,646,000 2 _F - Fh A

was secured by a stallion with interest of 10% per annum. During +TZH-ZEFBACESER EF

the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company settled the MEI0%R -BE-_ZT-_NF+=A

entire amount. =+ —BILEFE ARARBHEFEZHK
g .

At 31 December 2023, Loan agreement E was secured by all R-ZF-_=F+=—A=+—8" ' BX#®

bloodstocks with carrying amount of approximately HK$7,550,000 % E LA BR T E 497,550,000 7T 09 AT & 48

and Loan agreement F are secured a stallion with carrying amount BEEER MERBEFAREAELD

of approximately HK$3,990,000. 3,990,000 o) — L 78 FEHE I -

Loan agreement G is secured by directors’ personal guarantees. RBBECUAEFTEAERMEERR -

On 20 December 2024, the lender agreed to extend Loan G and RZFE-MF+=ZA=+tH  EXAR

accrued interest for 18 months. ERERGREFFNSERISMEA -

All borrowings are denominated in HK$. FTAEREABE T E -

(e)  The management believes that the unutilised facilities from Loan (e) EEEMEGE BEXBBARCHORS AR
agreement A and C amounted to approximately HK$9,770,000 and & Bl 4 59,770,000 7T 12,420,000
HK$2,420,000 respectively can be drawn at any time in according to B IRBHEGABERER - X
the terms of the agreements for supporting the Group's operation. BAEERNEE -

31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. HEEE
Lease liabilities payable: ENAHEERE:
2024 2023
—E-MEF TR o
HK$'000 HK$'000
T & T FHET
Within one year —F R 393 1,046
Within a period of more than one year ZR—FBRTRZRME
but not exceeding two years BRA 265 896
As at 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 658 1,942
Less: Amount due for settlement within & : M12E AR 2 B4 &
12 months shown under current MRE Y ARBAR
liabilities (393) (1,046)
Amount due for settlement after 12 1218 A 1% B Bl 4 B Y
months shown under non-current FIE - ARIERBAR
liabilities 896
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

31.

LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)
Lease liabilities payable: (Continued)

The incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities
recognised under HKFRS 16 ranged from 6.49% to
6.67% per annum (2023: 6.49% to 7.41% per annum).

The Group as a lessor

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, the
Group subleased certain buildings in the PRC and leased
investment properties in Hong Kong under operating
lease arrangement, of which the remaining lease term
was two years. The terms of the lease generally required
the tenants to pay security deposits and provided
for periodic rent adjustments according to the then
prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised
by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
was approximately HK$84,000 (2023: approximately
HK$691,000), details of which are included in Note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the undiscounted lease
payments receivable by the Group in future periods under
operating lease with its tenant are as follows:

Within one year —F R
Within a period of more than one year

but not exceeding two years

HE A

ZR—FETZ

31.

INTGE

HESE®E
ENHRERE: (&)

ARBIER BN KRS ER
ﬁﬁ I WEHEEGEZBE ERA X
N FHF6.49% £6.67% (T = =
F E8F6.49%%7.41%) °

REBEESEHEA

BE-_Z-_=Fk-_F-_NMF+=A
Sor= Eiif-$%§ﬂ%m%ﬁ
ELHERAETURTPEMNEFTT
BEEAKEDENRETELA  H
BAEHAERNFE HEKK—REXK
HAEINREFSEBEERMRT
HRAEHE: AEEREBEE-_ZT N
F+-_A=+— Etiﬁﬁmmm%
W A 4 584,000 T (Z T = =F:

AN

#1691,000/8 7T) » FEBHER N RS
WA ET -
R-ZFE_NER-_F-_=F1+-A

_+ E AREE R KRB R B KL
EHEMERAFRPFERNANRAEE
BT

2024 2023
—E_mF —ET-=

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T FET

279

84

363
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. BA&
Number of shares Amount
gkt £
Ordinary shares HK$'000
LER FEL
Authorised: BE:
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and W-E-=FE-B-H - —E-=4+-R
31 December 2024 at HK0.05 each “+-BR-E-mE+-B=t+-8
Fi%0.05% T 1,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: EEARAR:
t 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 W_E-=F-A-B —Z-=Zf+ZHA
and 31 December 2024 ST-ARZBZME+ZAZt+-H 409,141,860 20,457

33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTION

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Old
Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’'s operations.
Eligible participants of the Scheme include Directors,
(including independent non-executive directors), other
employees of the Group, suppliers of goods or services
to the Group, customers of the Group and the Company’s
shareholders in the Company’s subsidiaries. The Scheme
became effective on 24 November 2017 and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended would remain in force
for 10 years from that date.

On 8 February 2023, the Company resolved to adopt
the new share option scheme (“New Share Option
Scheme”) and terminated the Old Share Option Scheme.
The Directors considered that the adoption of the New
Share Option Scheme, which would be valid for 10 years
from the adoption date, would provide the Company
more flexibility in long term planning granting the options
to eligible participants and would also provide appropriate
incentives or rewards to suitable and eligible persons for
their contributions or potential contributions to the Group.
There was no share options granted from the adoption
date and up to the end of the reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 33. UREZ&ENRMA AR S (&)

TRANSACTION (Continued)

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time unless the Company obtains approval
from its shareholders in general meeting and/or other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules and
must not exceed 30% of the total number of shares in
issue from time to time. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant
in the Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to
1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit
is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 7 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.
The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option shall be determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion and in any event, such period shall
not be longer than 10 years from the date upon which
any particular option is granted in accordance with the
New Share Option Scheme.

The subscription price shall be determined solely by the
Directors, but may not be less than the highest of: (i)
the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the
date of grant of the option, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the
nominal value of a share on the date of offer.

The Company, by resolution in a general meeting or the
Directors may at any time terminate the operation of the
New Share Option Scheme. In such event no further
options of the Scheme will be offered but those options
granted prior to such termination shall continue to be
valid and exercisable in accordance with the previous
provisions of the New Share Option Scheme.

BRIEXARTRBRRERRELESHER
Rt ER /SR BFTHZB EWHRIAE
R EMmER ZRREITRER
BREFERLEZ2EZEHMARTER
BKESEEEREETFEFREAR
AIEREREEETRMHDZ210% - B
BHBIHEETROBLE 230%
EAA+—@EAHER - RIERZT
BENAER2EERENBRE
MATEITHESRMEE - HUR
AEIEANKEEEEITRONI% AR -
i B 5 B a R RE A S AR R
BlABERE IR RAIRE RE EH# & o

REFHZEREIRREZAHE
AAEBRBARER MARAEINEHR
TETTZEBARE -REBREAR
EMBEOcHEREZTS2RBGE
RE - BREMAMBRT - ZHEAT
CHBREFTBREAERLEM
BRI B ERR RS+ F -

RBEEEAREFT2RET ETF
BERTIHERSE: WARABENRE
HEREAM(BARLERA)EB A
BRHBERABIETE: (RO
ERRLBRERHMOELERE
B BERERMARFHYHE:
Kl R LB R ER R 2 miE -

ARREBRRARGELBBRABZRERK
EETHEERLTBRESSNE
F-ERHBEATATBERLAE 2
EMERE EZFRUEKLAR
Bz BRERBEFBRESS 2%
AIGRXEEE R RAIITRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_ZF - WF+ A=+ —HIFZE

33.

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTION (Continued)

On 13 May 2021, the Company resolved to grant
3,500,000 share options (“Share Option A”) under
the Old Share Option Scheme to Mr. Ma, an executive
Director, to subscribe for up to 3,500,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.05 each in the share capital of the Company,
subject to acceptance of Mr. Ma.

As at 31 May 2021, the Company has 355,441,860
shares in issue. The total of 3,500,000 shares to be
subscribed under Share Options A granted represented
approximately 0.98% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 13 May 2021 and approximately 0.98%
of the enlarged issued share capital of the Company
assuming full exercise of the Share Options A.

On 3 January 2022, the Company resolved to grant
4,091,418 share options (“Share Option B") under Old
Share Option Scheme to Mr. McGrath, an executive
Director, to subscribe for up to 4,091,418 ordinary shares
of HK$0.05 each in the share capital of the Company,
subject to acceptance of Mr. McGrath.

As at 3 January 2022, the Company has 409,141,860
shares in issue. The total of 4,091,418 shares to be
subscribed under Share Options B granted represented
approximately 1.00% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 3 January 2022 and approximately 0.99%
of the enlarged issued share capital of the Company
assuming full exercise of the Share Options B.

On 31 August 2022, the Company resolved to grant
4,000,000 share options and 4,000,000 share options
(collectively “Share Option C”) under the Old Share
Option Scheme to Mr. Leung and Mr. Ma, two executive
directors respectively, to subscribe for up to 4,000,000
and 4,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each in the
share capital of the Company respectively, subject to
acceptance of Mr. Leung and Mr. Ma.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTION (Continued)

(a)

As at 31 August 2022,

the Company has

(a)

409,141,860 shares in issue. The total of 8,000,000
shares to be subscribed under Share Options C
granted represented approximately 1.96% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 August
2022 and approximately 1.92% of the enlarged
issued share capital of the Company assuming full

exercise of the Share Options C.

Details of share options under the Old Share Option
Scheme and New Share Option Scheme as at 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2024 are as

33. LESSENROINARE (&)

RZF-_—FNA=+—H &
ANAEIE377409,141,860 A& A% 17 °
EREBERECETSETRE
#) A& $£8,000,0000% A% 17 #8 & 1

$QTK_$::¢AHf+—
BB ETIRAL1.96% KA RN
AIMEIE RE BHITRAL1.92%
(BREERECEREITE) -

RZE-_=ZF+-_A=+—8k
—E-_NFE+-_A=+—H8 &
ERErE R EREEE

follows: THERENFBELET:
0ld Share New Share
Option Scheme Option Scheme
ERERETE FERETE
Number of options available for grant under the REZETERLERELE
scheme 16,000,000 40,914,186
Number of options granted as at 31 December RZBZ=f+ZA=+—-HERH
2023 BRESE 15,591,418 -
Percentage of share option granted divided by R-B-=F+-B=+-HERH
weighted average number of Shares issued as BRERISETRDMETH
at 31 December 2023 R ) 3.8% -
Number of shares may be issued in respect of BRZBZ=F+-A=T-RER
share option granted as at 31 December 2023 HERETTFETHRNEE 15,591,418 -
Number of options granted as at 31 December RZBZWE+ZA=+-HRERH
2024 BREXA 4,000,000 -
Percentage of share option granted divided by RZBZWE+ZA=+-HERHD
weighted average number of Shares issued as BRERNCEITROMETH
at 31 December 2024 HMAD L 3.0% -
Number of shares may be issued in respect of FRZZ-MET-A=T-HER
share option Granted as at 31 December 2024 LERETTFEINROEE 4,000,000 —

RZF-_=ZFf_ANB &R
?m%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ%ﬂx%?r%ﬂl%ﬁ%ﬁ%
PerEsT &l -

On 8 February 2023, the Company adopted New
Share Option Scheme and the termination of Old
Share Option Scheme.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 33. UBHE&ENROXXNXHZ(E)
TRANSACTION (Continued)

(b) Details of the share options outstanding during the (b) Bz -_mWER-_FT=_=F
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 were: +Z A=+ —BHLEFEHKRIT
FRBRETBOT

Outstanding

as at 1 January Outstanding
2023 and Lapsed as at
Option 31 December  during the 31 December Exercise
type Date of grant Exercise period 2023 year 2024  price (HK$)
R-ZB-=%F-
A-BR
Z8-=H R-B-m#
+=A=+-H T=HR=F=h TEE
BREER RUPH TR HATE RERKXHA i R AT (#7)
e e e )
Share 13 May 2021 13 May 2021 - 3,500,000 (3,500,000) = 0.57
Option A 12 May 2024
BREA —T-_—% —Z--FRA+=H
AAT=AH E-E_MF
FA+=H
Share 3 January 2022 3 January 2022 - 4,091,418 (4,091,418) = 0.492
Option B 2 January 2025
ERES —T-- :?::ﬁ A=RZ%
—AR=H —E-RF-HZH
Share 31 August 2022 31 August 2022- 8,000,000 (4,000,000) 4,000,000 0.59
Option C 30 August 2025
ElREC —ZT-- —E-C
NA=+—H NR=+—H%
—T-RfF
NR=+H

15,691,418 (11,591,418 4,000,000

All share options vest immediately at the date of FTEBRERKE T2HB

grant. No share options are exercised during the B -HE_ZT— E F+= A

years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December =+ —HEZZEZ=%+=A

2023. =+—HALEFE BETER
fi% #E o
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 33. UBH&ENROXINXSZ(E)
TRANSACTION (Continued)

(¢) The following table discloses movements of the Old (c) TEREETEBREFTIEE—F
Share Option Scheme during the year: Ry ) -
Weighted
average
exercise
price in HK$ Number
per share of shares
nEFGITHEE
Date of grant & AH gRAET BHEE
At 1 January 2023 and WZZE—_=F—HA—B k=
31 December 2023 Z-=#+=-A=+—H 0.56 15,591,418
Lapsed during the year FARKXM 0.55 (11,591,418)
At 31 December 2024 N-E-_ME+=A8
=+—H 0.59 4,000,000
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the HE_ZT-_NWF+=-A=+—H
unexercised share option was lapsed due to the LTFE RTEBRENES
resignation of the directors. BEEMARRK -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

33. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTION (Continued)

33. LESSENROINARE (&)

The fair value of the share options granted on those RZEHBMRENERENAALAE
dates were determined by the Directors at the date of MEERFRHBABPEBE _BABME
grants based on a binomial lattice model, evaluated by EXETF THEBLEEEERMT
an independent professional valuer, with the following & BmASELT:
inputs:
Share Share Share
options options options
granted on granted on granted on
31 August 3 January 13 May
2022 2022 2021
R=®B=Z R-ZB-Z-F R-E--F
NA=t+-—H —H=H EA+T=H
Exercise price TR (B HK$0.59 HK$0.492 HK$0.57
0.597%8 7T 0.492% 7T 0578 T
Grant date share price BB R (E HK$0.59 HK$0.49 HK$0.57
0.597%8 7T 0.49% 7T 0.57% 7T
Closing share price of the listed EERBRERY HK$0.59 HK$0.49 HK$0.56
securities immediately before the BEfgI 2 b 0.597% JT 0.49/8 T 0.56/8 7T
date on which the option was BHUWBE
granted
Annual risk free interest rate F 2 & E A =X 3.07% 0.88% 0.29%
Expected volatility T8 R OK B % 137% 135% 139%
Expected option life TER B ES W 3 years 3 years 3 years
34 3F 3F
Expected dividend yield TEHR B EE 0% 0% 0%
The expected volatility was based on the historical TEH KRB EERNE £ KRR E K
volatility (calculated based on the weighted average EHEMNMETIIFRGBETTE
remaining life of the share options), adjusted for any IHE BEARGEEBYHRRKEHEMNME
expected changes to future volatility based on publicly MEHSLETHE BFHEREE
available information. Expected dividends were based REERE - THEHARZHEL
on historical dividends. Changes in the subjective g ARERTELEERTE -
input assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.
Share options were granted on the grantees’ acceptance. BEREREABRAEIREETH -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

34. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 34. EEHIEAER
The component of the deferred tax liabilities recognised TERHEIINRFARRBRZELEHIES
and the movements thereon during the year is as follows: BHAKED R E
Accelerated tax Intangible
depreciation assets Total
MEHERE BREE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEL TERL FEL
At 1 January 2023 —“E-=%—-A—H — 619 619
Charge to profit or loss m%ﬁquTﬂfﬁ‘f\\ 58 — 53
At 31 December 2023 and R-Z-=%+-R
1 January 2024 =+-BRk-T-_MmF
—A—R 58 619 677
Charge to profit or loss REZFAR (57) (619) (676)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-ME
TZA=1— 1 — 1

35.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group also monitors the current and expected
liquidity requirements regularly to ensure that sufficient
working capital and adequate committed lines of funding
are maintained to meet its liquidity requirements. Upon
the discovery of any default, the Group would negotiate
immediately with the relevant lenders for proper
arrangement in order to maintain sufficient working

35. EXEmERE

AEEERMTAANBRRAEE
CTEBEBBELE LEBEL
EHREREBAREERAAD
% -

ﬂi’ilﬁﬁtﬁﬁﬁf&ﬁﬁﬂﬁ@)’ﬁ%

LA%%”&H%%\E’JM EL &
&Ft%]ﬁ’]%( CEERE UNERMEHE
RBELHE - RERITMENE
AEBVREMBEERAEGET
imzz?# EEHBRIHNIEEE

cHREHEMBEESTER  AQF

capital. Upon the expectation of any cash insufficiency, ?i—r KFBMERR  NBEFEH
the Company would seek new source of funding so as to EEES AEBEMNELRAEER ?‘E
maintain sufficient working capital. The capital structure BEEFEEREHEEERER
of the Group consists of net debts (which include lease HBREBETEHREE S UWEAXAR

liabilities and borrowings), net of bank balances and
cash and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves. Details of
which are disclosed in respective notes.

%ﬁ/\FEHT“L(@%E%HHXZK&
) ERFBERERYEME -
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35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 35. EXEMERE (&)
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed AL H R8T T
capital requirements, except for a wholly-owned IR BB
subsidiary, Hua Yu, which is a licensed corporation FHMHREBKRIE
registered under the SFO. Hua Yu met its relevant paid Hh o PN EE (B Bf 7 #
up share capital and liquid capital requirements of the ERESHEMNE
Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules issued FIRAMBEBEAGR
by the SFC throughout the financial reporting period. BIE -

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular EETHRITER
basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider the — 5D EETEE
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of B & A MR A R
capital. Based on the recommendations of the Directors, BEZ AEEKA
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through PAZ 3 17 3 (B 7% =
new share issues as well as issuance of new debt or AR FTEHEEE
redemption of the existing debts. The Group's overall HEEREE FFE
strategy remain unchanged from prior year.

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 36. €@ TH

Categories of Financial Instruments (a) s@MTAEHR
2024
—B-mF
HK$'000
FTER
Financial assets at FVTPL DARBETFABEN
THEE
Unlisted equity investment REMBRAEKEE
Life insurance 5B
Financial assets at amortised (H#EERETEN
cost: TRIEE:
Trade receivables FE UL 32 5 IR 10,985
Contract assets GHMEE 7,249
Deposit and other receivables 17 5 R E i JE W 3RIB 1,474
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBREEEY 3,784
23,492
Financial liabilities at BREBENATEN
amortised cost: cRAE:
Trade payables FET 2 5 5B 6,721
Other payables and accruals HthEANRERETEA 9,251
Borrowings f& & 22,610
Lease liabilities HEAaE 658

B 75 R R MY ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE
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NGRS A
HK$'000
FAET

5,226

5,226

7,595
7,755
10,497
4,123

29,970
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33,445
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z _F - F+ A=+ —HIFZE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at FVTPL, trade and other
receivables, contract assets, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables, lease
liabilities and borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(i) Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have
foreign currency sales and purchases and bank
balances which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. Approximately 11% (2023:
16%) of the Group's sales is denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency
of the group entity making the sale, whilst
almost 10% (2023: 15%) of the costs is
denominated in the group entity’s respective
functional currency. Since the Hong Kong
dollar pegged with United States dollar, no
significant currency risk would be expected
by the Group. In addition, the Company has
intra-group balances with several subsidiaries
denominated in foreign currency which also
expose the Group to foreign currency risk.

36. TRIT R (&)

(b)

R EERE R BER

AEENEIESHITABRER
AREFABRSZEREE
BHREMBEKKE . 8HE
- ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%~%%
REMEMNRE HERER
AR ZETMITAFBERA
BHMERE EZZF2RT
EFBEMEREEM SRR (E

%ﬂ& ﬂTH&&E@ﬁW
®) EER nBEE A

& TX%W@HE@%%H
R X BERESERYE
EREBERR  AEERREAER

BTG I -
() HWEBR

ARQEETFH B QR
BEENBEITEBELSE
IE%WMHA iR
B1NMN% (ZZE-=F:16%)
MEEENEEETRET
HEMIMEEBUIIME
%ﬁ@ mi10% (= =

1 15%) Ay A A BIf LA
%la EEEMIEEEN
AE-ARBTEETH
B o AEEBEHBETEE
ERE®ERR - LI K
AEIEETFTHERRNE
EREGAINESTE N
fFALE®RINERE R -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b)

policies (Continued)
(i) Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

Liabilities
=i

2024

ZEZNF i

HK$'000
FTER

The following table demonstrates the
sensitivity to a reasonably possible change by
5% in the HK$ exchange rate against RMB and
AUD, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group's loss before tax increase (decrease)
due to changes in the translated values of
monetary assets and liabilities.

If HK$ strengthens against AUD i 78 JT 58 T 7+ &
If HK$ weakens against AUD AT HBITEE
If HK$ strengthens against RMB i /& 7T % A R #& &
If HK$ weakens against RMB  fii/B i A R E

2023
=1
HK$'000
FH& T
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36. R TE(&)

ERER (&)

M EEEERRERBER)

RHEHR - AKEHIA S
B ENEBEERER
BENEEEHT:

Assets

BE

2024
—E-mF
HK$’'000
FE T

2023

HK$'000
TAET

TRBTEMEHEMBEHR
BREFTEZBERT &
TRHARBZEXRAER
AE & Eh5% %t 7N £ B BR AT
BREMOED)(BREE
BENRBEREEBEZE
BB ZBREDN -

2024
—E-lmE
HK$’000
FET

(11)

2023

HK$'000
THET

(2,162)
2,162

(554)
554
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate loan to a vendor,
fixed-rate over-due payable, fixed-rate loans
from shareholders and other borrowings and
lease liabilities as set out in Notes 26, 29, 30,
and 31 respectively. The Group is also exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
its variable-rate bank balances and bank
borrowings as detailed in Notes 28 and 30.

The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the Directors
monitor interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate risk
should the need arise.

Total interest income from financial assets that
is measured at amortised cost is as follow:

Interest income under effective
interest method

YA

36. R TE (&)

(b)

BERAMEFETHHNE

MK EREZEEERBEE)

(ii)

BBEFZERBRAOT /2024 F 3R

MEER

AEETER D R RK
26 - 29 * 30M31H EH 4 F
—RHERNEEMNEE
3K~ B E A R B R
H-REBREMET R X
ERUREMEREAE
EEAEMNARENER
cAEBAAEREEER
2 EIRITEE R LA KR 1T 1R
RzBRernsEAR -
FEIEE R M 7E28 %30

e ETNS W I U -
BER-AMm EFHER
AR R R Iﬂﬂmﬁﬁ‘ﬁg
RrEREPEARNERER

BBEKAGFENERE
ENBWABRELT :

2024 2023
—E-lmE —ET_=

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TR

152

287
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest expense on financial liabilities not
measured at FVTPL:

Financial liabilities at amortised

cost BB &

36. R TE(&)

(b)

BREBHKAFTENS

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates at the end of the reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year. A 100 basis point (2023: 100 basis
points) increase or decrease in variable-rate
bank borrowings are used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rates. Bank balances are excluded
from sensitivity analysis as the management
considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate
bank balances is insignificant.
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M EREZEEERBEE)

MEE R (E)
W IERARAREFABRH

TREEMNNEMAX:

2024 2023
—E_mF R =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T FTHETT
4,982
R E D
TXZHEREDTIIIRIE

WERRZANEXER &
T-mEZINE BER
BRBEHRRRELZS
BMIARZFEHAREN-
2 B8R 1T 18 B Nk R
100 &S (— T — =4
100EEZ) ARG EE
B AB AR E M EE
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ABARBHMT - I
YR TT AT R E
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If interest rates had been 100 basis points
(2023: 100 basis points) higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s post-tax loss for the year ended 31
December 2024 would increase/decrease
by HK$Nil (2023: increase/decrease by
approximately HK$20,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest
rates on its variable-rate bank borrowings.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its investments in unquoted equity
securities measured at FVTPL. Price risk was
monitored by the management of the Group
who will consider hedging the risk exposure
should the need arise. In the opinion of the
Directors, as the price risk is minimal, no
sensitivity analysis is presented.

36. R TE (&)

(b)

MR EEEERBEK

(ii)

(iii)

BBEFZERBRAOT /2024 F 3R

(&)

MEE (&)
BB E 5T (&)

fis # & £ F,/F F100@
HEe(—F - =4 :1001d
B mATE Hib & s s
BAg AIAEEHZE=
T-_mWE+=-_A=+—H
iiﬁ%@ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ
momAEST (R -=
F o %@20,000
B WD EEBEERAE
A=Y fETTfE%\E}‘]ﬂ$EL
% FT B o

H 1t B 45 B By

AEERKREERANE
ARG EZEREBR
AN F AR B (B 1R R
e BRERBANEEE

BEER UYKRREFRE
RERHEDEERR - &
$mﬁ B (B 48 & R &
K WEEFPREIN -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. £RIT A (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BA#&EBREEEZE R BUER ()
policies (Continued)

(ivi FERRRBEFMGE

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group's credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables,
contract assets and other receivables and cash
and cash equivalents. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risk associated with its
financial assets.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group's
policy that all customers who wish to trade on
credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and
the Group's exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

The contract assets primarily relate to the
Group’s rights to consideration for work
completed but not billed at the reporting
date. The contract assets are transferred
to receivables when the rights become
unconditional. The contract assets have
substantially the same risk characteristics as
the trade receivables for the same types of
contracts.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

The Group's concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in HK, which
accounted for 99% (2023: 98%) of the total
trade receivables as at 31 December 2024.
The Group has concentration of credit risk as
26% (2023: 22%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group's largest customer. In
order to minimise the credit risk, the financial
department has been delegated by the
management of the Group to be responsible
for the determination of credit limits and credit
approvals.

In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade
receivables and contract assets with
significant balances and credit-impaired
individually and/or collectively. Except for
items that are subject to individual evaluation,
which are assessed for impairment individually,
the remaining trade receivables and contract
assets are grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics by reference to the Group's
internal credit ratings/aging of outstanding
balances.

36. R TE (&)

(b)

MK EREZEEERBEE)

(iv) 1= & & B & m B 57 14 (&)

BRXEGHEREHNEE
(&)

AEBEBZEFERRBRIZME
NMEBFEZEEFREE R
—E-ME+ A=+ —
HEKXZREHEREZ
99% (ZE = =% :98%) °

TEEMEERREFR

AEEBMERIZRER
B H26% (—ZF - =4
22%)IEBRAEBR R AE
FRHRE - BEEREE
BERER AEEEREER
EUHBHLEEEEEER

BAhkizEHEM -

o REBREFRBE
EEBEEAEEREAR
Rk HABEREE

HMENEERZZHRERE
WEBEETRENMG - K

AETTER AR (E
B FE (R AE) 9N - 8RN BIR
RERERAGHNEEDZ
EZRAKENABEETRS
AEEEROREREHR
REERBRS=DE -
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

Reversal of impairment, net of impairment
loss, of HK$58,000 (2023: reversal of
impairment, net of impairment loss of
HK$334,000) on trade receivables and reversal
of impairment, net of impairment loss, of
HK$18,000 (2023: impairment loss, net of
reversal of HK$77,000) for contract assets
are recognised during the year ended 31
December 2024. Details of the gquantitative
disclosures are set out below in this note.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are reputable banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international
credit agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL
for bank balances by reference to information
relating to probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating agencies.
Based on the average loss rates, the 12m
ECL on bank balances is considered to be
insignificant and therefore no loss allowance
was recognised.
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(b)

M EREZEEERBEE)

(iv) 1= & & B & m B 57 14 (&)
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)
Deposit and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables, the
management makes periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of deposits
and other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and
also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. For those deposits and
other receivables that the Directors believe
that there is no significant increase in credit
risk of these amounts since initial recognition
and the Group provided impairment based
on 12m ECL. For those deposits and other
receivables that are past due or there is
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Directors provide impairment
based on lifetime ECL. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group recognised
the reversal of impairment, net of impairment
loss, on deposits and other receivables
approximately HK$77,000 (2023: impairment
loss, net of reversal of HK$3,919,000).

Financial guarantee contracts

The fair value of these financial guarantee, as
at dates of initial recognition, were considered
insignificant. At the end of the reporting
period, the management has performed
impairment assessment, and concluded that
there has been no significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition of the financial
guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the loss
allowance for financial guarantee contracts
issued by the Group is measured at an amount
equal to 12m ECL. No loss allowance was
recognised in the profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)
policies (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following

categories:

36. R TE(&)

(b)

MR EEEERBEK

(&)

(iv) 1= & & B & m B 57 14 (&)

AEBE®ABEERR
A EEEATER:

Trade receivables/

Internal credit rating Description contract assets Other financial assets
EUXZHE/
R EETR BR BHEE HttemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
default and does not have any credit-impaired
past-due amounts
15 L B XHHFENRRE - I EEM 2HEHEEERE VNERRSNEEER
BHeH —EREERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
dates but usually settle in full credit-impaired
BRELE EBALERIBE 2 EBEER *HBHEERE 1N2ERBHEERE
—BEERAE
Doubtful There have been significant increases  Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL — not
in credit risk since initial recognition credit-impaired credit-impaired
through information developed
internally or external resources
BE 3 RENBAGEAXINBER  F8 2HEHCEBFE 2HEHCEESR
BREMinERAREZEM —BEERE — BEBRNE
Loss There is evidence indicating Lifetime ECL — credit- Lifetime ECL — credit-
the asset is credit-impaired impaired impaired
8 FERBETEELREENE PHEHEEER 2HEHEEER
—EERE —EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written-off ~ Amount is written-off
debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
8 EREBBETEBARABRENERE  HHEeHE miEeH

BEASEY EWEFENER 6
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE=ZF=PF+=H=+—HIFE —~——
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. €@ TE (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BriEREpbnE AR R BUK (M)
policies (Continued)
(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment (ivi EERMRBEFTEE)
(Continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk B AETHE
exposures of the Group's financial assets and HHEME
financial guarantee contracts which are subject BREER
to ECL assessment:
External Internal 2024 2023
credit credit Gross carrying Gross carrying
Notes  rating rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
a8 mE ) i
W FERE  GEIE 2EANREESGERE FEAE

ACTITMTEINY Hrs'000 Hks 000
LR TET AT

Financial assets at amortised costs

RAERATENERER

Bank balances 28 BB+ioAA-  NA PmeCL 4115

BT BB+ZAA- TR NEAEHEERE

Deposns and other recewables 26 NA (Note 1) mECL 2373

B REMENTE rER (Rt E1) NEABAEERE

Lifetime ECL 18,318 20,691
PHEBEEER

Trade recgivables 26 NA (Note 2] Lifetime ECL [Provision matrix) 8,019

EUR57E MER (P3E2) PHRBEEFR(RERR)

Contract assets 27 NA (Note 2) Lifetime ECL (Provision matrix) 7832

BNEE TR (M3k2) PHRAEERR(REER)

Financial guarantee

contracts (Note 3/ 39 NA Low risk PmECL 3,600

HBERENNAS) TR R NEABREERR

Notes:

(1) The credit quality of the financial assets is (1 2HMEELRBIHAENE
considered to be low risk when they are not past BREXPELREEENR
due and there is no information indicating that the BRUREREERRK
financial assets had a significant increase in credit BEEMNHOBERLT  Hfz
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit EBEZHARERAR - &
quality of the financial assets is considered to be B - ¢REEMNREFEEER
doubtful. AR R A AR o

(2) For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group (2) BERRXGHERENE
has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to EMs A4ECERBSR
measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. BB B RS R B

EHFE2RE2HBEHEESB
BAEBEEE -

(3) For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying (3) MU BERELOME - K
amount represents the maximum amount the Group HEBEREASERIESH
has guaranteed under the respective contracts. ERARERNESEHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RMEE)

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2024 # 2 _-F _F+-H=—+—HIFFZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. £EtTE (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BF#& R EEEZE R BUER ()
policies (Continued)
(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment (iv)] EERKRERBET G (E)
(Continued)
As part of the Group's credit risk management, EREASEHEFEERRKRER
the Group uses debtors’ aging to assess W—IR - ASERNAEK
the impairment for its customers in relation ERCERAEEXLA
to its operation because these customers MzEPETRETMH
consist of a large number of small customers REAZEEFPTAYE
with common risk characteristics that are REWMNREPERMAEN -
representative of the customers’ abilities to mESEHA ] RMEESFR
pay all amounts due in accordance with the BEHNGREERB IS
contractual terms. The following table provides JEfT £ RERE W EE A
information about the exposure to credit risk - TRIEHR BB EK
for trade receivables which are assessed on REHFBEERBHER -
a collective basis by using provision matrix ZEBRDFEREHER
within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). FEEEB(YEEFERE)
BB B T ) SRR AT
fly o
Set out below is the information about the TRENETEBEBEE
credit risk exposure on the Group's trade FEAENERR S RNIE
receivables using a provision matrix: WiEERKRER:
2024 2023
“E-mE I S
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate receivables ECL loss rate  receivables EEL
K B 1 JE it B
THERE REFE  GEESR BEX RHINE  FEEER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TAR TAR
Current i . 6,053 76 0.73% 1,644 12
Past due ]

— 110 3 months = . 1,156 15 1.24% 2,859 36
— Over 6 months BN . 3,955 88 10.71% 3,516 376
Subtotal 11,164 8,019 424
The estimated loss rates are estimated based BABREENRBEBAR
on historical observed default rates over the B HR N A {Egﬁmﬁﬁ{ﬁ‘t
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted WEMGF - YR BAEND
for forward-looking information that is available 4B K 7R 5 %% 7 B AT R
without undue cost or effort. BZAEEERETAE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36.

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following tables shows the movement
in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for
trade receivables under simplified approach:

R THE)
(b) BIEMEEEERBE(E)

Beginning balance H %5

Loss allowance reversed net EREBREEETE

Written-off W

Reclassified as assets classified as ENDBEABELE
held for sale BE

Closing balance HIRER 5

As at 31 December 2024, included in the
above balance was HK$Nil (2023: HK$157,000)
related to the loss allowance recognised for
credit-impaired trade receivables. During the
year, loss allowance on credit-impaired balance
of HK$174,000 (2023: Nil) was written-off.

The contractual amounts outstanding on trade
receivables that were written off during the
period but are still subject to enforcement
activities was HK$550,000 (2023: Nil).

(iv) 1= & & B & Rl 8 &7 & ()

TERBEREREBET X
MERRX SR ERINHE
HBEHMEEBENED:

Year ended 31 Year ended 31
LT ) b L P2 December 2023

BZ EE
—E-mEF —2-=F
TZA=1—0 [yl
LEE HEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FETT

758

(334)

424

RZZEMmFE+=A
—t+—H Ltil&EsBeE
REEREERIS R
BREANEEBREHZT B
T(=Z & = = 4 :157,000
BL)c FR - EMBEHIR
EEREEHZEBERE
174,000 L (ZE = =4 :
) o

A MEEDEET
BHIMITEDEW RS
HENAEEANSER
550,000 (ZE = =4 :
7)o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RMEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. £Et TE (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BA#&EBREEEZE R BUER ()

policies (Continued)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment (ivi EERMRBEFTMEE)
(Continued)

The following tables shows the movement in THRETHERES R EME
ECL that has been recognised for deposit and W 5 Iﬁﬁﬁ M EBEEE
other receivables: BHE e :
Lifetime
ECL (credit-
12M ECL impaired) Total

1218 A 2HEM
BHEE REER

] (FERE) At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TER

As at 1 January 2023 R-E-_=F—Hf—H 10 6,265 6,275
Changes due to financial AR-FT-_=%—A—H

instruments recognised as R &M T AR

at 1 January 2023: H&E):

— Impairment recognised ~ — EEREE 46 3,313 3,359

— Impairment losses — EREREESE

reversed (3) (2,392) (2,395)

New financial assets EESIEANT SR

originated or purchased BE 72 2,883 2,955

As at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=F+=A

Sor—= 125 10,069 10,194
Changes due to financial AR-—ZT-_mFE—H—H
instruments recognised as BRI AMHEE
at 1 January 2024: #) &8
— Impairment losses —EREREEE
reversed (89) = (89)
— Transfer to credit- —BREEENE
impaired (30) 30 —
— Written-off — s — (10,069) (10,069)
New financial assets EASIEANT SR
originated or purchased BE 12 — 12

As at 31 December 2024 R-ZZE-ME+ZA
=+-—H 18 30 48
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A RN R (8

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. @M T AE(E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) iR EEAZERBUEK (E)
policies (Continued)
(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment (ivi EERMRBEFTEE)
(Continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for deposit and e kA M EWKFIEEE
other receivables are mainly due to: BREZHETEHN:
2024
—E-MF
Decrease in
12M ECL Lifetime ECL
ZHIFEH
1218 B 78 8 FEEE
FEEA D
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
No realistic prospect of recovery  Hfib ji& U 7k 18 & £
of other receivables U =l (10,069)
2023
—E-=4F
(Decrease) (Decrease)
increase in increase in
12M ECL Lifetime ECL
121E A 78 B8 % HY 78 Hf
FEEEE FEEERE
(R 2 18 N (Rt 4>) 18 n
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Further impairment on other HAth B I GRIE A 3 —
receivables F R E 46 3,313
Settlement in full of depositand 2 H X MR 4E K Hit
other receivables JE W 5k 18 (3) (2,392)
Impairment for new deposit and  #71% & & H fib & I X
other receivables =D AL 72 2,883
gEESERERAR /202458 249



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RMEE)

N
For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

36. R TE(&)
Bt 75 LB B

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) HEZERBUER (&)

policies (Continued)

(iv) 1= & & B & m B 57 14 (&)

(iv) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

The following tables shows the movement
in ECL that has been recognised for contract
assets:

TERBETECHEREGNEE
MEBEREEBEENEHIS
M

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
BE-Z-NF ki
=y =R l=l ~— A=+ —H
LLFE HEE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAER T
Beginning balance H e 77 4
Loss allowance recognised R (BE)EEEE
(reversed), net Pt 77
Written-off i —
Closing balance Hi R ¢4 58 77
(v) Liquidity risk (v) RBELEAR

The Group’s policies are to regularly
monitor the current and expected liquidity
requirements, and to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and available
banking facilities to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the Group's
remaining contractual maturity for its financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically,
bank borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity
dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment
dates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
MBEBRRMEE)

4 A

N

(b)

(v)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. €@ THE(E)
Financial risk management objectives and (b) iR EEAZERBUEK (E)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) v) "BESEKE)
The table includes both interest and principal ZEREAREEMNE RN
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows EZRERE - LFER
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is EEBFAERFEAR K
derived from interest rate curve at the end of BRI eBMIAERMEHRRZ
the reporting period. ANEghgeBd -
On demanded Total
less than Between  undiscounted Carrying
Interest rate 1105 years caﬁhflow amount
EHEY
Rl% 125% AREH FEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAn TAn TER
At 31 December 2024 ot a1 -3
T=A=1-H
Trade payables ERRHHE N/A
TER -
Lease liabilities HEBE 6.49%-6.67%
6.49% £6.67% 426 282 708 658
Borrowings fER 0%-12%
0%Z12% - 26,318 26,318 22,610
Other payables and accruals & ft /B 1 38 N/A
REHER TER 9,251 - 9,251 9,251
16,398 26,600 42,998 39,240
On demanded Total
less than Between undiscounted
Interest rate 1 year 1105 years cashflow  Carrying amount
BER B RE
flE PiME 1E5% BREN KHE
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
ThL TEn TEn TAR
| _________________________________________'_____________________________]
At 31 December 2023 RZB-ZF
t=A=1-H
Trade payables ERRAHRE N/A
TER 12,857 - 12,857 12,857
Lease liabilities HEER 6.49% to 741%
6.49%%7.41% 1,185 922 2,107 1,942
Borrowings fEx 0% to 24%
0% £ 24% 36,454 — 36,454 33,445
Other payables and accruals /B {1 38 N/A
REHER @R 5,228 - 5,228 5,228
55,724 922 56,646 h3,472
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e R RN (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(v) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts included above for variable
interest rate instruments are subject to change
if changes in variable interest rate differ to
those estimates of interest rates determined
at the end of the reporting period.

(c) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are
measured at fair value for financial reporting
purposes.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the management
would establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the valuation model or to engage third
party qualified valuers to perform the valuation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE TeS~——
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. eWMITAE(E)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial (c) ERMIBZAAREFE(E)

instruments (Continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets (i) XEEERLEMHMEENUD
that are measured at fair value on a REFEZEREEZA
recurring basis RE
Some of the Group’'s financial assets are TEETHEMEERS
measured at fair value at the end of each RMEBAREAREE -
reporting period. The following table gives THRIEHEBEOMETZ
information about how the fair values of these EeMEELAAEGLE
financial assets are determined (in particular, EMMFEANGERLD LS
the valuation technique(s) and inputs used). ABIB)2EHR -

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2024
R-ZB-NEF-A=+-BZAREER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£-% E_H E=R @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHT FHT FHR

Financial assets at FVTPL W2 A ETA

BERnemEE
— Life insurance policy at — Z DA EEHA
FVTPL BRNER
wE

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2023

RIB-ZF+ A=+ -RAZRAAEER

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
—#& E-5 =4 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TERT TER TET

Financial assets at FVTPL 2 2 {EFTA

BEMEREE
— Life insurance policy at — &Z A A {EEA
FVTPL BENER
RE — — 5,226 5,226
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A BEBRERMTEE)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_ZF - WF+ A=+ —HIFZE

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. R ITHE (&)
(c) Fair value measurements of financial () EMIEZAREBEFE(E)

instruments (Continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets (i) XEERLEMHMEENUD
that are measured at fair value on a REFEZERMEEZD
recurring basis (Continued) RE (&)

Fairvalue  Valuation technique(s) Significant unohservable

Financial assets Fair value at hierarchy ~ and key input(s) input(s)
SHEE ME MEER REEKRIZEAEE EXTTERGAYE
31 December 31 December
2023
Ik St
tZA=1-H

Life insurance policy Approximately Approximately  Level 3 Based on credit rating, ages ~ Surrender value (note ¢/

at FVTPL HK$5,318,000 HK$5,226,000 of life insured persons
and the discount rate
fhote 3) 1

Tgbﬁﬁﬁﬁmz SLRICKIOY:S 45,206 00087 £=4& REGERE BRRAE RREEMWZ

shes EREREHE
(Wita)

Notes: it aE -

a) The surrender value of the life insurance policy is a) REHRREEBHRBRA
provided by the insurance company. AR -

b) The Group's life insurance policy is classified b) AEEHNERRESER
as assets held for sale and included in line item HELEEE T AL
of "Assets classified as held for sale” on the EMBRAKRIDERIEE
consolidated statement of financial position (see LEMEEIEA(RWE
Note 11). 1) »

c) At 31 December 2024, if the surrender value was c) )‘J’A: T-WFEF+A=+—

5% (2023: 5%) higher/lower while all other variables
were held contract, the carrying amount of the life
insurance policy at FVTPL would increase/decrease
by HK$266,000/HK$266,000 (2023: increase/
decrease by HK$261,000/HK$261,000).

There were no transfers between levels of
fair value hierarchy during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

There was no change in valuation techniques
in the current and prior years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B BEHRERI T (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

mm

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

(c)

(ii)

measurements of financial instruments

on recurring basis:

Life insurance
policy at FVTPL
BAAEFABRZ
ERRE

HK$'000

Tan

36. TRIT R (&)
EWMIRZAARETE(E)

REEMEEHENS
BITEWNE=HAAHE:
ENEKEK:

Unlisted equity

instruments
at FVTPL Total
BOREFAREN
FLTERIR @i
HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn TR

At 1 January 2023 \-Z-ZF-F-H 5119 60 5179
Exchange realignment ERAE 2 - 2
Fair value changes PYHEER: 105 (60] 45
At 31 December 2023 RZFZZ4+-A=+-H 5,226 - 5,226
Exchange realignment EHAZ (32) = 32)
Fair value changes AYHEER: 124 = 124
Reclassified s held for sale ENNBARELE

(Note 11) (Hin) (5:318) - (5,318)
At 31 December 2024 RZF-RETZA=T-H - - -
During the year ended 31 December 2024, HE-_Z-_MF+=A

the Group recorded fair value gains of
approximately HK$124,000 (2023: HK$45,000)
relates to financial assets at FVTPL held at the
end of the reporting period and are included in
“Other income, gains and loss, net”.

The Directors consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate

their fair values.

BBEFZERBRAOT /2024 F 3R

St-HLEFE XAKH
IREHRRBTENRLR

Bt ABm 2o/ B E
B EWZE4124,00058
T (= F = =4 : 45,0008

JO) I A ATHE b A~ W
mREE - FE]-

E=ZRR AEEHREH
PR BOI R AR A B R
ZeREEREBRARE
HEZERNAEBERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e R RN (8)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities:

Other

borrowings

R
HK$'000

T

37. MEEBELENEEHER
TERFAFLAAEERETHEENSE
EEE ERAEReRIFRE
B -AMETDEENABRNA
SEEEcRaRER P EARER
PFHERenENHEeRELRSY
DEHRKBEERE

Finance

cost

included

Bank Lease in other
borrowings liabilities payable Total

AR

SR
RN HERE EHA @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAR TAR TER

At 1 January 2023 R-Z-=Z%-A-H 26,292 5,779 1197 900 34,168
Interest expense FlERY 4,254 186 115 427 4,982
Proceeds from borrowings EEIET e 19,560 5,893 E: = 25,453
Financial guarantee service FBERRERA

income (54) — . — (54)
Addition to new leases mAHHE - - 2,365 = 2,365
Repayment of lease liabilitles ~ EBRHEEE — — (1,663) — (1,663)
Exchange realignment AR — (26) (72) e (98)
Repayment of borrowings and ~ EEEH KB ER K

finance costs (18,580) (9,859) — 3270 (29,766)
At 31 December 2023 —=#+-f=1-H 31,472 1,973 1,942 - 35,387
Interest expense flERY 3,312 103 90 28 3,633
Proceeds from borrowings ERNIEET e 8,000 3,339 = . 11,339
Financial guarantee services FBERRERA

income (44) - = — (44)
Early termination of lease RAKILEES

liabilities S = (247) = (247)
Repayment of lease liabilitles ~ EEHEE(E — — (941) = (941)
Exchange realignment gL — (67) — — (67)
Repayment of borrowings and B EEH KA LMK

finance costs (15,840) (3,355) = (28) (19,223)
Non-cash repayment of FREERER W 238

borrowings (Note 38) (4,290) = = — (4,290)
Reclassified as held for sale ENNBARBELE

(Note 11) (Ht) — (1,993) (186) - (2,179)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_ME+-A=1-A 22,610 - 658 23,268

256 HARBOUR EQUINE HOLDINGS LIMITED / 2024 ANNUAL REPORT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

& B R R MY A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

38.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
entered into sales and purchase agreement for disposing
of building and investment properties. The part of
the considerations, amounted to HK$1,925,000 and
HK$2,365,000, have been directly deposited to Ye
Chuang Limited (“Ye Chuang”) debiting to the loan from
a related company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
charged a financial guarantee service fee by a related
company, Ye Chuang by directly debit to the loan from a
related company of HK$44,000 (2023: HK$54,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
entered into new lease agreements for the use of office
for 2 years. On the lease commencement, the Group
recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of approximately HK$1,814,000 and HK$1,814,000
respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
entered into a new lease agreement for the property,
plant and equipment for 4.5 years. On the lease
commencement, the Group recognised property, plant
and equipment and lease liabilities of approximately
HK$777,000 an HK$551,000 respectively.

38. FEHFHREXRF

HE-_Z-_WF+-_A=+—HLHF
B AEERLEEFREEWES]
BB - 2o R {E1,925000%8
7T }.2,365,000/8 7T B H #& 17 A /& 8l
ﬁrﬂﬁf‘ﬂ(%ﬁu)ﬁ%ﬁ mARE—
MBEAFTNERZER -

REE-_ZE-_mWF+=_A=+—8
Jtif AEBFEBERBLBEE
Nl B 44,0008 T(Z T = =4
54,000/8 JT) [@) 8 3 2 7] & A W ER BF
BERRBEE -

HE-_Z-_=Ff+=-A=+—HLHF
E AEEBRBRAZEARILAS
MEMFHERRE  -REAERBE
AEBESHBEREAREERBEE
B & 41,814,000/ JT &1,814,000/%
i

RBE-_ZT-_=ZF+-_A=+—81t
FE -AEERVE BEKZHE
YHHEHE AH4sTF - RHEE
MR AEBBIVE  BERKRK
BERHEE&E D R 477700048 T &
551,000/ JT °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

During the year, saved as disclosed in elsewhere
of the consolidated financial statements, the Group
entered into the following material transaction with
a related party:

Name of related party Nature of transaction
S AR XEME
Ye Chuang Financial guarantee service
fee income
bl MBRERREERA
Chu & Chu Consultancy IT Consulting and technical
Limited support fee

KEEREREGRAA BB ARRMXEE

39. B AR

(a)

On 31 May 2023, LMP International Limited,
an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a financial guarantee
service agreement to a related company, Ye
Chuang for providing financial guarantee service
by pledging of the Group’s building and investment
properties to a financial institution to secure a loan
of HK$3,600,000 borrowed by Ye Chuang. The
transaction was conducted at terms and conditions
mutually agreed between the related party.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

During the year, saved as disclosed in elsewhere
of the consolidated financial statements, the Group
entered into the following material balances with
related parties:

xB—MEREE
NCIE D e
&l

Loan from a related
company:
Ye Chuang

Ms. Yu Wing Yan, the spouse of Mr. Leung Tat Chi,
a director of the Group's subsidiary, is the director
and ultimate beneficial owner of Ye Chuang. The
loan is secured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

Compensation of key management
personnel

Details of the compensation of key management
personnel of the Group, who are the executive
directors, are disclosed in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The remuneration of the executive directors are
determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

(b)

(c)

39. BB AERS (&)

TR BREATERRERE I
DPWEN NEBEHEBE HE
TUATEKRE

2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHExT FiE T
5,046

AEBHNBRARAMNESRER
EFENEBRERALZ T RER
E’J%%&?@E*%ﬁ/\‘) Z

ERAERF SERERE
PJ?E-\E"

TEEEASHMH

$%@%%ﬁ”%$ngﬁ
BAEBEFHABREATBER
KW T4 E o

HOTESNFMaEFMEE

SEERBMARBRETLEBEE

=

IE ©°
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_ZF - WF+ A=+ —HIFZE

40.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS
Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
Under the scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the scheme,
which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the PRC Government. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute 14% of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
approximately HK$1,479,000 (2023: approximately
HK$2,423,000) represents contributions paid and payable
to these plans by the Group at rates specified in the
rules of the plans. As at 31 December 2024, there was
no past due contributions in respect of the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: no past due) had not been paid
over to the plans.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had no
forfeited contribution available to reduce its contributions
to the retirement benefits schemes in future years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

40.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (Continued)

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57)

For the Group’s subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong,
pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57,
the Group has the obligation to pay LSP to qualifying
employees in Hong Kong under certain circumstances
(e.g. dismissal by employers or upon retirement), subject
to a minimum of 5 years employment period, based on
the following formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of employment)
X 2/3 X Years of service

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while
the amount of long service payment shall not exceed
HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for as a post-
employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise
the Group’s mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus
any positive/negative returns thereof, for the purpose of
offsetting LSP payable to an employee (the “Offsetting
Arrangement”).

The Amendment Ordinance was gazetted on 17 June
2022, which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions
to offset the LSP. The Abolition will officially take effect
on the Transition Date (i.e., 1 May 2025). Separately, the
Government of the HKSAR is also expected to introduce
a subsidy scheme to assist employers for a period of 25
years after the Transition Date on the LSP payable by
employers up to a certain amount per employee per year.

40. RIREFETE (&)

REERERK(E
HRBENER

578) %t

1R 18 E SR M50 ($57%) - HRA
EEEFSEENHBAT - EH
2 OR T (Pl 0 8 E R IE KR ) A
BBREBAAKEEXN KSR
Bo BERTELSFHREHER
WRATFARGE -

RE—EAMTEM LERA) X
2/3 xR FR

&% — @A ITE LR 5225008
T -MEBARBeNEEITSEB

390,000 7T - ZEK WA B —HEE
BiERATERANGTEETZE -
AN R — AN EF BB GEH

n E/i\?rgﬂ fk BI) 7 B 2N & B R A &R
BB BBSEMLE REME
fE/BE®k AREHEREES
XM EHRE e (THEERHED -

CETHEIIR=ZZ=__F~A++t
BT &EZ®R - BEHREMAETEGME
BES HREEMERRE T RIE S
FHERBSHMZE - BUEBEBE
BE(I_Z-_RAERA—H)EAXE
Bt BEFRITHRE BT A
FFEBREHBENFRNE L —I8
HWELET B LNEBE XN —
ENBUEESFHNRERES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

40. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (Continued) 40. E{KfE R8I (&)

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57)
(Continued)

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s
mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/
negative returns, after the Transition Date can continue
to be applied to offset the pre-Transition Date LSP
obligation but are not eligible to offset the post-Transition
Date LSP obligation. Furthermore, the LSP obligation
before the Transition Date will be grandfathered and
calculated based on the last monthly wages immediately
preceding the Transition Date and the years of service
up to that date. The Amendment Ordinance has impact
on the Group’s LSP obligation with respect to employees
that participate in MPF Scheme and the Group has
accounted for the LSP obligation, taking into account
the Abolition, in accordance with the accounting policies
disclosed in Note 3.2.

LSP obligation

Movements in the present value of unfunded LSP
obligation in the current year were as follows:

Opening unfunded obligation HA #] & # 3 & (£

Current service cost BRI A
Reversal of LSP obligation #ERERE S ST
Interest cost F B B A
Reclassified as held for sale EF DB AFELE
(Note 11) (Hiat11)

Closing unfunded obligation %8 RKERE T
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE
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40. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (Continued)

LSP obligation (Continued)

The average duration of the benefit obligation at 31
December 2024 is 5 years (2023: 6 years).

The current service cost and the net interest expense for
the year are included in the employee benefits expenses
in profit or loss. Of the expenses for the year, HK$37,000
(2023: HK$270,000) has been included in administrative
expenses.

40.

S

RKE R T8 (&)
RRBK < EE (H)

R-E-_pmE+=-_/A=+—H " &F
EXWMFEHHR AFE (T - =4
64F) °

FRANEBRB X AR E R F5E
AABEANEEBERAMAX - FR
X/ 37,0008 L (& = = F:
270,000 L) BEFTATTHA X »

IE2

BEERMRBEE EEE"]EK

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination 5 & &R
of the LSP obligation is discount rate of 3% (2023: 3%). RAEMBEEIR (ZEZZF:3%) °
The sensitivity analysis below have been determined LTH#HEESD Tﬁfﬂﬁﬁéy\ﬁ’ B

based on reasonably possible changes of the respective
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period,
while holding all other assumptions constant.

If the discount rate is 100 basis points higher (lower),
the LSP obligation would decrease by approximately
HK$2,000 (increase by approximately HK$2,000) (2023:
decrease by approximately HK$25,000 (increase by
approximately HK$27,000)).

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be
representative of the actual change in the LSP obligation
as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would
occur in isolation of one another as some of the
assumptions may be correlated.

ERRBELENAEAEESME T
meprEERRES & -

fis BE B3 2 £ A+ (T F%) 100 1@ £ 25 - A
EHRBEETBR ’J\Z’]Z 00075
JC (3 p1 £92,0008 T)(Z 2 = =F
B > #925,0007% st (1€ A0 £927,000/%8
TT)) °

PRI ZHREDITRLERE
ﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁ&ﬁﬁfiz,a%”ﬁib R R
7%%?1?““ REBERME BMRR
""""" @Tﬁ‘[%ﬁ?ﬁiﬁtﬁi?ﬁio
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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" Forthe year ended 31 December 2024 #HE-—F-—[FE A=A =+ —HIFFE

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 4. FAREEMBARFE

COMPANY
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RBERRARAEELRBEAERS
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set MITB AR FBEHINNT:
out below:
Place of Issued share
incorporation capital/
andtype of  Principal activities and registered Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of voting power
Name legal entity ~ place of operation capital held by the Company held by the Company
HRAIHYR BEf BAAR BAAR
%3 EARREE GEEEREESY  RA/URER BECERRERLN BERERHLH
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
B B B% [
2024 003 2024 003 2024 2003 2024 A3
ZECRE MR -2 e DN R S
Strat Tech Holdings Limited Bl Investment holding USs1 (7Y 100% - 100% (EIIIES -
ERRAES REZR %7
Shen You (China) Limited Hong Kong Investment holding ~ HK$10,000,000 (7 100% - - 100% =
RE(RE)RRAT (i RERE  10,000000%7
Tseyu Intemational Trading Hong Kong ~ Trading of sewing threads ~ HK$60,000,000 - — YN 100% - — vy 100%
Company Limited and broad categories of
garment accessories
EHERRHRRAT FE AOSNEERZEAE 600000007
7
Newchamp Industries Limited Hong Kong ~ Trading of sewing threads ~ HK$30,000,000 - — YN 100% - o 100% [REIF)
HORRZARAA ik £U585 3000000087
Chesrful Keen Limited BYI Investment holding US$1 - - (7 100% - - 100% 100%
EERARAT ERRAES REAR %7
Clolah International Limited Hong Kong Fashion design and HK$10,000 - — YN 100% - 1 100% [REIF)
trading
of garment accessories
FXABRERA FE BRRRREEEER 000087
Thrill Rank Company Limited BVI Investment holding US$100 (7Y 100% - — Y 100% - -
EERAES REZR 107
Diamond Motto Limited BVI Investment holding 15§30 (7 100% - — Y 100% - -
EERAES REZR 300%7
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE T~

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 41. XRFREEMBATFE (&)
COMPANY (Continued)

Place of Issued share
incorporation capital/
andtypeof  Principal activities and registered Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of voting power
Name legal entity ~ place of operation capital held by the Company held by the Company
HRAIBYR BEf BAAR BAAR
1 EARMEE EREREE4Y  RA/iRER FRZRERAELH BRZRZRLN
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
B% [} : [

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ot S -2 bl -7 - F bdelifl -2 -4 bl -T-oF

LMP International Limited Hong Kong Provision of interior HKS1 — YN 100% S 100% [.GON
design, fitting out and
decoration services
hEARRRAT FE REEA&E RER %7
31
Better Dynasty Limited Hong Kong Investment holding HK$10,000 (78 100% -
Bk REER  10000ET
Harbour Equine Limited Hong Kong Investment holding HK$100 100%
Bk RERK 10087
Harbour Equine Pty Ltd Australia Horsg breeding AUSS$100 100%
3 FrER 10047
Harbour Stallion Pty Ltd Australia Horse breeding AUSS100 100%
.3 BrzE 10047
Harbour Racing Limited Hong Kong Equine management HK$100 100% (EIIE - -
service
(5 SLERRE 10047
Guangzhou Xinhua thread PRC  Manufacture and trading ~ HK$64,250,000 - 100% 100%
Company Limited* of sewing threads and
broad categories of
garment accessories
EMFERZARAA e BOSALE 642000087
REBREERES
HERELE(LH) PRC Investment holding ~ HK$10,000,000 . 100% [ERIL
BRAR*
BER&LE(LE) P REER  10,000000%7
ERAF

ERESERERAT /20248 26D
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—=—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFZE

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

Place of

incorporation
and type of
legal entity
HRAIHER
18 EARERE

Name

ARG ERAT PRC

NFRS2ERAR Gl

Hua Yu Investment Hong Kong
Management Limited

EEREREERAR! B

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities

at the end of the year.

* Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

Principal activities and
place of operation

TEFBRIEHE

Selling of sewing threads
and broad categories of
garment accessories

ROENZERE
#1a5

Provision of corporate
financial advisory services
and asset management
services
REDEHKRD
REREEERRE

41. RRFREEMBATFE (&)

Issued share
capital/

registered Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of voting power

capital held by the Company held by the Company
BEf BAAE RAAR
Bt/nfER FEARRRERD RERERLH
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
Bk [} B% [}

RMB500,000 100%
ARE
500,007
HK$1,750,000 £
1.750,0005 0
HEFE BMEWNBARBEITEM

* BRETREREMRIBEBELE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE—F_MFE+ - A=+ —HILFE Te—

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND  42. ADQEH MR R #HER
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2024 2023
—E_ME —_ET=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- BENKE 94
Right-of-use assets FREEE 320
Financial assets at FVTPL WAREFABENEHEE —
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RAIMKEE 14,900
15,314
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note) F& W KB X 7] 5k B (47 it) 10,717 19,717
Prepayments, deposit and other FERHRIE e kHMEK
receivables R IE 196 275
Cash and cash equivalents BehkREEEY 48 3,245
23,237
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBERE
Other payables and accruals EmENRELEGTER 2,934
Borrowings f& =& 26,426
Lease liability HEAaffE 301
29,661
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEE(ES)
(LIABILITIES) FE (6,424)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRDER
LIABILITIES 8,890
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Borrowings EEA o
Retirement benefit obligation BRIKEFEMS 63
Lease liabilities HEaE 52
22,639 115
NET (LIABILITIES) ASSETS EE(BEB)FE (3,413) 8,775
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e B EHRREE(E)

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_ZF - WF+ A=+ —HIFZE

42. ARRMBEMRR KB ()

2024 2023
—E-NE —E_=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T THET

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARG®E
Share capital [N 20,457 20,457
Reserves & 1 (23,870) (11,682)
TOTAL (DEFICIT) EQUITY (B4 R (3,413) 8,775

The Company's statement of financial position was
approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 28
March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wong Kwok Wai, Albert
HEELE
Director

EF
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIFE

42.

43.

LT

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

42. ARRMBEMRR KB ()

Movement in the Company’s reserves RARHEES
Share
Share Share option Accumulated
capital premium reserve losses Total
&S BROEE BRERE RitER H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TiER FEL ThET FEL
At 1 January 2023 W-2-=%-f-H 20,457 130,674 4,942 (88,724) 67,349
Loss for the year FRER — — — (58,574) (58,574)
At 31 December 2023 and i ——d
1 January 2024 ‘I"ﬂ_‘l'*EI&
—Z_mE-A-H 130,674 4,942 (147,298)
Lapse of equity-settled share  LAIE 75 45 & AR R i & 2
option (3,612) 3,612 -
Loss for the year FRER - (12,188) (12,188)
At 31 December 2024 R-B-mE
+=ZB=+-H 20,457 130,674 1,330 (155,874) (3,413)

Note: The amounts due from subsidiaries represent fund transfer for the
Group's daily operation. The amounts are interest-free, unsecured
and repayable on demand.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As disclosed in the Note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements, the disposal of Strat Tech Group is
completed on 27 January 2025.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, for enhancing
the relevance of the presentation of the consolidated
financial statements, reclassification have been
made to certain comparative figures presented in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of the prior
year to achieve comparability with the current year’s
presentation.

B BEHNBARREEEHEEZAEEAE

EEZES BREREARRE -
RARERERER -

43. REHEREE

&5

MR A BB SR RN AT E
ER-ZE-_AF—AZ+tHZEKH
£ Strat Tech& & -

44, Lt B EF

REBEE-ZE-_NF+=-A=+—H1
FE ARARAYBHREZIH
Mt EHEFERAMBRE
EHNNETLURBFTETET D8

NFRERAFE 25 ML & -
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Five Year Financial Summary
hFHHHE

" Forthe year ended 31 December 2024 #Z_-F_F+_-H=—+—HIFFZE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of TFTXHIAEER BT HEETBERE 2
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from 2&EUNREELEGEHE  HEHEECA
the published audited financial statements and restated/ MW&EZFHERE T EBEEEY &
reclassified as appropriate, is set out below: ok

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t-BALEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZE-mE -EC-=F kSt Ry —Z_ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAIL TER FHR FHR
RESULTS ES
REVENUE K & 68,581 69,059 76,274 73,365 44,984
Direct cost EERE (69,305) (72,359) (62,893) (58,573) (34,537)
Gross (loss) profit E(8) 7 (724) 3,300) 13,381 14,792 10,447
Other gains and losses, net ~ EliE R BB FE (13,606) (8,984) 2,023 4,269 (1,077)
Selling and distribution HERDHRAX
expenses (2,006) (3,317) (5,170) (7023) (5,745)
Administrative expenses THAY (13,948) (21,495) (29,450 (23,356) (13,942)
Impairment loss under BEEEEREATHE
expected credit loss BREAERER)
model, net of reversal 153 (3,662) (1,051) (1,520) (146)
Impairment loss on property, 1%« BERREHE
plant and equipment B - (799) — - (1,465)
Impairment loss on goodwill 75 & 5l (& & 12 - — — (12,103) —
Impairment loss on BVEERERSE
intangible assets (3,788) — — — —
Other expenses LR 5ET - — — (1,634) (3,302)
Finance costs BEKA (3,540) (5,010) 2,637) (666) (365)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BREAER (37,459) (46,567) (22,904) (27241) (15,595)
Income tax credit (expense)  FTEREE (FX) 448 (258) = = =
LOSS FOR THE YEAR ERER (37,011) 146,825) (22,904 (27241) (15,595)
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Five Year Financial Summary (Continued)
hFHHEE(E

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #Z—F-—F+=-A=4+—HIF&E

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
As at 31 December
R+=ZA=1+-H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-ME —E-=F —E- - —E-—F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TiET TEL TEL FTET
TOTAL ASSETS EEHE 41,148 79,329 136,520 120,986 61,140
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEME (56,347) (59,941) (68,592) (29,221) (15,532)
(15,199) 19,388 67928 91,765 45,608
Note: o -

The summary above does not form part of the audited financial statements for PR ESTERBEE_T_OF+-_A=+—RH1t
the year ended 31 December 2024. FENKERUBREN D -

BBEFZERBRAOT /2024 F 3R
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Schedule of Bloodstocks and Stallions
M B N A iE BT R

As At 31 December 2024 R-_ZFE_F+—-H=+—H

Racehorses -3

No. Name % Holding
9 2B RERBER BERES
1 Raikoke 40.00%
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